Role of benthic cnidarians in energy transfer processes in the Southern Ocean marine ecosystem (Antarctica)

Rolle der bodenlebenden Nesseltiere im Stofffluß des marinen Ökosystems des Südpolarmeeres (Antarktis)

Covadonga Orejas Saco del Valle

Ber. Polarforsch. Meeresforsch. 395 (2001) ISSN 0176 - 5027 To Alex, who was during many years beside my work

Covadonga Orejas Alfred-Wegener-Institut für Polar- und Meeresforschung Columbusstraße 27568 Bremerhaven

Die vorliegende Arbeit ist die kaum veränderte Fassung einer kumulativen Dissertation, die in der Sektion "Vergleichende Ökosystemforschung" bei Prof. Dr. W. E. Arntz angefertig und dem Fachbereich 2 (Biologie/Chemie) der Universität Bremen im Jahr 2001 vorgelegt wurde.

Contents

	Glossary	. 111
1	Summary	1
	Zusammenfassung	4
	Resumen	7
2	Introduction	10
	2.1 Benthic suspension feeding communities on the Antarctic shelf,	
	with particular emphasis on the cnidarians	10
	2.2 Density and distribution of benthic organisms	12
	2.3 Trophic ecology of the cnidarians	13
	2.4 Reproductive ecology of the cnidarians	16
	2.5 Aims of the present study	18
3	Study area	19
	3.1 Geographical location and physical characterisation of the	
	eastern Weddell Sea	. 19
	3.1.1 Bathymetry, topography and sediment characteristics	. 20
	3.1.2 Hydrography	. 21
	3.1.3 Ice condition	.24
	3.1.4 Disturbance by iceberg scouring	. 25
	3.2 Biological characterisation of the study area	. 26
	3.2.1 Brief introduction to the benthic system	. 26
	3.2.2 Brief introduction to the planktonic system	.27
4	Materials and methods	. 29
	4.1 Sampling	. 29

_____1

	Conter	nts
	4.2 Sample treatment2	29
5	Conclusions and discussion	31
	5.1 Density and distribution patterns of the cnidarian	
	Ainigmaptilon antarcticum in the Weddell Sea	31
	5.2 Trophic behaviour of cnidarian species	
	on the Weddell Sea shelf	32
	5.3 Reproductive behaviour of cnidarian species on the Weddell Sea	
	shelf	34
6	Literature	39
7	Acknowledgements	50
8	Publications5	52
	Publications I: Feeding strategies and diet composition of four	
	Antarctic cnidarian species5	54
	Publications II: The role of the fine fraction of seston in the diet of two	
	Antarctic octocorals (Primnoisis antarctica and Primnoella sp.):	
	ecological implications7	78
	Publications III: Distribution and reproductive ecology of the Antarctic	
	octocoral Ainigmaptilon antarcticum in the Weddell Sea1	11
	Publications IV: Reproductive patterns of four Antarctic octocorals in	
	the Weddell Sea: comparisons across different species,	
	morphologies and latitudes14	48

Glossary

d ⁻¹	Per day
DOC	Dissolved Organic Carbon
EASIZ	Ecology of the Antarctic Sea Ice Zone
ESW	Eastern Shelf Water
EWD	East Wind Drift
Ind.	Individuals
ISW	Ice Shelf Water
KN	Kapp Norvegia
n	Number of Individuals
POC	Particulate Organic Carbon
ROV	Remote Operated Vehicle
SW	Shelf Water
ww	Winter Water
WDW	Warm Deep Water
WSBW	Weddell Sea Bottom Water
WSC	Weddell Scotia Confluence
WSW	Western Shelf Water
WWD	West Wind Drift
y ⁻¹	Per year

Summary

1. Summary

Benthic suspension feeder communities are very abundant, diverse and biomass rich in many areas of the Weddell Sea shelf (Antarctica). However, information on the ecology of the organisms forming these dense communities, in particular the cnidarians, is still scarce.

For this reason, the main objective of this thesis was to increase the knowledge on the ecological role of benthic suspension feeders in the Antarctic marine ecosystem. To this aim, three particular objectives were addressed: the distribution patterns, the trophic behaviour, and the reproductive features of selected cnidarian species, and their respective ecological relevance. Sampling was carried out on board the German RV "Polarstern" during three consecutive EASIZ (Ecology of the Antarctic Sea Ice Zone) cruises, two during the austral summer (EASIZ I/1996 and EASIZ II/1998) and one in autumn (EASIZ III/2000).

Distribution patterns are one of the decisive properties defining the ecological role of a species or a community in an ecosystem. In this context, the population density and distribution of one octocoral species, the gorgonian *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum*, were studied. This species is conspicuous and relatively abundant in the eastern Weddell Sea. It presented a clumped distribution pattern with very low densities at the patch level. The possible relationship between distribution and reproductive patterns is discussed.

Trophic aspects were investigated in six cnidarian species, two hydroids (*Tubularia ralphii* and *Oswaldella antarctica*), and 4 anthozoans belonging to different orders: one Alcyonacea (*Anthomastus bathyproctus*), one Stolonifera (*Clavularia* cf. *frankliniana*), and two Gorgonacea (*Primnoisis antarctica* and *Primnoella* sp.).

Two different feeding strategies were found: two of the investigated species, *Tubularia ralphii* and *Anthomastus bathyproctus*, were mainly zooplanktivorous and their diets were composed of copepods and planktonic tunicates, respectively. Other species (*Oswaldella antarctica, Primnoisis*)

Summary

antarctica and Primnoella sp.) were basically "microphagous" and their diets consisted mainly of elements of the fine fraction of seston (i.e. ciliates and dinoflagellates). The last species *Clavularia* cf. *frankliniana* seemed to present a mixed diet. This heterogeneity of diets apparently reflects the adaptation of these species to the environmental variability of the Antarctic ecosystem. Feeding on zooplankton (*Tubularia ralphii, Anthomastus bathyproctus*) responds to the highly productive summer season, when the zooplankton concentrations are higher. Feeding on the fine fraction of seston (*Oswaldella antarctica, Primnoisis antarctica* and *Primnoella* sp.) may be an adaptation to the Antarctic "flagellate system". This type of diet could allow maintaining the feeding rate all the year round, since the biomass of the fine fraction of the seston is very constant over time.

Reproductive features and trends were investigated in five octocoral species, which presented three different morphotypes: two were bottle-brush shaped (Dasystenella acanthina and Thouarella sp.), another two presented a dichotomous branching pattern (Fannyella rossii and Fanyella spinosa), and one was flagelliform (Ainigmaptilon antarcticum). Different reproductive strategies were presented among the studied species. Three (Ainigmaptilon antarcticum, Dasystenella acanthina and Thouarella sp.) showed two generations of oocytes, which suggests a reproductive cycle of more than one year. Conversely, Fannyella rossii and Fannyella spinosa had only one generation of gonads, indicating a one-year cycle of development. Three of the studied species were brooders (Thouarella sp, Fannyella rossii, Fannyella spinosa). The incubation mode of Ainigmaptilon antarcticum and Dasystenella acanthina could not be determined due to the lack of larvae in the observed guts. The reproductive patterns found did not show a different tendency for Antarctic species when compared to species from other latitudes. Factors such as morphology and food availability seem to play a more important role than temperature in determining the reproductive patterns of these species.

The studies showed a high heterogeneity, which evidence the plasticity, adaptability and functional diversity of polar benthic cnidarians. These

Summary

features enable them to develop rich populations and communities, despite the temporal and spatial unpredictable availability of food. The study of these aspects (distribution, trophic ecology and reproduction) in other suspension feeding populations may permit an acceptance of these conclusions at the community level in the near future.

Zusammenfassung

In vielen Bereichen des Weddellmeerschelfs (Antarktis) existieren reiche Gemeinschaften benthischer Suspensionsfresser. Über die ökologische Rolle der Organismen, die diese Gemeinschaften bilden, ist jedoch noch wenig bekannt.

Das Hauptziel dieser Arbeit war es daher, unsere Kenntnisse über die ökologische Rolle von Suspensionsfressern in der Antarktis zu erweitern. Themenschwerpunkte dieser Arbeit waren: Verbreitung, Ernährungsgewohnheiten und Fortpflanzungsstrategien aus gewählter Cnidarier. Die Probennahmen wurden an Bord des deutschen Forschungsschiffs "Polarstern" während der drei EASIZ (Ecology of the Antarctic Sea Ice Zone) - Expeditionen durchgeführt (EASIZ I/1996 und EASIZ II/1998 im Sommer, EASIZ III/2000 im Herbst).

Das Verteilungsmuster, einer der entscheidenden Faktoren für die ökologische Rolle einer Art oder Gemeinschaft in einem Ökosystem, wurde anhand der Gorgonarie *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum* (Octocorallia) untersucht. Diese großwüchsige Art findet sich im östlichen Weddellmeer häufig. Ihr Verteilungsmuster ist geklumpt, ihre mittlere Abundanz ist jedoch relativ niedrig. Diese Arbeit untersucht Zusammenhänge zwischen Verteilungs- und Fortpflanzungmuster.

Trophische Aspekte wurden bei sechs Cnidariern, zwei Hydrozoen (*Tubularia ralphii* und *Oswaldella antarctica*) und vier Anthozoen aus den Ordnungen Alcyonacea (*Anthomastus bathyproctus*), Stolonifera (*Clavularia* cf. *frankliniana*) und Gorgonacea (*Primnoisis antarctica* und *Primnoella* sp.) untersucht.

Tubularia ralphii und Anthomastus bathyproctus ernährten sich ausschließlich von Zooplankton, im wesentlichen von Copepoden und Tunicaten. Oswaldella antarctica, Primnoisis antarctica und Primnoella sp. waren "Mikrophagen". Ihre Nahrung bestand hauptsächlich aus sestonischen Kleinstpartikeln (0,2 bis 200 µm), z.B. Ciliaten und Dinoflagellaten. Bei Clavularia cf. frankliniana wurde eine Mischernährung aus Zooplankton und

Zusammenfassung

Mikrophagen gefunden. Diese unterschiedlichen Ernährungsgewohnheiten deuten auf unterschiedliche Strategien in der Anpassung an die spezifischen Nahrungsbedingungen im antarktischen Ökosystem hin. Eine Strategie ist die Konzentration auf große, "wertvolle" Nahrungspartikel, die in hoher Anzahl während einer limitierten Zeitspanne zu Verfügung stehen. Diese Strategie wird durch die Zooplanktonfresser *Tubularia ralphii* und *Anthomastus bathyproctus* repräsentiert. Eine andere Strategie ist die Konzentration auf sestonische Kleinstpartikel mit geringerem Nährwert, die das ganze Jahr über in geringen, aber relativ konstanten Mengen verfügbar sind. Diese Strategie wird durch *Oswaldella antarctica, Primnoisis antarctica* und *Primnoella* sp. repräsentiert. *Clavularia* cf. *franklinana* verfolgt eine mittlere Strategie zwischen diesen beiden Extremen.

Bei fünf untersuchten Octocorallia-Arten wurden unterschiedliche Reproduktionstrategien gefunden. Bei *Dasystenella acanthina*, *Thouarella* sp. ("flaschen bürsten" artig) und *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum* (flagelliform) weisen zwei Größenklassen von Oocyten auf einen Entwicklungszyklus von mehr als einem Jahr hin. Bei *Fannyella rossii* und *Fannyella spinosa* (dichotom verzweigt) wurde nur eine Größenklasse gefunden, was auf einen einjährigen Zyklus schließen läßt. Drei der untersuchten Arten betrieben Brutpflege (*Thouarella* sp, *Fannyella rossii* und *Fannyella spinosa*). Bei *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum* und *Dasystenella acanthina* wurden keine Larven gefunden, so daß auch keine Aussagen über das Brutverhalten getroffen werden konnten. Die beobachteten reproduktiven Muster unterschieden sich nicht von Arten aus gemäßigten Breiten. Faktoren wie Morphologie und Nahrungsverfügbarkeit scheinen daher eine wichtigere Rolle als geographische Breite oder Wassertemperatur zu spielen.

Verbreitungsmuster, Ernährungsverhalten und Fortpflanzungsstrategie der untersuchten Arten waren sehr heterogen, was auf große ökologische Vielfalt und funktionelle Biodiversität bei polaren benthischen Cnidariern hindeutet. Gerade diese Diversität befähigt diese Organismen zur Entwicklung hoher Populationsdichten und komplexer Gemeinschaften mit anderen Suspensionsfressern, trotz der nichtvorhersagbaren räumlichen und

zeitlichen Schwankungen der Nahrungsverfügbarkeit im polarem Ökosystem. Untersuchungen von anderen Suspensionsfressern unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Schwerpunkte dieser Arbeit (Verteilung, trophische Ökologie und Reproduktion) könnten in nächster Zeit die Schlussfolgerungen dieser Arbeit auf Gemeinschaften erweitern.

6_____

Resumen

Resumen

La plataforma continental del Mar de Weddell (Antártida), se encuentra poblada en diversos enclaves por comunidades muy abundantes y diversas de suspensívoros bentónicos las cuales presentan además elevados valores de biomasa. Pese a la notable presencia de dichas comunidades, la información acerca del papel ecológico de los organismos que las componen es todavía muy escaso.

El objetivo principal de este trabajo de investigación es avanzar en el conocimiento del papel ecológico que estos organismos juegan en los ecosistemas antárticos. Para lograr este fin, se han definido y elaborado tres objetivos concretos de trabajo en un grupo determinado de especies. Cada objetivo se centra en un aspecto relevante de la ecología de los suspensívoros bentónicos: los patrones de distribución y densidad, el comportamiento trófico y las características reproductoras, focalizando el trabajo en varias especies de cnidarios. El muestreo y trabajo experimental se llevó a cabo a bordo del buque de investigación oceanográfica alemán "Polarstern", a lo largo de tres campañas consecutivas EASIZ (Ecology of the Antarctic Sea Ice Zone, Ecología de la Zona del Margen del Hielo Antártico), dos de ellas durante el verano austral (EASIZ I /1996 y EASIZ II /1998) y una durante el otoño (EASIZ III/2000).

Los patrones de densidad y distribución son uno de los factores decisivos para definir el papel ecológico de especies o comunidades en un ecosistema. En este contexto, se ha estudiado la densidad poblacional de una especie de octocoral, la gorgonia *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum*. Este octocoral es conspicuo y considerablemente abundante en varias zonas de la parte este del Mar de Weddell. La especie presenta una distribución parcheada con bajos valores de densidad en los parches. La posible relación entre distribución y reproducción se discute en este estudio.

Se han investigado así mismo aspectos tróficos en seis especies de cnidarios, dos hidrozoos (*Tubularia ralphii* y *Oswaldella antarctica*), y cuatro antozoos, pertenecientes a diferentes órdenes: un alcyonáceo (*Anthomastus*

bathyproctus), un estolonífero (*Clavularia* cf. *frankliniana*) y dos gorgonáceos (*Primnoisis antarctica y Primnoella* sp.).

Dos estrategias de alimentación diferentes han sido encontradas: dos de las especies investigadas (Tubularia ralphii y Anthomastus bathyproctus) son principalmente zooplanctívoras, estando compuesta su dieta por copépodos y tunicados planctónicos respectivamente. Las otras especies (Oswaldella antarctica, Primnoisis antarctica y Primnoella sp) son básicamnete "micrófagas", y su dieta se basaba fundamentalmente en elementos de la fracción fina del seston (p.e. ciliados y dinoflagelados). La especie restante (Clavularia cf. frankliniana) parece presentar una dieta mixta entre las dos descritas. Esta heterogeneidad de dietas, refleja la adaptación de estas especies a la variabilidad ambiental del sistema Antártico. La alimentación basada en zooplancton responde a la estación de verano, altamente productiva, siendo durante esta época del año las concentraciones de zooplancton más elevadas, permitiendo así a los predadores aprovechar las misma. Alimentarse en la fracción fina del seston es una adaptación al "sistema de flagelados" antártico, muy constante en su composición en términos de biomasa, permitiendo así a las especies alimentarse durante todo el año.

Las características de la reproduccción y tendencias de la misma han sido investigadas en cinco especies de octocorales, pertenecientes a tres morfotipos diferentes. Dos de ellas eran de tipo "bottle-brush" (*Dasystenella acanthina* y *Thouarella* sp.), otras dos presentaban un patrón de ramificación dicótomo (*Fannyella rossii* y *Fanyella spinosa*) y una era flageliforme (*Ainigmaptilon antarcticum*). Diferentes estrategias reproductivas han sido encontradas entre las especies. Tres de ellas (*Ainigmaptilon antarcticum*, *Dasystenella acanthina* y *Thouarella* sp.) presentan dos generaciones de oocitos, lo que indica un ciclo reproductor de más de un año de duración. Por otro lado, *Fannyella rossii* y *Fannyella spinosa* tenían tan solo una generación, indicando un ciclo de desarrollo gonadal de un año. Tres de las especies estudiadas son incubadoras o "brooders" (*Thouarella* sp, *Fannyella rossii*, *Fannyella spinosa*). El modo de incubación de *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum* y *Dasystenella acanthina* no pudo determinarse debido a la

Resumen

ausencia de larvas en las cavidades gastrovasculares examinadas. Los patrones reproductores hallados no parecen mostrar tendencias diferentes para las especies antárticas comparadas con las descritas para especies de otras latitudes, mientras que otros factores como la morfología y la disponibilidad de alimento parecen jugar un papel más importante en determinar los patrones reproductivos que otros factores como la temperatura o la latitud.

En general, los estudios llevados a cabo muestran una gran heterogeneidad, que evidencia la plasticidad, adaptablidad y diversidad funcional de los cnidarios bentónicos polares. Estas características ecológicas permiten a estos organismos, a pesar de la estocástica distribución espacial y temporal del alimento disponible típicas de los ecosistemas polares, formar densas poblaciones y comunidades junto con otros grupos de suspensívoros bentónicos. El estudio de estos aspectos (distribución, ecología trófica y reproducción) en otras poblaciones de suspensívoros dará lugar a ampliar las conclusiones de este trabajo al nivel de comunidad.

2. Introduction

2.1 Benthic suspension feeding communities on the Antarctic shelf, with particular emphasis on the cnidarians

Most benthic assemblages in Antarctica are dense and taxonomically diverse. Traditionally densities and biomasses of macrobenthos have been described to be high in the Antarctic on both hard and soft bottoms (e.g. Knox & Lowry 1977, Mühlenhardt-Siegel 1988, among others), particularly in comparison to related Arctic communities (Dayton 1990). Although a fully developed epifaunal assemblage in Antarctica may not be comparable, in terms of biodiversity, to a tropical reef, it is nevertheless rich in species. Average benthic biomass in the Antarctic is higher than in temperate and subtropical communities (Brey & Clarke 1993, Arntz 1997). However, productivity/biomass (P/B) values of Antarctic benthic invertebrates are, in general, significantly lower than those of their temperate counterparts (Brey & Clarke 1993, Arntz et al. 1994).

The major component of the Antarctic benthic communities are sessile



Fig. 1 Ideal representation of a benthic community on the Weddell Sea shelf. (Drawing by Jordi Corbera).

e.g. sponges, bryozoans, ascidians, and certain echinoderms (Dayton et al. 1974, Arnaud 1977) (Fig. 1). These communities are spatially highly structured, as has also been observed in temperate (Gili & Coma 1998) and tropical (Karlson 1999) waters, with a

suspension feeders,

high functional diversity and a considerable degree of patchiness in species

Introduction

composition at small or intermediate spatial scales (Piepenburg et al. 1997, Gutt & Starmans 1998). Bryozoans, sponges and ascidians dominate many of the Antarctic benthic communities on the shelf (Voß 1988, Galerón et al. 1992), however cnidarians are also a notable component of the suspension feeding communities. According to Starmans et al. (1999), anthozoans are the third dominant taxon in the shelf communities of the Weddell Sea accounting for 10% of the individuals. It is likely that they are the group that contributes most to the tridimensional structure of benthic Antarctic communities (pers. obs. from ROV images).

Therefore, knowledge of the ecological role of benthic cnidarians in the Antarctic system is more relevant than previously assumed. Despite their importance, basic ecological information on their distribution and their trophic and reproductive ecology is scarce in polar regions (e.g. Arntz et al. 1994). Recently, ecological studies of Antarctic suspension feeders have notably increased, e.g., on bivalves (e.g. Davenport 1997, Albertelli et al. 1998), sponges (e.g. Starmans et al. 1999, Kowalke 2000), ascidians (e.g. Sahade et al. 1998, Kowalke 1999), bryozoans (e.g. Sanderson et al. 1994, Barnes & Clarke 1994) and some boreal sponges (e.g. Pile et al. 1996, Riisgård et al. 1998). However, studies in polar regions on passive suspension feeders, such as cnidarians, are still scarce.

The first step to elucidate the ecological role of a given group of organisms in an ecosystem is the determination of its abundance and distribution patterns. Some studies in this field are available (e.g. Gutt & Koltun 1995, Piepenburg et al. 1997, Starmans et al. 1999), however the species level is still very poorly documented. The second main aspect is the behaviour as predators and prey, which implies investigation of the diet, a topic almost unknown in Antarctic assemblages. From an ecological point of view, the energy contribution (Coma et al. 1998) offers the most rigorous and complete information about the ecological role of the organisms. First of all are evaluations of the inputs (feeding) and outputs (investment of the ingested energy) required. The outputs are basically the basal metabolism, growth and reproduction. Growth studies require a detailed temporary monitoring, which is very difficult to achieve on board an oceanographic ship

during cruises of 1-2 months. However, the quantification of reproductive parameters is feasible.

In the following paragraphs, three aspects of the ecology of the Antarctic benthic cnidarians will be explained in more detail: distribution, feeding and reproduction.

2.2 Density and distribution of benthic organisms

The spatial pattern exhibited by soft bottom macrobenthic organisms is the first clear evidence of their response to environmental factors and determines their ecological role (Thrush 1991). In nature, organisms are generally aggregated in patches, or form gradients or other spatially related structures. Large-scale (both spatial and temporal) abiotic factors cause broad patterns of distribution (Barry & Dayton 1991). Other processes operate continuously at smaller temporal and spatial scales modifying distributions and abundances. These smaller-scale factors may be biotic, abiotic or involve interactions between both (Thrush 1991).

The distribution patterns of invertebrate benthic megafauna species are usually patchy (e.g., Picken 1980, Miller 1998). Ecological analyses of Antarctic assemblages on a spatial scale from metres to a few hundred kilometres showed a patchy distribution (e.g. Voß 1988, Gutt 1991, Gutt & Piepenburg 1991, Barthel & Gutt 1992, Gutt & Koltun 1995). This patchiness seems to be mainly affected by variation in sediment type and benthic food supply, which depends on primary production, sedimentation, hydrographic factors and seasonal ice cover (Grebmeier & Barry 1991). Studies from the Weddell Sea shelf did not show any correlation between environmental variables (water depth, longitude, latitude and distance between stations and ice edge) and faunal distribution (Starmans et al. 1999). An interpretation of this phenomenon may be found in the fact that communities do not exhibit a depth zonation gradient in the Weddell Sea, where the same authors found a geographical zonation and distinct assemblages despite pronounced mesoscale patchiness.

Anthozoans exhibit contagious patterns of distribution (Williams 1976) and several octocoral species also show a patchy distribution (e.g. Chia & Crawford 1973, Langton et al. 1990, Rice et al. 1992). Most of the literature

Introduction

available corresponds to tropical and temperate regions (Gili et al. 1999). In these areas, high density at the patch level is a common phenomenon (e.g Kinzie 1973, Grigg 1977, Gili & Ros 1985), contrasting with the patterns found in the Antarctic (Gili et al. 1999).

Taking into account the information on distribution patterns and features of benthic megafauna in the Weddell Sea, as well as the knowledge on octocoral distribution patterns from other latitudes, we focused on the distribution of the Antarctic octocoral: *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum*, a conspicuous species in many areas of the Eastern Weddell Sea shelf.

2.3 Trophic ecology of the cnidarians

The Southern Ocean is in general an oligotrophic environment dominated by flagellates and other small organisms of the pelagic retention

with system, short overlying outbursts of microalgae (bloom system) in spring and summer (Sakshaug & Holm-Hansen 1984, Scharek & Nöthig 1995) which are essential for larger zooplankton. The benthic suspension feeders must adapt their feeding strategies to the features of the Southern Ocean: high primary productivity in summer, reduced to almost zero in winter, and to the vertical flux characteristics. The apparently discontinuous pattern of food availability



Fig. 2 The upper part of the figure shows the variation of pico-, nano- and microplankton as well as of chlorophyll throughout the year. The diagram below shows the activity rhythms of different suspension feeders. (Sources: Kang et al. 1997, Barnes & Clarke 1995, respectively).

may determine their activity rhythms, metabolic rates, and reproductive

patterns. For some time the summer blooms were suspected to determine the feeding strategies and diet composition of the benthic communities in Antarctica. These organisms were thought to feed heavily during a few weeks in summer, and sustain long periods of starvation the rest of the year. This would resemble overwintering as resting stages or hibernation periods that have been described for other latitudes (Gili & Hughes 1995, Garrabou 1999). However, Barnes & Clarke (1995) have demonstrated that certain species of Antarctic shallow-water benthic suspension feeders are able to feed throughout the year with only short periods of starvation (Fig. 2).

Microplankton (20-200 μ m) dominates the phytoplankton assemblages in the Antarctic water column and the sediment only during short periods, while pico- and nanoplankton (between 0.2 and 20 μ m) dominate during most of the year (Cripps & Clarke 1998). This ambivalent planktonic system may potentially supply food to suspension feeders throughout the year. Planktonic communities are actively exploited by benthic suspension feeders (e.g. Graf 1992), as these animals partially return the organic matter captured from the water column, in detritic and dissolved form or through meroplanktonic larvae. All these findings come, however, from shallow waters. The question arises whether the shallow water situation is also



Fig. 3 Bottom water currents along the continental shelf and slope, composed of oscillatory, longitudinal and lateral coast currents including resuspension processes (black circular arrows in the general view, and white arrows in the detailed view) (modified from Riedl 1971). Diagrams show the orientation of suspension feeder colonies and where development of dense suspension feeder communities is likely.

applicable to shelf communities.

Like other suspension feeders, cnidarians depend on the available food suspended in the water column and on the near bottom currents. In the Southern Ocean not only vertical fluxes (Bodungen

Introduction

et al. 1986, Nöthig & Bodungen 1989), but zooplankton, seston, elements of the microbial food web and resuspension processes contribute to the potentially available food for benthic suspension feeders. Horizontal advection processes (Dunbar et al. 1989, Grebmeier & Barry 1991) and meso- and small- scale hydrodynamic mechanisms (Gili et al. in press) enable continuous water renewal close to the bottom, which probably explains the dense benthic suspension feeder communities on the shelf and slope (Fig. 3).

Although cnidarians have traditionally been considered mainly carnivorous (Hyman 1940), recent findings from Antarctica (Gili et al. 1996) and other latitudes (e.g. Fabricius et al. 1995 a,b, Elyakova et al. 1981) give evidences of herbivory.

The diet of gorgonians as well as that of other suspension feeders varies between dissolved organic matter (via plankton) and other benthic organisms (Fig. 4). It is very well coupled to the dynamics of their potential prey, making this group a good example of bentho-pelagic coupling (Ribes et



Fig. 4 Prey type and size in different benthic suspension feeders, considering the recent findings on their natural diet which increased the range of quality and quantity of prey both at small size (pico and nanoplankton, continuous prey) and at big size (zooplankton and microplankton, occasional prey). Light shaded areas and bold crosses refer to information that has been added to Riedl's original figure. Potential of filtering water (right hand) of each group is also shown. (Gili et al. 2000 after Riedl 1966). al. 1998, 1999). The ability of suspension feeders to capture important amounts of planktonic prey implies that the grazing pressure on the water column planktonic communities by benthic macro-invertebrates must be much greater than previously thought (e.g. Coma et al. 1995a, Pile et al. 1996, Gili et al. 1999, Riisgård in press, Orejas et al. in press).

Information on the trophic ecology of cnidarian species in Antarctic communities is very scarce

(Gili et al. 1996, Slattery et al. 1997, Gili et al. 1999). Preliminary studies analysing gut contents of several gorgonians from Antarctic waters (Alvà et al. 1997) showed a very low number of zooplankton prey in the polyps, despite high zooplankton densities in the water column. Another paradoxial fact is the high reproduction rates of octocorals in Antarctic waters (Gili et al. 1999), comparable to those from other latitudes (Orejas et al. submitted).

This indicates that these organisms must take other planktonic components in order to cover their energetic demands. Recent literature shows that the fine fraction of seston (mainly phytoplankton, pico- and nano-plankton) plays an important role in the diet of various benthic suspension feeders from temperate and boreal latitudes (e.g Ribes et al. 1998, 1999, Riisgård et al. 1998), tropical areas (Fabricius et al 1995, Yahel et al. 1998), and also in the Antarctic (Kowalke 2000, Orejas et al. in press).

The present work tries to evaluate the trophic behaviour and diet composition of some selected species of this taxonomic group in Antarctica.

2.4 Reproductive ecology of the cnidarians

Reproductive patterns in the Antarctic are defined by prolonged gametogenesis, delayed maturation, seasonal reproduction, low fecundity, large yolky eggs, non-pelagic development, brooding, brood protection, viviparity, slow embryonic

development, and advanced newly-hatched juvenile stages (Thorson 1950, Pearse et al. 1991). Although some factors seem to define general features of reproduction in Antarctic organisms (e.g. Arnaud 1974, White 1977) (Fig. 5), there are large differences among



Fig. 5 Model of Antarctic poikilotherm breeding cycles (from White 1977).

groups and even species (Arntz et al. 1994). The general trend suggested by

Introduction

Thorson (1950) towards non-pelagic development and brood protection in polar waters was corroborated for some groups such as echinoderms (e.g. David & Mooi 1990, Pearse et al. 1991) and bivalves (Pearse 1986). Pearse et al (1991) and Berkman et al. (1991) discussed the validity of "Thorson's rule" as several benthic species with pelagic development mode were found. Among the types of pelagic development, lecitotrophic larvae seem to be the most frequent. This mode of development requires less energy than the planktotrophic one (Picken 1979), which may explain the preponderance of lecitotrophic patterns of development in Antarctic prosobranch gastropods where trophic resources are thought to be particularly limiting (Picken 1979). However, despite the prevalence of lecitotrophic development, some of the most common and widespread shallow-water Antarctic marine invertebrates have pelagic planktotrophic larvae (see Pearse et al. 1991 for a review), and even planulae of octocorals have been found throughout the year in Signy Island (Stanwell-Smith et al. 1999).

Studies on reproduction patterns of anthozoans have been conducted in the last two decades in temperate and tropical regions (e.g. Hughes & Jackson 1980, Martin 1982, Brazeau & Lasker 1990, Coma et al. 1995b). Quantification of the reproduction of octocorals is carried out using a combination of parameters such as oocyte number and size as well as environmental and biological factors (e.g. food availability and morphology). These factors have been identified as elements which govern reproduction processes. Some general patterns have been found for octocorals at different latitudes (e.g. Grigg 1977, Martin 1982, Coma et al. 1995b), for instance, separate sexes and a sex ratio of 1:1. Seasonality in gamete development and size at first reproduction (Sebens 1982, Hughes & Cancino 1985) seem to define reproduction features and timing. Some reproductive patterns of deep-sea cnidarians are known (e.g. Van Praet et al. 1990, Tyler et al. 1995, Eckelbarger et al. 1998), but information on polar species is scarce. The descriptive studies of Wright & Studer (1889) and Versluys (1906) argued that separate sex and brooding seem to be also common features of Antarctic and deep-sea octocorals. However, there are so far only two studies on the reproductive ecology of Antarctic cnidarians: the work of Brito

et al. (1997) on the gorgonian *Thouarella variabilis* and the study of Slattery & McClintock (1997) on *Clavularia* cf. *frankliniana*.

In this study the features and trends of reproduction of five Antarctic octocoral species were studied and compared with those of other Antarctic invertebrates and those of octocorals from other latitudes.

2.5 Aims of the present study

The objectives of this thesis are:

- (a) To determine the density and distribution patterns of an Antarctic gorgonian (*Ainigmaptilon antarcticum*), using video material (first approach to underwater visual studies of Antarctic cnidarians).
- (b) To determine the diet of six species of Antarctic cnidarians: Oswaldella antarctica (Hydrozoa), Tubularia ralphii (Hydrozoa), Clavularia cf. frankliniana (Anthozoa), Anthomastus bathyproctus (Anthozoa), Primnoisis antarctica (Anthozoa) and Primnoella sp.2 (Anthozoa), considering the physical and biological features of the Antarctic environment, the factors which regulate the availability of food at the sea floor, and the various potential food sources for benthic suspension feeders. The main objective of the trophic studies was to ascertain the cnidarian diet spectrum, and to find out the relevance of the fine fraction of seston is in the diet of Antarctic cnidarians.
- (c) To define the reproductive patterns of five species of Antarctic octocorals from the Weddell Sea shelf (*Dasystenella acanthina*, *Thouarella* sp., *Fannyella rossii*, *Fannyella spinosa* and *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum*) and to compare them with those of other related Antarctic invertebrates and octocorals from other latitudes.
- (d) To find out the factors which might be responsible for the timing in the reproductive processes of the studied species.
- (e) To investigate the role of the benthic cnidarians in the Antarctic ecosystem discussing the similarities and differences to other latitudes.

3 Study Area

The studies presented here were carried out in the eastern Weddell

Sea (Antarctica). The main sampling area was the continental shelf in front of Kapp Norvegia (Fig. 6).

3.1 Geographical location and physical characterisation of the eastern Weddell Sea

The Weddell Sea is surrounded by the Antarctic Peninsula to the west, the Scotia Arc to the north, East Antarctica to the southeast, and West Antarctica to the southwest (Fig. 7).

Due to this particular geographical emplacement between the High Antarctic and the Scotia Subregions the Weddell Sea may be regarded as a transition zone, a



Fig. 7 Location of the Weddell Sea in the Antarctic. (Source: Nicol 1994)



Fig. 6 Study area. Continental shelf of the Eastern Weddell Sea in front of Kapp Norvegia. (Source: Fahrbach et al. 1992).

"bridge" with elements belonging to the neighbouring areas.

The environmental factors characterising the Weddell Sea are (like in other oceans in the world): depth, temperature, salinity, substrate features, hydrography, water currents etc. The marked seasonality of biotic factors are not exclusive of this system either, however, the duration of the ice cover is a specific polar feature that needs to be taken into account.

In the last years knowledge on the physical and biotic features of the Weddell Sea has much improved. In this chapter, a brief description will be given derived from the available literature.

3.1.1 Bathymetry, topography and sediment characteristics

The bathymetry of the continental margin and the coastal regions of Antarctica is still only partly known. Due to its remote character and presence of ice-cover, the Weddell Sea is a region of difficult access and there are little available data on the bathymetry of the area, which supply information of different type, source and quality. Few original data are available for the central and southern part of the Weddell Sea and the sea bottom below the Filchner-Rønne ice shelf. Bathymetric features of the Weddell Sea are the very deep shelf, reaching ca. 600m, and a narrow extension (30 km in the Kapp Norvegia area). Fig. 8 shows a perspective of the southern part of the trench off Kapp Norvegia.

The particular topographic features in the eastern Weddell Sea



Fig. 8 Perspective view of the southern part of the trench off Kapp Norvegia (Source: Niederjasper et al. 1997).

patterns in the area. For example, the topographic rise at the shelf edge off Kapp Norvegia reduces horizontal advection and retains cold Winter Water (WW) during summers (Fahrbach et al.

influence

the

hydrographic

1992). In contrast

Warm Deep Water (WDW) can be found on the shelf off Halley Bay. This

Study area

illustrates rather heterogeneous conditions in the near bottom water layers due to differences in the exchange rates with the open ocean and with the near surface layers (Fahrbach et al. 1992). The first topographic characterisations of the Weddell Sea were presented by Kvinge (1968), Carmack & Foster (1977), Kohnen (1981) and Grobe (1986). Among the most recent papers are those of Bell & Brozena (1990), Hinze (1994), and the bathymetric charts of Schenke et al. (1998).

Current directions in the area are strongly directed by the bottom topography and tidal currents are very important for sediment transport (Fahrbach et al. 1992). According to Grobe (1986) the sedimentation rate on the Weddell Sea shelf in front of Kapp Norvegia is 0-3 cm/1000 years. Voß (1988) described the different sediment types in this area. Sediment characteristics as well as sedimentation processes are widely described in the literature (e.g. Anderson et al. 1980, Orheim & Elverhoi 1981, Elverhøi & Roaldset 1983, Haase 1986, Grobe 1986). Recently the sediment was characterized also using new acoustic methods (Kuhn & Weber 1993).

A general feature for the eastern part of the Weddell Sea are the biogenic sediments, composed mainly of sponge spicules. These spicules are also abundant in deeper sediment cores as spicule mats (Grobe 1986). In some places fragments of Bryozoa are another component forming biogenic sediment beds. In the eastern part, a variety of channels and sediment ridges have been detected, indicating intensive sediment redeposition by bottom currents (Weber 1992).

3.1.2 Hydrography

General oceanographic circulation of the Weddell Sea is characterised by an elongated cyclonic movement of all water masses, denominated the Weddell Gyre (Fig. 9). Early pioneers (e.g., Brennecke 1918, Sverdrup 1954) recognized the Weddell Sea as the major source for the formation of bottom water: 70-80% of the bottom water produced world wide originates from the Weddell Sea (Carmack 1977, Foldvik & Gammelsrød 1988). Together with deep convection of cool and low-salinity in the area of Maud Rise (Gordon 1982), the formation of Weddell Sea Bottom Water (WSBW) on the southern and south western Weddell Sea shelf (Filchner-Rønne Ice Shelf) plays a key role in bottom water formation. Two water masses contribute to the bottom water formation: the highsalinity Western Shelf Water (WSW) and the super cooled Ice Shelf Water (ISW). In Fig. 10 a schematic representation of the water masses in the Weddell Sea is given.

On the shelf of the Weddell Sea there is a conjunction of different water



Fig. 9 The mean oceanic surface currents which form the Weddel Sea gyre (after Hubold 1992). (For abbreviations see Glossary).

masses. The largest water mass in the eastern Weddell Sea is located of the "Filchner Cavity" and is named Eastern Shelf Water (ESW). Features of this water mass are salinity values ranging from 34.28 to 34.44% and temperatures between -2.0°C and -1.6°C. In the Kapp Norvegia area the warm and highly saline core reaches potential temperatures of 0.8°C and salinities of 34.69%. The salinity maximum is found about 100m deeper



Fig. 10 Schema of the water masses and thermohaline circulation under an open polynya. Resuspension processes and their influence on the benthic communities on the Weddell Sea shelf. (Source: Scharek 1991). (For abbreviations see Glossary).

than the temperature maximum. The depth of the surface mixed layers is 50 to 100m in the open ocean and increases to more than 500m near the continental shelf edge (Fahrbach et al. 1992).

Current directions vary strongly during the year in the Kapp Norvegia area, between 197° to 257° at different locations and depths. Current speed ranges on average

Study area

from 10 to 20 cm/s, and reaches maximal values of 54 to 68 cm/s on the shelf of Kapp Norvegia at 400-680m depth (Fahrbach et al. 1992). Thiel et al. (1960) estimated tidal currents ranging between 10 and 15 cm/s on the Weddell Sea shelf. In the eastern Weddell Sea, the current associated with the Antarctic Slope Front splits into two cores, centered above the continental slope in water depths of 1000m and 300m. Surface currents in the southern core are close to 50cm s⁻¹. In addition, a shallow, fast current just inshore of the southern core may indicate the merging with the Antarctic Coastal Current often observed on the continental shelf, near the front of ice shelves. A northeast undercurrent at 800m depth on the flank of the continental slope has a transport of approximately 0.1 Sv (1 Sv= $10^6 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$) (Heywood et al. 1998).

The correlation between the seasonal cycle of wind and current speeds points to the wind as an important driving force of the coastal current. Seasonal variations of the current decrease towards the bottom and offshore (Fahrbach et al. 1992). Catabatic winds and/or pronounced tidal currents lead to the formation of coastal polynyas in front of the ice shelves (Gill 1973, Gamelsrød & Slotsvik 1981). Within the polynyas the extent of thermohaline convection is reduced in summer due to melting of sea-ice. There is an intensified sea ice formation in winter resulting in enhanced thermohaline convection (Foster 1972, Foldvik 1986).

3.1.3 lce conditions

A large part of the Weddell Sea is covered during the whole year by ice, which is renewed every year. During August this ice cover reaches its largest



Fig. 11 Sea ice-cover in summer (left) and winter (right) in two consecutive years, obtained from satellite images. (Source: Lemke & Viehoff 1991).

extension: 4.36 x 10^{6} km², whereas in February, there is a marked reduction to values close to 1.14×10^{6} km² (Ropelewski 1983). In winter, the ice may reach 60° S in northern direction (Foster 1981). During the austral summer there is, however, a wide ice-free area (Fig. 11). The ice cover varies notably between the same season in different years, mainly in the eastern part of the Weddell Sea. In the last years, knowledge on the ice conditions in the Weddell Sea has increased considerably, for example on ice formation rates (Eicken 1998), regional and temporal variation of the sea ice draft (Strass & Fahrbach 1998) and sea ice seasonality (Parkinson 1998).

3.1.4 Disturbance by iceberg scouring

The most important agent of disturbance in the Antarctic is the ice (Dayton 1990, Clarke 1996). Periodicity and seasonality of disturbance by ice



Fig. 12 Idealised diagram of succession in Antarctic shelf suspension feeder communities. The development of dense, three-dimensional communities involves continuous patch spreading and aggregation during succession which is believed to be a slow process (Drawing by Jordi Corbera).

in the Antarctic depends on many factors, such as depth substratum profile and latitude (Barnes 1999).

Ice scour is caused by floating icebergs and is the most evident disturbance on benthic communities because the bergs ground and scrape on the sea floor. The physical process occurring during this scraping, at the level of the seabed, has been described in a recent review of Woodworth-Lynas et al. (1991).

In the eastern Weddell Sea, the use of imaging methods showed for the first time that iceberg scouring destroys benthic life on the Antarctic continental shelf and originates recolonisation processes in disturbed areas by mobile invaders and sessile pioneer species (Gutt 2000) (Fig. 12). The rate of disturbance in the Weddell, Amundsen and Bellinghausen Seas was calculated at 4.4% of the affected area. From these data a first approximation has been derived as to the possible periodicity of this kind of disturbance, which was suggested to occur on average once every 230 years (Gutt et al. 1996).

The influence of iceberg scouring on the structure and biodiversity of a benthic community in the southeastern Weddell Sea has also been evaluated (Gutt et al. 1998). The result was that despite the devastation at small scale, biodiversity increases at larger scales due to the multitude of successional stages present. However, knowledge of the influence of icebergs in the pelagic and benthic ecosystems is still scarce. For example, modification of currents due to the presence of icebergs should be very important, mainly in places where icebergs are accumulated such as the iceberg cemetery of Auståsen, in front of Kapp Norvegia. Change of current direction and speed should also influence the plankton dynamics. Furthermore, scraping of the seabed and stirring up sediment may have an important influence on the dynamics of the benthic communities.

3.2 Biological characterisation of the study area

3.2.1 Brief introduction to the benthic system

Around the entire Antarctic continent, similar species assemblages seem to occur. This is a unique phenomenon in marine biogeography as a consequence of the circumpolar current. On the Weddell Sea shelf, most of the coastal regions exhibit differences in community composition on small spatial scales, usually in response to differences in wave exposure, topography or substrata. Voß (1988) published the first characterisation of the Kapp Norvegia area in the eastern Weddell Sea. As main features of the area he described the presence not only of sandy bottoms, but also of sponge spicules mats, bryozoan debris, stones, he also found a large number of taxa, and high species diversity and evenness. A first description of the benthic associations in the Weddell Sea was also included in this work and extended by Galéron et al. (1992) and Gerdes et al. (1992) who in particular referred to their species richness mainly in sponges and bryozoans (see Fig. 1). Furthermore, Gutt (1991), Gutt & Piepenburg (1991), Gutt & Koltun (1995) and Starmans (1997) contributed to the description and characterisation of the eastern Weddell Sea shelf communities. Gutt & Starmans (1998) and Starmans et al. (1999) identified assemblages of taxa as well as key species, described the biodiversity of the assemblages and

tried to determine environmental and biological factors that influence

faunal composition. Weddell Sea communities did not appear to be correlated with depth, geographical situation or locality on the shelf or shelf edge (Starmans et al. 1999). The different assemblages identified by Gutt & Starmans (1998) in the eastern Weddell Sea and their relations with different substrate types can be seen in Fig. 13.

3.2.2 Brief introduction to the planktonic system

Due to the special character of the present work, where the benthopelagic coupling is relevant to an understanding of the ecological role of the benthic suspension feeders





benthic suspension feeders, it was considered necessary to present a short paragraph on the phyto- and zooplankton system in the eastern Weddell Sea.

Antarctic shallow waters are characterised by dense but brief summer blooms of diatoms (8-10 weeks y⁻¹) and high productivity associated with low productivity during other periods of the year (Clarke 1988). Near the Weddell Front, low values of primary production ranging from 100 to 350 mg C m⁻² d⁻¹ were obtained in October-November, and from 50 to 250 mg C m⁻² d⁻¹ in May

(Mathot et al. 1994). A peculiarity of the planktonic system in the Weddell Sea, and other areas in the Southern Ocean, is that the organisms living in the sea ice contribute up to 30% of the total biomass production of the South Polar Sea (Spindler & Dieckmann 1991).

The meso- and macrozooplankton epipelagic communities have been described in detail in the Weddell Sea by Boysen-Ennen & Piatkowski (1988). Based on topography and water mass features three distinct epipelagic communities were defined in the Weddell Sea: the oceanic, the southern shelf and the north-eastern community (Boysen-Ennen & Piatkowski, 1988). The last mentioned, which corresponds to our sampling area, was characterised by the highest zooplankton abundances (ca. 31,000 ind/1000m³). The fauna was composed of oceanic and neritic species, and fine filter feeders prevailed, mainly (65%) copepods and tunicates (Boysen-Ennen & Piatkowski 1988). However, most of the research on planktonic communities was done in the first 200-300m of the water column (e.g. Montu & Oliveira 1986, Boysen-Ennen & Piatkowski 1988, Hosie 1994). Very little literature is available for deeper waters and most of it deals only with the most abundant species (e.g. Atkinson 1991, Schnack-Schiel & Hagen 1995). Recent results from winter show a higher spatial and temporal variability of the Weddell Sea ecosystem than previously thought (Spiridonov et al. 1996), which may influence the seasonal pattern of organic carbon transport from the pelagic zone to deeper waters and to the sea floor. The observed pattern for various zooplanktonic organisms of maximal biomass concentration in surface layers during summer and in deep layers in winter (Smith & Schnack-Schiel 1990) could also be very relevant for the benthic communities.

4. Material and Methods

4.1 Sampling

Sampling was performed on board the German RV "Polarstern" during the EASIZ cruises I (ANT XIII/3, January-March 1996), II (ANT XV/3, January-March 1998) and III (ANT XVII/3; March-May 2000). For more details on the expeditions see Arntz & Gutt (1997, 1999) and Arntz & Brey (in press). Specimens were sampled between 200 and 400 m depth with Agassiz and bottom trawls, a small dredge and a TV Grab of 1.82 m² area. Images were taken with a Remotely Operated Vehicle (ROV).

As comprehensive descriptions of the methods used are included in the separated publications, they will only be shortly outlined here with references to the appropriate publications. Fig. 14 presents an overview of the used methods.

4.2 Sample treatment

Five different methods have been employed for the treatment of the samples:

- a) <u>Density and distribution studies</u>. Transects were conducted with a ROV (for a detailed description of the ROV see Starmans et al. 1999) and recorded using a video camera, at depths ranging between 142 and 363 m. Images have been processed following the methodology described in publication III.
- b) <u>Feeding experiments</u>. To conduct the feeding experiments, the specimens were immediately transferred to sea-water aquaria, and placed in a container equipped for operation at low temperature (-1°C to 0,5°C). For details see "material and methods" chapter of publications I and II.
- c) <u>Determination of gut contents and reproduction studies</u>. Samples were preserved on board "Polarstern" in 10% formalin (in the case of feeding studies) and 4% formalin (in the case of the reproduction studies). See the "material and methods" of publication I and II for the feeding aspects and of publication III and IV for the reproductives patterns.

- d) <u>Histological reproduction studies</u>. To study the reproductive stage of the gorgonian *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum*, histological sections were prepared. Technical aspects and details are in publication III.
- e) <u>SEM observations</u>. In order to see the structure of the gonads of *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum* samples were prepared for SEM (scanning electron microscopy). Detailed information is available in publication III.

The species used for the different studies were selected in function of their abundance in the study area and in the case of the feeding experiments also in function of their survival in aquaria. For the reproduction studies the selected species should be representative of the different morphotypes present in the area. Originally it was planned to do a comprehensive study of distribution, feeding and reproductive ecology of the gorgonian *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum*. The difficulties to keep this species in aquaria did not allow to perform the feeding experiments.



Fig. 14 Summary of the sampling procedure and sample treatment for the different studies. Details are given in the "Material and Methods" section of each publication.
5. Conclusions and discussion

In this section an overview of the main results obtained in the four papers will be presented. Specific topics are discussed in more detail in the separate publications. Ecological observations of the species and populations studied are analysed and discussed in relation to environmental and biological conditions of the Antarctic ecosystem and compared with patterns observed in species inhabiting at other latitudes.

5.1 Density and distribution patterns of the cnidarian *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum* in the Weddell Sea

The distribution pattern of *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum* was very clumped, and showed low densities at the patch level (Fig. 15). The average



Fig. 15 Density of *A. antarcticum* in some transects in the area of Kapp Norvegia (Weddell Sea).

density for all transects was 12 ind 100m⁻² and in the patches 17 ind 100m⁻². The dispersion index used (Morisita's Index) pointed to an aggregated distribution pattern, even at small scale (dozens of meters). This distribution seems to be similar to the patterns observed in other Antarctic gorgonians (Gili et al. 1999) and, in general, in Antarctic shelf communities (e.g. Gutt 1991, Gutt & Piepenburg 1991, Gutt & Koltun 1995). These low densities contrast with the density of gorgonians in temperate and tropical areas (e.g. Gili & Ros 1985). The reasons for this kind of distribution are unclear, but it is known that feeding modes contribute to spatial configurations, influencing large-scale distribution patterns with changes in biomass, production and diversity along a gradient of food availability (Thrush 1991). Environmental factors, such as water depth and movement, sediment type, and the sea bed are believed to determine large-scale patterns of distribution (e.g.

Thorson 1957, Gray 1974, Warwick & Davies 1977, Barry & Dayton 1991, Piepenburg et al. 1997). In addition to these abiotic factors, biological interactions influence species diversity and spatial dispersion patterns (e.g. Dayton & Hessler 1971, Grassle & Sanders 1973, Sanders 1979).

Ainigmaptilon antarcticum shows an aggregated distribution pattern with low abundances. Distribution and density are likely to be determined by food availability and dispersion mode.

5.2 Trophic behaviour of cnidarian species on the Weddell Sea shelf

The six Antarctic species investigated have developed different feeding strategies and are thus able to profit from the different trophic niches offered



Fig. 16 A) Percentage (by number) of full and empty gastrovascular cavities in the four studied species. Black colour shows coelenteron with prey items , white colour without. B) Percentage (by number) of prey items of different groups found in the dissected polyps. C) Net growth rates (h^{-1}) (mean±SD) in the control (white bars) and experimental (dotted bars) chamber for *Primnoisis antarctica* (a), *Primnoella* sp. (b) and *Oswaldella antarctica* (c), for each prey group, POC and DOC. Size range of each plankton group is indicated.

by the ecosystem.

Two main strategies were identified: (1) "macrophagy", corresponding to benthic zooplanktivorous species, which feed either on substratumassociated organisms and larvae or on few holoplanktonic animals such as calanoid copepods (Sebens & Koehl 1984), and (2) "microphagy", corresponding to benthic organisms which feed on the fine fraction of seston (Orejas et al. in press). *Tubularia ralphii* and *Anthomastus bathyproctus* clearly belonged to the first category whereas *Oswaldella antarctica*, *Primnoisis antarctica*, and *Primnoella* sp. showed microphagous feeding behaviour. *Clavularia* cf. *frankliniana* presented a mixed diet. The different diets encountered are summarised in Fig. 16.

Apparently, feeding strategies and diets in the Antarctic cnidarians are similar to those of other latitudes. The wide variety of diets found in the Antarctic benthic cnidarians coincides with findings for gorgonian species in the Caribbean (Lasker et al. 1983, Ribes et al. 1998) and in the Mediterranean Sea (Ribes et al. 1999). The prey items were quite different, comprising from bacteria to zooplankton. Similarly the capture rates obtained in our studies on hydroids are comparable to those of related species in temperate waters (Gili et al. 1998).

The studied octocoral species do not seem to make much use of large zooplankters and feed primarily on the fine fraction of seston, mainly on particles > 5 μ m. The presence of benthic diatoms in the gastrovascular cavity of *Primnoella* sp. and *Primnoisis antarctica*, both in field and experimental specimens, leads to the conclusion that resuspension (see Fig. 10) may be an important food source for these organisms.

Different trophic strategies have been developed among Antarctic benthic cnidarians enabling them to feed on a wide food spectrum. These differences are reflected in resource partitioning in the community.

An apparent difference with regard other oceans is the quantity of food ingested, which is significantly lower than in octocorals from other latitudes. However, the Antarctic octocorals might be able to feed during the whole year, due to the relatively constant concentration of the Antarctic microplankton system, whereas octocorals from temperate seas show a more seasonal feeding behaviour. The consumption rate should be related to the metabolism of the organisms and their productivity. Consumption in Antarctic cnidarians is lower than in other latitudes in absolute values, in relative values it is comparable.

The studied Antarctic octocorals do not seem to present a different diet spectrum compared with octocorals from other latitudes. However, their consumption rates are lower.

Passive suspension feeders in the Antarctic may be able to overcome the winter trophic constraints due to their ability to:

(1) Reduce their activity and lower their consumption rates (Coma et al. 2000).

(2) Predate on the fine fraction of seston, which remains very constant during the year as demonstrated by Clarke & Leakey (1996). Resuspension and advection processes seem to supply food to the Antarctic benthic suspension feeders in the winter season, when ice covers the water surface and vertical flux is low. In these periods, both the lateral inputs due to the advection processes and the "reversed vertical" input due to resuspension may be key phenomena governing their trophic dynamics. The so called "Antarctic paradox" (Hedgpeth 1977) may need to be reformulated considering these facts.

Cnidarians exploit both food particles available all year and larger food items seasonally available. This reinforces the idea that the activity and production of Antarctic benthos does not stop during winter.

5.3 Reproductive behaviour of cnidarian species on the Weddell Sea shelf

The five studied species have separate sexes and a sex ratio of 1:1. At least three (*Thoaurella* sp., *Fannyella* rossii and *Fannyella* spinosa) are clearly brooders, as indicated by the presence of larvae in their gastrovascular cavities (Fig. 17). In the case of *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum* and *Dasystenella acanthina* the lack of larvae in the polyps and colonies

Conclusions and discussion

precluded any clear definition of the development mode of the species. However the large size of the oocytes and the large duration of the oogenesis (probably two years) would indicate a brooding incubation mode.

The number and size of oocytes vary among species and along the colony zones of the octocorals investigated. These results agree with patterns found in other latitudes (Hughes 1989), and suggest that

reproductive effort varies along the colonies regardless of latitude. The diversification of biological functions in the colony, some parts being devoted to prey capture, defense against predators, etc. and others to reproduction, might explain this different reproductive effort, as has been pointed out by other authors (e.g. Hughes 1989, Brito et al. 1997).

The evidence of brooding in three of the investigated octocorals, the large size of the oocytes of the



Fig. 17 Polyp of *Fannyella spinosa* brooding a larva (indicated by the arrow) in the gastrovascular cavity.

two other species, and the references in the literature (Brito et al. 1997 and references in this work) indicate that brooding seems to be the tendency for Antarctic octocorals. However it is also important to take into account that lecitotrophic larvae of octocorals were found recently in Antarctic shallow waters (Stanwell-Smith et al. 1999), and that the traditional idea that large oocytes are correlated with brooding is actually under discussion (e.g. Fadlallah 1983, Kruger et al. 1998).

Gonochorism and sex ratio 1:1 seem to be the trend for Antarctic octocorals. Only a few species have been investigated, but these suggest brooding to be the principal incubation mode.

Two different timings in gametogenesis were identified:

1) The bottle-brush species Dasystenella acanthina and Thouarella sp. and



Fig. 18 Frequency distribution of oocyte size for Dasystenella acanthina and Thouarella sp.

Benayahu et al. 1990, Dahan & Benayahu 1997).

The oocyte development patterns of these species agree with the slow rates of embryonic development observed in Antarctic marine invertebrates which may be related with their Ainigmaptilon antarcticus

large egg sizes (Clarke 1982).

2) The dichotomous species F. rossii and F. spinosa present only one generation of oocytes, which suggests a one-year reproductive cycle (Fig. 20). This mode has also been observed in species from other latitudes (e.g. Benayahu & Loya 1983).

These two different gametogenesis duration periods



Summe Autumn 0.25 apical 0.20 0.15 0.10 0.05 0 Relative frequency 0.25 medial 0.20 0.15 0.10 0.05 0 0.25 basal 0.42 0.20 0.15 0.10 0.05 0 800 1000 0 400 800 400 600 1000 200 600 200 Oocyte size (µm)



do not seem to be clearly related to factors such as temperature, whereas the morphology of the colonies seems to play a role in the definition



Fig. 20 Size frequency of oocytes of *Fannyella rossii* and *Fannyella spinosa*.

o f the gametogenesis processes. Food availability should also be taken into account in further research in reproduction. since this aspect has а strong influence on the reproductive modes and rhythms in other latitudes (e.g. Hughes 1989. Coma et al. 1998).

Antarctic octocorals present reproduction features and trends which do not seem to be different from those of octocorals at other latitudes. Oocyte numbers and sizes fit into the pattern observed in other regions, as so does the duration of gametogenic cycles. The presence of one or more oocyte size classes points to cycles of one or several years duration, respectively, as also occurs in octocorals from tropical seas. Different octocoral morphologies revealed different reproductive patterns, which also coincides with reports from other latitudes. "Architectural" parameters must be considered to identify possible trends.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The distribution, feeding and reproduction patterns observed in the studied species demonstrate the high ecological plasticity and functional diversity presented by Antarctic benthic cnidarians. These ecological characteristics enable these benthic organisms of Antarctica to develop dense populations and communities together with other groups of suspension feeders, despite the uncertain spatial and temporal food availability. The extrapolation of the "cnidarian model" to other sessile groups may allow us to extend the conclusions of this work to the community level in the future.

- Albertelli G, Cattaneo-Vietti R, Chiantore M, Pusceddu A, Fabiano M (1998) Food availability to an *Adamussium* bed during the austral summer 1993/1994 (Terra Nova Bay, Ross Sea). J Mar Syst 17: 425-434 Alvà V, Orejas C, Zabala M (1997) Feeding ecology of Antarctic
- cnidarian suspension feeders (Hydrozoa, Gorgonacea, Pennatulacea). In: Arntz W, Gutt J (eds) The Expedition Antarktis XIII/3 (EASIZ I) of "Polarstern" to the eastern Weddell Sea in 1996. Ber Polarforsch 249: 14-16
- Anderson JB, Kurtz DD, Domack EW, Balshaw KM (1980) Glacial and glacial marine sediments of the Antarctic continental shelf. J Geol 88: 399-414
- Arnaud PM (1974) Contribution a la bionomie marine benthique des regions antarctiques et subantarctiques. Tethys 6: 465-656
- Arnaud PM (1977) Adaptations within the Antarctic marine benthic ecosystem. In: Llano GA (ed). Proceedings of the 3rd SCAR Symposium on Antarctic Biology, Smithsonian Institution, Washington DC, Gulf publishing Company, Houston, Texas p 135-137
- Arntz WE (1997) Investigación antártica en biología marina: situación actual, proyectos internacionales y perspectivas. Bol R Soc Esp Hist Nat (Sec Biol) 93 (1-4): 13-44

Arntz W, Brey T (in press) The expedition Antarktis XVII/3 (EASIZ III) of RV "Polarstern" to the eastern Weddell Sea in 2000. Ber Polarforsch

- Arntz WE, Brey T, Gallardo VA (1994) Antarctic zoobenthos. Oceanogr Mar Biol Ann Rev 32: 241-304
- Arntz W, Gutt J (1997) The expedition Antarktis XIII/3 (EASIZ I) of RV "Polarstern" to the eastern Weddell Sea in 1996. Ber Polarforsch 249, p 148
- Arntz WE, Gutt J (1999) The expedition Antarktis XV/3 (EASIZ II) of RV "Polarstern" in 1998. Ber Polarforsch 301, p 229
- Atkinson A (1991) Life cycles of *Calanoides acutus, Calanus simillimus* and *Rhincalanus gigas* (Copepoda: Calanoida) within the Scotia Sea. Mar Biol 109: 79-91
- Barnes DKA (1999) The influence of ice on polar nearshore benthos. J Mar Biol Ass UK 79: 401-407
- Barnes DKA, Clarke A (1994) Seasonal variation in the feeding activity of four species of Antarctic bryozoa in relation to environmental factors. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 181: 117-133
- Barnes DKA, Clarke A (1995) Seasonality of feeding activity in Antarctic suspension feeders. Polar Biol 15: 335-340
- Barry JP, Dayton PK (1991) Physical heterogeneity and the organisation of marine communities. In: Kolasa J, Pickett STA (eds) Ecological

spring in the Antarctic Peninsula heterogeneity. Springer Verlag, New York, p 270-320 region. Deep-Sea Res 33:177-194 Boysen-Ennen E, Piatkowski U (1988) Barthel D, Gutt J (1992) Sponge associations in the eastern Weddell Meso- and macrozooplankton Sea. Ant Sci 4: 137-150 communities in the Weddell Sea, Bell RE, Brozena JM, Haxby WF, Antarctica. Polar Biol 9: 17-35 Labrecque JL (1990) Continental Brazeau DA, Lasker HR (1990) Sexual margins of the western Weddell reproduction and external brooding Sea: insights from airborne gravity by the Caribbean gorgonian and geosat-derived gravity. Ant Res Briareum asbestinum. Mar Biol 104: Ser 50: 91-102 465-474 Benayahu Y, Loya Y (1983) Surface Brennecke W (1918) Ozeanographische brooding in the red sea soft coral Ergebnisse der zweiten Parerythropodium fulvum fulvum französischen, der schwedischen (Forskal, 1775) Bioll Bull 165: 353und der schottischen 369 Südpolarexpedition. Ann Hydrogr Benayahu Y, Loya Y (1986) Sexual Mar Meteorol 46: 173-183 reproduction of a soft coral: Brey T, Clarke A (1993) Population synchronous and brief annual dynamics of marine benthic spawning of Sarcophyton glaucum invertebrates in Antarctic and (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833). Biol Bull Subantarctic environments: are there 170: 32-42 unique adaptations? Ant Sci 5 (3): Benayahu Y, Weil D, Kleinman M (1990) 253-266 Radiation of broadcasting and Brito TAS, Tyler PA, Clarke A (1997) brooding patterns in coral reef Reproductive biology of the Antarctic Alcyonaceans. In: Hoshi M, octocoral Thouarella variabilis Wright and Studer 1889. Proc of the Yamashita O (eds) Advances in invertebrate reproduction. Elsevier 6th Int Conference on Coelenterate Science Publishers BV (Biomedical Biology 1995, p 63-69 Carmack EC (1977) Water characteristics Division), Amsterdam, 5: 323-328 Berkman PA, Waller TR, Alexander SP of the southern ocean south of the (1991) Unprotected larval Polar Front, in a Voyage of development in the Antarctic scallop Discovery. Deep Sea Res 24 Adamussium colbecki (Mollusca: (suppl): 15-41 Bivalvia: Pectinidae). Ant Sci 3: 7-Carmack EC, Foster TD (1977) Water 151 masses and circulation in the Bodungen BV, Smetacek VS, Tilzer MM, Weddell Sea. In: Dunbar MJ (ed) Zeitzschel B (1986) Primary Polar Oceans. Arct Inst North Am, p production and sedimentation during 151-166

- Clarke A (1982) Temperature and embryonic development in polar marine invertebrates. Int J Inv Repr 5: 71-82
- Clarke A (1988) Seasonality in the Antarctic marine environment. Comp Biochem Physiol 90B (3): 461-473
- Clarke A (1996) Benthic marine habitats in Antarctica. Ant Res Ser 70: 123-133
- Clarke A, Leakey RJG (1996) The seasonal cycle of phytoplankton macronutrients and the microbial community in a near shore Antarctic marine ecosystem. Limnol Oceanogr 41: 1281-1294
- Coma R, Gili JM, Zabala M (1995a) Trophic ecology of the benthic marine hydroid *Campanularia everta*. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 119: 211-220
- Coma R, Ribes M, Zabala M, Gili JM (1995b) Reproduction and cycle of gonadal development in the Mediterranean gorgonian *Paramuricea clavata.* Mar Ecol Progr Ser 117: 173-183
- Coma R, Ribes M, Gili JM, Zabala M (1998) An energetic approach to the study of life-history traits of two modular colonial benthic invertebrates. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 162: 89-103
- Cripps GC, Clarke A (1998) Seasonal variation in the biochemical composition of particulate material collected by sediment traps at Signy Island, Antarctica. Polar Biol 20: 414-423

Chia FS, Crawford BJ (1973) Some observations on gametogenesis,

larval development and susbtratum selection of the sea-pen Ptilosarcus guerneyi. Mar Biol 23: 73-82 Dahan M, Benayahu Y (1997) Reproduction of Dendronephthya hemprichi (Cnidaria: octocorallia): year-round spawning in an azooxanthellate soft coral. Mar Biol 129: 573-579 Davenport J (1997) Comparisons of the biology of the intertidal subantarctic limpets Nacella concinna and Kerguelnella lateralis. J Molluscan Stud 63(1): 39-48 David B, Mooi R (1990) An echinoid that "gives birth": Morphology and systematics of a new Antarctic species, Urechinus mortenseni (Echinodermata, Holasteroida). Zoomorphology 110 (2): 75-89 Dayton PK (1990) Polar benthos. In: Smith WO (ed) Polar oceanography. Part B: Chemistry, Biology and Geology, Academic Press, San Diego, 2: 631-685 Dayton PK, Hessler RR (1971) Role of biological disturbance in mantaining diversity in the deep sea. Deep Sea

Res 19: 199-208 Dayton PK, Robilliard RT, Paine LB, Dayton LB (1974) Biological accomodation in the benthic community at McMurdo Sound, Antarctica. Ecol Monogr 44 (1): 105-128

Dunbar RB, Leventer AR, Stockon WL (1989) Biogenic sedimentation in McMurdo Sound, Antarctica. Symposium on Glaciomarine Environments, INQUA XII

International Congress. Mar Geol 85:155-179 Eckelbarger KJ, Tyler PA, Langton RW (1998) Gonadal morphology and gametogenesis in the sea pen Pennatula aculeata (Anthozoa: Pennatulacea) from the Gulf of Maine. Mar Biol 98 (132): 677-690 Eicken H (1998) Deriving modes and rates of ice growth in the Weddell Sea from microstructural, salinity and stable-isotope data. In: Jeffries MO (ed) Antarctic Sea Ice: physical processes, interactions and variability, p 89-122 Elverhøi A, Roaldset E (1983) Glaciomarine sediments and suspended particulate matter, Weddell Sea shelf, Antarctica. Polar Res 1: 1-21 Elyakova LA, Shevchenko NM, Avaeva SM (1981) A comparative study of carbohydrase activities in marine invertebrates. Comp Biochem Physiol 69B: 905-908 Fabricius KE, Genin A, Benayahu Y (1995a) Flow-dependent herbivory and growth in zooxanthellae-free soft corals. Limnol Oceanogr 40(7): 1290-1301 Fabricius KE, Benayahu Y, Genin A (1995b) Herbivory in asymbiotic soft corals. Science 268: 90-92 Fadiallah YH (1983) Sexual reproduction, development and larval biology in scleractinian corals. Coral Reefs 2: 129-150 Fahrbach EG, Rohardt G, Krause G (1992) The Antarctic coastal current in the

southeastern Weddell Sea. Polar Biol 12: 171-182 Foldvik A (1986) Oceanographic research during NARE-84/85, Filchner Rønne Ice Shelf Programme, Rep 3: 107-109 Foldvik A, Gammelsrød T (1988) Notes on Southern Ocean hydrography, sea ice and bottom water formation. Palaeogeogr Palaeoclim Palaeocecol 67: 3-17 Foster TD (1972) Haline convection in polynyas and leads. J Phys Oceanogr 2: 462-469 Foster TD (1981) The physical oceanography of the southern ocean: key to understanding its biology. Biomass 2: 9-22 Galerón J, Herman RL, Arnaud PM, Arntz WE, Hain S, Klages M (1992) Macrofaunal communities on the continental shelf and slope of the southeastern Weddell Sea, Antarctica. Polar Biol 12: 283-290 Gammelsrød T, Slotsvik N (1981) Hydrographic and current measurements in the southern Weddell Sea 1979/1980. Polarforschung 51: 101-111 Garrabou J (1999) Life-history traits of Alcyonum acaule and Parazoanthus axinellae (Cnidaria, Anthozoa), with emphasis on growth. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 178: 193-204 Gerdes D, Klages M, Arntz WE, Herman RL, Hain S (1992) Quantitative investigations on macrobenthos communities in the southeastern Weddell Sea shelf based on multiboxcorer samples. In: Hempel

G (ed) Weddell Sea ecology. Results of EPOS European Polarstern study. Polar Biol 12: 291-301

- Gili JM, Alvà V, Pagès F, Klöser H, Arntz WE (1996) Benthic diatoms as the major food source in the sub-Antarctic marine hydroid *Silicularia rosea*. Polar Biol 16: 507-512
- Gili JM, Alvà V, Coma R, Orejas C, Pagès F, Ribes M, Zabala M, Arntz WE, Bouillon J, Boero F, Hughes R (1998) The impact of small benthic passive suspension feeders in shallow marine ecosystems: the hydroids as an example. Zool Verhand 323: 99-105
- Gili JM, Arntz WE, Filipe P, López P, Orejas C, Ros JD, Teixidó N (1999) The role of benthic suspension feeders in Antarctic communities. In: Arntz WE, Gutt J (eds) The expedition Antarktis XV/3 (EASIZ II) of "Polarstern" to the eastern Weddell Sea in 1998. Ber Polarforsch 301, p 229
- Gili JM, Coma R (1998) Benthic suspension feeders: Their paramount role in littoral marine food webs. Trends Ecol Evol 13: 316-321
- Gili JM, Coma R, Orejas C, Arntz W, López-González P, Zabala M (in press) Antarctic benthic suspension feeder communities within a world wide approach. Polar Biol
- Gili JM, Hughes RG (1995) Ecology of benthic hydroids. Oceanogr Mar Biol Annu Rev 33: 351-422

Gili JM, Orejas C, Ros J, López P, Arntz WE (2000) La vida en los fondos antárticos. Invest Cienc 290: 64-74
Gili JM, Ros JD (1985) Estudio cuantitativo de tres poblaciones circalitorales de cnidarios bentónicos. Inv Pesq 49: 323-352

- Gill AE (1973) Circulation and bottom water formation in the Weddell Sea. Deep Sea Res 20: 111-140
- Gordon AL (1982) Weddell Deep Water variability. J Mar Res (suppl) 40: 199-217
- Graf G (1992) Benthic-pelagic coupling: A benthic view. Oceanogr Mar Biol Ann Rev 30: 149-190
- Grassle JF, Sanders, HL (1973) Life histories and the role of disturbance. Deep-Sea Res 20: 643-659
- Gray J (1974) Animal-sediment relationships. Oceanogr Mar Biol Ann Rev 12: 223-261
- Grebmeier JM, Barry JP (1991) The influence of oceanographic processes on pelagic-benthic coupling in polar regions: A benthic perspective. J Mar Syst 2: 495-518
- Grigg RW (1977) Population dynamics of two gorgonian corals. Ecology 58: 278-290
- Grobe H (1986) Spätpleistozäne sedimentationsprozesse am antarktischen Kontinentalabhang vor Kapp Norvergia, östliche Weddell See. Ber Polarforsch 27: 1-127
- Gutt J (1991) Are Weddell Sea holothurians typical representatives of the Antarctic benthos?. Meeresforschung 33: 312-329

- Gutt J (2000) Some "driving forces" structuring communities of the sublittoral Antarctic macrobenthos. Ant Sci 12 (3): 297-313
- Gutt J, Koltun VM (1995) Sponges of the Lazarev and Weddell Seas, Antarctica: Explanations for their patchy occurrence. Ant Sci 7 (3): 227-234
- Gutt J, Piepenburg D (1991) Dense aggregations of three deep-sea holothurians in the southern Weddell Sea, Antarctica. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 68: 277-285
- Gutt J, Starmans A (1998) Megabenthic structure and biodiversity in the Weddell and Lazarev Seas (Antarctic): Ecological role of physical parameters and biological interactions. Polar Biol 20: 229-247
- Gutt J, Starmans A, Dieckmann G (1996) Impact of iceberg scouring on polar benthic habitats. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 137: 311-316
- Gutt J, Storch V, Arntz WE (1998) Benthosforschung im Südpolarmer: Störung schafft Vielfalt. Biologie in unsere Zeit 28: 362-370
- Haase GM (1986) Glaciomarine sediments along the Filchner/Rønne ice shelf, southern Weddell Sea – first results of the 1983/84 ANTARKTIS – II/4 expedition. Mar Geol 72: 241-258
- Hedgpeth JW (1977) The Antarctic marine ecosystem. In: Llano GA (ed) Adaptations within Antarctic ecosystems. Washington DC, Smithsonian Institution, p 3-10
- Heywood KJ, Locarnini RA, Frew RD, Dennis PF, King BA (1998)

eastern Weddell Sea. Ocean, ice, and atmosphere interactions at the Antarctic continental margin. Ant Res Ser 75: 203-214 Hinze H (1994) Charting the Bathymetry of Weddell Sea, Antarctica. Mar Geod 17: 139-145 Hosie GW (1994) The macrozooplankton communities in the Prydz Bay region, Antarctica. In: El-Sayed SZ (ed) Southern Ocean Ecology: the Biomass Perspective, Cambridge University Press, p 93-123 Hubold G (1992) Zur ökologie der Fische im Weddellmeer. Ber Polarforsch

Transport and water masses of the

Antarctic slope front system in the

- 103, p 57 Hughes RN (1989) A functional biology of clonal organisms. Chapman & Hall,
- London p 331 Hughes RN, Cancino JM (1985) An ecological overview of cloning in Metazoa. In: Jackson JBC, Buss LW, Cook RE (eds) Population biology and evolution of clonal organisms. Yale University Press, New Haven, p 153-186
- Hughes TP, Jackson JBC (1980) Do corals lie about their age? Some demographic consequences of partial predation, fission and fusion. Science 209: 713-715
- Hyman LH (1940) The invertebrates: Protozoa through Ctenophora. MacGraw-Hill
- Kang JS, Kang SH. Lee JH, Chung KH, Lee MY (1997) Antarctic micro- and nano- sized phytoplankton assemblages in the surface water of

Maxwell Bay during the 1997 Austral Summer. Korean J Polar Res 8: 35-45

- Karlson RH (1999) Dynamics of coral communities, Kluger Academic Publishers, Dordracht
- Kinzie RA (1973) The zonation of West Indian gorgonians. Bull Mar Sci 23: 93-155
- Knox GA, Lowry JK (1977) A comparison between the benthos of the Southern Ocean and the North Polar Ocean with special reference to the Amphipoda and the Polychaeta. In: Dunbar MJ (ed) Polar Oceans, Arctic Institute of North America, Calgary, p 423-462
- Kohnen H (1981) Bathymetrical measurements in the southern Weddell Sea during the German Antarctic Expedition 1979/80 to the Filchner-Rønne Ice Shelf.

Polarforschung 51 (1): 39-42 Kowalke J (1999) Filtration in Antarctic ascidians – striking a balance. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 242: 233-244

Kowalke J (2000) Ecology and energetics of two Antarctic sponges. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 247: 85-97

Kruger A, Schleyer MH, Benayahu Y (1998) Reproduction in *Anthelia glauca* (Octocorallia: Xeniidae). I. Gametogenesis and larval brooding. Mar Biol 131: 423-432

Kuhn G, Weber ME (1993) Acoustical characterisation of sediments by Parasound and 3.5 kHz systems: Related sedimentary processes on the southeastern Weddell Sea

continental slope, Antarctica. Mar Geol 113: 201-217 Kvinge T (1968) Technical report on project to measure currents related to the formation of Antarctic bottom water in the Weddell Sea. Geofysik Institutt, Universitetet i Bergen Langton RW, Langton EW, Theroux RB, Uzmann JR (1990) Distribution, behaviour and abundance of seapens, Pennatula aculeata, in the Gulf of Maine. Mar Biol 107: 463-46 Lasker HR, Gottfried MD, Coffroth MA (1983) Effects of depth on the feeding capabilities of two octocorals. Mar Biol 73: 73-78

- Lemke P, Viehoff T (1991) Awendungen der Fernerkundung in der Meereisforschung. Geowissensch 9: 266-271
- Martin E (1982) Ciclo reproductivo, proporción sexual y fecundidad del coral blando *Plexaura homomalla* (Esper.) en el mar Caribe Mexicano. (Octocorallia: Plexauridae). An Inst Cienc Mar Limnol Univ Nal Autón Mexico 9: 359-380
- Mathot S, Queguiner B, Jochem F (1994) Carbon primary production. In: Bathmann UV, Fahrbach E, Smetacek V, Krause G (eds) Die Expedition Antarktis X/6-8 des Forschungschiffes Polarstern 1992/93. Ber Polarforsch 135: 69-75
- Miller KJ (1998) Short-distance dispersal of black coral larvae: inference from spatial analysis of colony genotypes. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 163: 225-233 Montu M, Oliveira IR (1986) Zooplanktonic associations, trophic relations and

standing stock of krill and other groups of the community near Elephant Island (February-March 84/85). Nerítica 1: 111-129 Mühlenhardt-Siegel U (1988) Some results on quantitative investigations of macrozoobenthos in the Scotia Arc (Antarctica) Polar Biol 8: 241-248 Nicol S (1994) Antarctic krill-changing perceptions of its role in the Antarctic ecosystem. In: Hempel G (ed) Antarctic Science. Global concerns. Springer Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg p 144-166 Nierderjasper F, Frey N, Grünwald T (1997) Seafloor mapping and side sonar studies with hydrosweep. In: Arntz W, Gutt J (eds) The expedition Antarktis XIII/3 (EASIZ I) of "Polarstern" to the eastern Weddell Sea in 1996. Ber Polarforsch 249: 9-13 Nöthig E, von Bodungen B (1989) Occurrence and vertical flux of faecal pellets of probably protozoan origin in the southeastern Weddell Sea (Antarctica). Mar Ecol Prog Ser 56: 281-289

Orejas C, Gili JM, López-González PJ, Arntz WE (in press) Feeding strategies and diet composition of 4 species of Antarctic benthic cnidarians. Polar Biol

Orejas C, López-González PJ, Gili JM, Teixidó N, Gutt J, Arntz WE (submitted) Density and reproduction patterns of *Ainigmaptilon antarcticus* (Cnidaria, octocorallia) in the Weddell Sea (Antarctica). Mar Ecol Progr Ser Orheim O, Elverhøi A (1981) Model for submarine glacial deposition. Ann Glaciology 2: 123-128 Parkinson CL (1998) Length of the sea ice season in the Southern Ocean 1988-1994. In: Jeffries MO (ed) Antarctic sea ice physical processes, interactions and variability p 173-186 Pearse JS, (1986) Contrasting tempos of reproduction by shallow-water animals in McMurdo Sound, Antarctica. Ant J US 21 (5): 182-184 Pearse JS, McClintock JB, Bosch I (1991) Reproduction of Antarctic marine invertebrates: Tempos, modes and timing. Amer Zool 31: 65-80 Picken GB (1979) Non-pelagic reproduction of some Antarctic prosobranch gastropods from Signy Island, South Orkney Islands. Malacologia 19: 109-128 Picken GB (1980) The distribution, growth, and reproduction of the Antarctic limpet Nacella (Patinigera) concinna (Strebel, 1980). J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 42: 71-85 Piepenburg D, Voss J, Gutt J (1997) Assemblages of sea stars (Echinodermata: Asteroidea) and brittle stars (Echinodermata: Ophiuroidea) in the Weddell Sea (Antarctica) and off Northeast Greenland (Arctic): a comparison of diversity and abundance. Polar Biol

Pile AJ, Patterson MR, Witman JD (1996) In situ grazing on plankton <10 μm by the boreal sponge *Mycale lingua*. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 141: 95-102

17: 305-322

<u>46</u>

Ribes M, Coma R, Gili JM (1998) Heterotrophic feeding by gorgonian corals with symbiotic zooxanthellae. Limnol Oceanogr 43: 1170-1179

Ribes M, Coma R, Gili JM (1999) Heterogeneous feeding in benthic suspension feeders: natural diet and grazing rate of the temperate gorgonian *Paramuricea clavata* (Cnidaria: Octocorallia) over a year cycle. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 183: 125-137

- Rice AL, Tyler PA, Paterson GJL (1992) The pennatulacean *Kophobelemnon stelliferum* (Cnidaria: Octocorallia) in the Porcupine Seabight (North-east Atlanctic ocean). J Mar Biol Ass UK 72: 417-434
- Riedl R (1966) Biologie der Meereshoehlen: Topographie, Faunistik und Ökologie eines unterseeischen Lebensraumes; Eine Monographie. Parey, Hamburg, p 636
- Riedl R (1971) Water movement: animals. In: Kinne O (ed) Mar Ecol, Wiley-Interscience, London, 1 (Part 2): 1123-1149
- Riisgård HU, Jensen AS, Jürgensen C (1998) Hydrography, near-bottom currents, and grazing impact of the filter-feeding ascidian *Ciona intestinalis* in a Danish fjord. Ophelia 49 (1): 1-16

Riisgård, HU, Larsen PS (in press) Review of zoobenthic filter-feeding, an ecophysiological approach. J Sea Res

Ropelewski CF (1983) Spatial and temporal variations in Antarctic sea22: 470-473 Sahade R, Tatián M, Kowalke J, Kühne S, Esnal GB (1998) Benthic faunal associations on soft substrates at Potter Cove, King George Island, Antarctica. Polar Biol 19: 85-91 Sakshaug E, Holm-Hansen O (1984) Factors governing pelagic production in polar oceans. In: Holm-Hansen O, Bolis L, Gilles R (eds) Marine phytoplankton and productivity, lecture notes on coastal and estuarine studies, Springer, Berlin vol 8, p 1-18 Sanders HL (1979) Evolutionary ecology

ice (1973-1982). J Clim Appl Meteor

- and life-history patterns in deep sea. Sarsia 64: 1-7
- Sanderson WG, Thorpe JP, Clarke A (1994) A preliminary study of feeding rates in the Antarctic cheilostome bryozoan *Himnatozoum antarcticum*. In: Hayward PJ, Ryland JS, Taylor PD (eds) Biology and Paleobiology of bryozoans, Olsen & Olsen, Fredensborg, p 167-170

Scharek R (1991) Development of phytoplankton during the latewinter/spring transition in the eastern Weddell Sea (Antarctica) Ber Polarforsch 94, p 195 Scharek R, Nöthig E (1995) Das einzellige

- Plankton im Ozean der Arktis und Antarktis. In: Hempel I, Hempel G (eds) Biologie der Polarmeere, Gustav Fischer Verlag, Jena, p 116-127
- Schenke HW, Dijkstra S, Nierderjasper F, Schöne T, Hinze H, Hoppman B (1998) New bathymetric charts of

the Weddell Sea: AWI BCWS. In: Jacobs SS, Weig RF (eds) Ocean, ice and Atmosphere: interactions at the Antarctic margin p 371-380

- Schnack-Schiel SB, Hagen W (1995) Life cycle strategies of *Calanoides acutus, Calanus propinquus* and *Metridia gerlachei* (Copepoda: Calanoida) in the eastern Weddell Sea, Antarctica. ICES. J Mar Sci 52: 541-548
- Sebens KP (1982) The limits to indeterminate growth: an optimal size model applied to passive suspension feeders. Ecology 63: 209-222
- Sebens KP, Koehl MAR (1984) Predation on zooplankton by the benthic anthozoans *Alcyonum siderium* (Alcyonacea) and *Metridium senile* (Actiniaria) in the New England subtidal. Mar Biol 81: 255-271
- Slattery M, McClintock JB (1997) An overview of population biology and chemical ecology of three species of Antarctic soft coral. In: Valencia J, Walton DWH (eds) Antarctic communities: Species, Structure and Survival. Proc 6th Int SCAR Symposia, Venice (Italy), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p 309-315
- Slattery M, McClintock JB, Bowser SS (1997) Deposit feeding: a novel mode of nutrition in the Antarctic colonial soft coral *Gersemia antarctica*. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 149: 299-304
- Smith SL, Schnack-Schiel SB (1990) Polar zooplankton. In: Smith WO Jr (ed)

Polar Oceanography, Part B: Chemistry, Biology and Geology, Academic Press, p 527-598 Spindler M, Dieckmann GS (1991) Das Meereis als Lebensraum. Spektrum der Wiss 2: 48-57 Spiridonov VA, Nöthig EM, Schröder, Wisotzki A (1996) The onset of biological winter in the eastern Weddell Gyre (Antarctica) planktonic

- community. J Mar Syst 9: 211-230 Stanwell-Smith D, Peck LIS, Clarke A, Murray AWA, Todd CD (1999) The distribution, abundance and seasonality of pelagic marine invertebrate larvae in the maritime Antarctic. Phil Trans R Soc Lond B 354: 471-484
- Starmans A (1997) Comparative studies on the ecology and biodiversity of the Arctic and Antarctic megaepibenthos. Ber Polarforsch 250, p 150
- Starmans A, Gutt J, Arntz WE (1999) Mega-epibenthic communities in Arctic and Antarctic shelf areas. Mar Biol 135: 269-280
- Strass VH, Fahrbach E (1998) Temporal and regional variation of sea ice drift and coverage in the Weddell Sea obtained from upward looking sonars. In: Jeffries MO (ed) Antarctic sea ice: physical processes, interactions and variability. p 123-139
- Sverdrup HU (1954) The currents off the coast of Queen Maud Land. Nor Geogr Tidsskr 14: 239-249 Thiel E, Crary AP, Haubrichu RA (1960)
 - Gravimetric determination of ocean

<u>48</u>

tide, Weddell and Ross Seas, Antarctica. J Geophys Res 65: 630-636

- Thorson G (1950) Reproductive and larval ecology of marine bottom invertebrates. Biol Rev 25: 1-45
- Thorson G (1957) Bottom communities (sublittoral or shallow shelf). In: Hedgpeth (ed) Treatise on marine ecology and palaeoecology. Mem Geol Soc Am 67(1): 461-534
- Thrush SF (1991) Spatial patterns in softbottom communities. Trends Ecol Evol 6 (3): 75-79
- Tyler PA, Bronsdon SK, Young CM, Rice AL (1995) Ecology and gametogenesis biology of the genus *Umbellula* (Pennatulacea) in the North Atlantic Ocean. Int Revue Ges Hydrobiologie 80: 187-199
- Van Praet M, Rice AL, Thurston MH (1990) Reproduction in two deep-sea anemones (Actiniaria); *Phelliactis hertwigi* and *P. robusta.* Progr Oceanogr 24: 207-222
- Versluys J (1906) Die Gorgoniden der Siboga Expedition II. Die Primnoidae- Siboga-Exped Monogr 13A: 1-187
- Voß J (1988) Zoogeographie und Gemeinschaftsanalyse des Makrozoobenthos des Weddellmeeres (Antarktis). Ber Polarforsch 45, p 145

Warwick RM, Davies JR (1977) The distribution of sublittoral macrofauna communities in the Bristol Channel in relation to the substrate. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 5: 267-288 Weber ME (1992) Spätquartäre Sedimentation am Kontinentalrand des südostlichen Weddellmeeres, Antarktis. Ber Polarforsch 109, p 165

- White MG (1977) Ecological adaptations by Antarctic poikilotherms to the polar marine environment. In: Llano GA (ed) Adaptations within Antarctic ecosystems. Proceedings of the 3rd Scar symposium on Antarctic Biology, Gulf publishing Company, Houston, Texas p 197-208
- Williams GB (1976) Aggregation during settlement as a factor in the establishment of coelenterate colonies. Ophelia 15: 57-64
- Woodworth-Lynas CMT, Josenhans HW, Barrie JV, Lewis CFM, Parrott DR (1991) The physical process of seabed disturbance during iceberg grounding and scouring. Cont Shelf Res 11: 939-961
- Wright EP, Studer T (1889) Report on the Alcyonaria collected by HMS Challenger during the years 1873-1876. Rept Sci Res Challenger Zool 31: 1-314
- Yahel G, Post AF, Fabricius K, Vaulot DM, Vaulot D, Genin A (1998) Phytoplankton distribution and grazing near coral reefs. Limnol Oceanogr 43 (4): 551-563

7. Acknowledgements

This is one part of this thesis that I wished to write for a long time. During four years of work there are a lot of things to say "thank you" for and people to thank. It is a pleasure for me to do that now and I hope I will not forget anything or anybody. It has been a long journey but I was very lucky and I always had helping hands. This was a journey of learning and gaining knowledge and now, with a little bit more distance, I can see that, yes, I learnt things from different aspects, and I have been very fortunate that my work and my life are not separate, on the contrary: both are parts of the same thing and I am grateful that this is the case. To have the opportunity to emerge into the life of other beings is a fascinating adventure. To these beings which live on our blue planet, many thanks.

Financial support for this work was provided by a DAAD and a European Union fellowship, as well as by the projects "Acciones Integradas Hispano-Alemanas" (DAAD-Spanish Ministery of Education and Science) and "Acciones especiales " from the Spanish Ministery of Education and Science. The Alfred Wegener Institute provided most of the infrastructure required.

Josep Maria Gili should appear with capital letters in this text because he was the motor and spirit of this work. It is very difficult for me to express in two sentences my gratitude towards him for so much time of dedication, help, confidence....One day (that I can perfectly remember) some years ago, he opened the door of his room and from this day up to now it was always open for me. Josep Maria helped me to reflect my fascination for marine life in a scientific form, always enabling me to incorporate this artistic touch into my work...and I could say still sooo many things...thank you Josep Maria.

Wolf Arntz has been the other pillar of my work. I thank him for conducting my work in Germany, for his support, for suffering my english, for his critical reading and for lots of good comments concerning my manuscripts. Thanks also for his good character and many magnificent dinners at his home (another way of knowledge!) and nice and interesting conversations.

Working together with Pablo was very important for this thesis, thanks for your friendship, for the always interesting conversations and discussions about science, and for always reading my Mails with URGENT in capital letters and red colour!

During my first steps in marine biology, Victor and Françesc were the first who accompanied, taught and helped me. Both are part of my "catalan family", and in particular they were pillars for me in my second city. In these acknowledgements to my catalan family, there are two more important names. I don't want to forget Conchi and Luis (my "parents" in Barcelona): thanks for everything.

To all my people from the ICM in Barcelona, to all these people I want to say thank you, but I wish to write some names especially important for my work. Marta, thank you for your time in a very critical moment for you (you were finishing your PhD!), and for your help with the experimental design, and for the first dives in Medes Islands. To the companions in doctoral-hardships in the distance, who always were with me in one or another way: Sergi, Laurita, Juani, Nuria, Emilio, Xelu, Evarist, Sergi (very special thanks to you)....thanks also to those who drink with me "joint coffees" (Enric), to those with whom I could share my "being away" (Pep and Lluisa), to those who helped me with my first steps in the German language (Montse), to Xabi, because without this vision of Ophelia my thesis could not have got this green moss colour inside...can you see that Xabi?. Many other people were always beside me even in the distance: Ana, Montse R., Montse D., José Manuel, Ramón, Mikel, Joandoménec, and especially Mireille...everybody encouraging me always and believing in me.

Acknowledgements

In Madrid I have always had my parents, I want to say "thank you" to them for letting me do what I wanted to do, for respecting my peculiarities, and for loving me so much. To my sisters thank you also for always being beside me. To my friends "madrileños" I want thank Gemma, Juan, Toñin, Jorge), María, and Elena.

My first steps in Germany learning the language were easier thanks to the colleagues from the Goethe Institute in Freiburg. Thanks to all of you.

To Kerstin for her friendship and for helping me with my samples and...I promise you... the postdoc will be with elephants. To Miriam: thank you for being my friend, for helping and encouraging me and for reading and improving my looong manuscripts. Nuria, thanks a lot for your friendship and help and your positive attitude.

For helping me endure my hardships in Germany I would like to say thanks: Suse (so many hours in the coolroom! and much more), Olaf, Jürgen, Pitty (thanks also for your work with my samples), Alex, Christian (thanks also for translating my summary into german), Katrin I., Teresa, Dieter, Rolf W. Rolf G., Jens K., S'anne, Do-Hong, Lucie, Inken (thanks also for your help with my poor English and for doing the German translation of the acknowledgements), Barbara, Claudia (...for so many things but also for your help with the graphic design), Ruth (thanks for correcting my english) José, Juanita, Ute, Heinz, Deon, Tania B., Martha F., Johannes, Sabine, Hubertus,, Ingrid, Gisela, Enrique, Wolf, Torsten, Eva, Jens H., Katia, Kai,.... Thanks to many people from the Pelagic ecosystems section (especially to Evi and Helga) who always offered me their generous help. To my friends from the ZMT for your help in different times and for being beside me: thanks Carlos, Sandra, Volker and Marco.

A very special thanks goes to Bodil who was one of my main supports during my work and always in the hard moments she found time to ask me "rta Süße?, wie sieht die Lage aus?".

Tom, thank you for your help whenever I needed it (this is really a long text !! isn't it?), and also to Sigi for being so near (although she is the boss!), and always offering your help.

To my Chilean friend, Iván I am indebted for many things in this thesis, he stoically endured my temper, bad humour and insecurities. Thanks for being my friend. And all the best for the future.

Thanks also to the friends around the world: Marcos, Ricky, Stefano (for sooo may support and encouraging...), Patricia (so far and so near...), Zanina, Christoph, Gauthier,...

And a very special thanks from the "pequefiita" to my family in Bremen: Lola and Jürgen. They were always present. Lola, thanks for to be the "perfect friend": always at the right place in the right moment, and for reading my manuscripts.

To my family at sea, to my "Polarstern" family thanks for taking care of me and for always helping me. You were, you are fantastic.

Andy and Lloyd were two important reference points along my work. Thank you, Andy, for reading, correcting and improving my manuscripts, and for your patience with my English. Other people from the British Antarctic Survey helped me in the beginning of my thesis and made my time in Cambridge very pleasant.

Thanks to all those people who at one time or another gave me a hand, making copies for me, listening to me, searching for literature, bringing a piece of cake...thanks to all of you.

And last but not least...thanks to Alex for being beside me during marry years. For this and much more I especially dedicate this work to you, as you so many times dedicated opus' to me, now I am, finally, able to do something similar. I hope you enjoy it and can see in this work some of the things we learned together.

Publications

This thesis is composed of the publications mentioned in the list below. The contribution from each author in the different publications is also outlined.

Publication I

Feeding strategies and diet composition of four Antarctic cnidarian species Covadonga Orejas, Josep Maria Gili, Pablo José López-González, Wolf E Arntz Polar Biol (in press)

The first and second author discussed the conceptual frame of this paper. The first author developed the experimental design and carried out the laboratory work in collaboration with the third one. Data processing, analysis and interpretation was conducted by the first author. The first version of the manuscript was written by the first author and it was improved with the cooperation of the other co-authors.

Publication II

The role of the fine fraction of seston in the diet of two Antarctic octocorals (*Primnoisis antarctica* and *Primnoella* sp.): ecological implications Covadonga Orejas, Josep Maria Gili, Wolf E Arntz

The original idea for this publication was developed by the first two authors. The first author developed the experimental design and carried out the practical work. The data analysis was also conducted by the first author. The concept of the manuscript and first version was developed by the first author, the last version was achieved with the joint work of first author and co-authors.

Publication III

Distribution and reproductive ecology of the Antarctic octocoral *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum* in the Weddell Sea Covadonga Orejas, Pablo José López-González, Josep Maria Gili, Nuria Teixidó,

Julian Gutt, Wolf Arntz

The concept and initial idea for this paper was elaborated by the first and third authors. Practical work was conducted by the first author, in collaboration with the second one for the histological work, and with the fourth one for the video image analysis. The fifth author provided the video material. The data processing was conducted by the first author, as well as the writing of the first draft of the manuscript. The revision of the first version was made in cooperation with the second, third, fourth and sixth author.

Publication IV

Reproductive patterns of four Antarctic octocorals in the Weddell Sea: comparisons across different species, morphologies and latitudes

Covadonga Orejas, Josep Maria Gili, Pablo José López-González, Christiane Hasemann, Wolf Arntz

The original concept was elaborated by the first, second and third authors. The first author conducted the practical work, the data analysis and wrote the first version of the manuscript. The last version was the result of the comments of the rest of the co-authors on that first draft.

Publication I

Feeding strategies and diet composition of four Antarctic cnidarian species

Covadonga Orejas¹, Josep Maria Gili², Pablo J López-González³, Wolf E Arntz¹

- 1 Alfred Wegener Institut für Polar- und Meeresforschung, Columbusstraße, 27568 Bremerhaven, Germany
- 2 Institut de Ciències del Mar (CSIC), Plaça del Mar s/n, 08039 Barcelona, Spain
- 3 Laboratorio de Biología Marina, Universidad de Sevilla, Apartado 1095, 4080 Sevilla, Spain

Polar Biology, in press

Publication I

Abstract

The diet of four species of Antarctic cnidarians, two hydroids and two anthozoans has been investigated. One hydroid, *Tubularia ralphii*, and one anthozoan, *Anthomastus bathyproctus* seem to basically consume zooplankton whereas the other hydroid species, *Oswaldella antarctica*, has a diet mainly based on the fine fraction of seston. The last cnidarian investigated, the stoloniferan alcyonacean *Clavularia* cf. *frankliniana* feeds mainly on resuspended material. The wide range of diets of these Antarctic cnidarians indicates opportunistic behaviour by feeding on different sources taking advantage of the available food sources. Data related with low C/N ratio in the sediment and high NO₂ concentrations in areas with dense communities of benthic suspension feeders, along with data on capture rates, lead us to hypothesize that these organisms play an important role in the recycling processes of organic matter in Antarctic benthic ecosystems.

Introduction

Cnidarians are one of the most conspicuous taxonomic groups on the Antarctic continental shelf, being part of the rich epibenthic communities which have been described from several locations around Antarctica (e.g. Arntz et al. 1994; Gutt and Starmans 1998; Starmans et al. 1999). Like other suspension feeders, cnidarians depend on the available food suspended in the water column and on the near bottom currents for its renewal.

The Southern Ocean is principally an oligotrophic environment dominated by flagellates and other small organisms of the pelagic retention system, with short overlying outbursts of microalgae (bloom system) in spring and summer (Scharek and Nöthig 1995) which are, however, essential for larger zooplankton. For quite some time these blooms were suspected to determine the feeding strategies of the benthic suspension feeders in Antarctica and the composition of their diet. These organisms were thought to feed heavily during a few weeks in summer and to be able to sustain large periods of starvation during most of the year. This would resemble overwintering as resting stages or the hibernation periods that have been described for other latitudes (Gili and Hughes 1995; Garrabou 1999). However, Barnes and Clarke (1995) have demonstrated recently that certain species of Antarctic shallow-water benthic suspension feeders are able to feed throughout the year with only short periods of starvation. Phytoplankton (mainly microplankton) in these areas, too, is dominant in the water column and the sediment only during short periods of the year, but pico- and nanoplankton (between 0.2 and 20 μ m) dominate the water column and the sediment during most of the year, and the suspension feeders take advantage of them (Cripps and Clarke 1998). From these findings the question arose whether this situation might apply to deeper shelf communities as well.

In the Southern Ocean not only vertical fluxes (Nöthig and von Bodungen 1989) are the source of food for the benthic suspension feeders, but zooplankton, seston, elements of the microbial food web and resuspension processes could also contribute to the potential available food for this group. Although cnidarians have traditionally been considered mainly carnivorous (Hyman 1940), more recent studies have found evidence of herbivory (Elyakova et al. 1981; Fabricius et al. 1995 a,b) which is supported by a study on an Antarctic hydroid, *Silicularia rosea*, which consumes mainly diatoms (Gili et al. 1996b). On the other hand gorgonian diet varies from dissolved organic matter via plankton to benthic organisms, and is very well coupled with the dynamics of their potential prey (Ribes et al. 1998, 1999).

Considering the various potential food sources for benthic suspension feeders, the goal of the present study was to determine the diet of four species of Antarctic cnidarians: *Oswaldella antarctica* (Hydrozoa), *Tubularia ralphii* (Hydrozoa), *Clavularia* cf. *frankliniana* (Anthozoa) and *Anthomastus bathyproctus* (Anthozoa). We also consider the relation between their feeding strategies, the Antarctic environment and the factors which regulate the availability of food at the sea floor. We present new insights into the significance of plankton production, resuspension processes and nekton migration for the feeding strategies of these organisms, and on the role of the group in the trophic food web of the Southern Ocean.

Publication I

Materials and methods

Four benthic cnidarian species were studied (Fig. 1). Oswaldella antarctica (Jäderholm 1904) is a benthic hydroid found on hard substrates in a depth range between 50 to 200 m approximately, forming arborescent colonies and presenting very small polyps (200-375 µm diameter). Tubularia ralphii Bale 1884 is a common Antarctic hydroid, which forms creeping colonies on stones and is mainly distributed in shallow areas (Stepanjants 1979). T. ralphii presents large hydranths with long aboral tentacles, and the hydrocaulus is usually more than 2 cm above the substratum. The stoloniferan alcyonacean Clavularia cf. frankliniana Roule, 1902 was one of the most common species collected in shallow waters during the second EASIZ (Ecology of the Antarctic Sea Ice Zone) cruise. This species forms encrusting colonies covering, in some cases, great part of the stones. Anthomastus bathyproctus Bayer, 1993 is a common alcyonacean in the waters of the Antarctic Peninsula area. Their colonies live mainly on sandy substrates. They were caught between 400 and 450m depth, however off the South Shetland Islands specimens have been found at 1153 m depth (Bayer 1993).

Sampling, experimental design and analysis of gastrovascular contents

Sampling on board RV "Polarstern" was carried out during the second EASIZ cruise between January and March 1998, at two sites: for *O. antarctica*, *T. ralphii* and *C.* cf. *frankliniana* in the eastern Weddell Sea, for *A. bathyproctus* off the Antarctic Peninsula (Table 1). Sampling was conducted with an Agassiz trawl, a bottom trawl and a large TV grab of 1.82 m² sampled area.

In order to know the trophic role of the seston (also of its fine fraction) for suspension feeders, data are derived from analyses of cnidarian gastrovascular contents and from feeding experiments. Polyps of all four species were dissected to analyze the gastrovascular contents under a binocular and a light microscope. The number of dissected polyps was

between 110 and 148 depending on the species because of their varying abundance in the samples and in the studied area.

Feeding experiments were done only with the hydrozoan species *O. antarctica*. A modified prototype of incubator developed by the Instituto de Ciencias del Mar (Ribes et al. 1998) was used to study the diet of benthic suspension feeders. The incubator consists of a chamber in which the colony is placed, and an empty control chamber. Each closed chamber was connected to a pump that recirculated sea water at a renewal rate of 3.3 I

min⁻¹. Water was collected as close to the seafloor as possible by means of a CTD equipped with a rosette. Simultaneously temperature and salinity were measured using a CTD. The chambers and all necessary material and instrumentation were placed in a cool room container equipped for operation at Southern Ocean ambient temperature (-1°C to +0.5°C). Colonies were kept in sea water within the cool room until the incubation experiments. Animals were placed in the experimental chamber and were allowed to fully expand before the experiment started. After the acclimation time (which was from 3-4 hours for some colonies to one day for others), the incubation chambers were closed and initial water samples of 2000 ml were taken from both chambers. After 6 hours another set of water samples was collected. Capture rates were calculated using the decreasing concentration levels of bacteria, flagellates, ciliates, and phytoplankton in the water samples, considering their growth rates during the experiment. To quantify heterotrophic bacteria, water samples were storaged for flow cytometry by standard methods (Gasol and del Giorgio 2000). Quantification and measurement of picoplankton was done using epifluorescence microscopy. To quantify, measure and identify phytoplankton and ciliates, water samples were stored in acid Lugol. Nutrients (NO2, NO3, Si, and PO4) for the water samples were also measured using a Technikon Autoanalyzer II System von Bran and Lübbe and following standard methods. Carbon and nitrogen were measured using a Leco CN 2000 analyzer.

In the sampling areas a visual check of benthic fauna was made just when the gear arrived on board to find possible relations between nutrient concentrations, C/N ratio and densities of benthic suspension feeders. At all sampling sites, a sample of 2 cm³ of surface sediments was collected and frozen in liquid nitrogen and carbon and nitrogen content was measured using a Leco CN 2000 analyzer.

To know the abundance of zooplankton near the bottom complementary data collected during the second EASIZ cruise by means of a epibenthic sledge were revised and compared with the zooplankton abundance and distribution in the water column (Brandt et al. 1999, Schiel pers. comm.).

Statistical and numerical treatment

Results are noted as means <u>+</u> standard deviation and the differences between the samples are tested using ANOVA model 2 at different significance levels. The Wilcoxon test has been used to test possible differences between initial and final values of prey net growth rate, POC (Particulate Organic Carbon), DOC (Dissolved Organic Carbon) and nutrient values (NO₂, NO₃, Si and PO₄) in the experimental and control chambers. Depletion rates of the plankton were calculated assuming exponential growth and clearance of prey as described in Ribes et al. (1998).

Results

Gastrovascular contents

O. antarctica contained three different types of prey: diatoms (94%), invertebrate eggs (4%) and invertebrate larvae (2%) (Fig. 2). Sizes of the prey were from 20 μ m (smallest) to 235 μ m (biggest), however 81% of prey belonged to the size range 20-42 μ m (Fig. 3). 25 of the dissected polyps (23%) contained some prey in the stomachs whereas 85 were empty (77%) (Fig. 4). Statistically significant differences were found in prey size among different polyps (ANOVA, F= 5.35, N= 110; p<0.05).

104 (71%) polyps of *T. ralphii* contained prey and 43 (29%) were empty (Fig 5). The diet was composed mainly of copepods (85%), followed by invertebrate eggs (7%), organic matter (7%) and copepod nauplii (~1%) (Fig. 2). Prey number and prey size showed significant differences between polyps

(ANOVA, F= 74.876, N= 147; p<0.0001; ANOVA, F= 11.165, N= 147; p<0.005, respectively). The size range of prey items was very wide (45-1145 μ m) (Fig. 3).

Of a total of 148 polyps of *C*. cf. *frankliniana* (belonging to different colonies), 36 (24%) were empty and 112 (76%) showed prey items in the gastric cavity (Fig. 4) The diet was diatoms (81%), protozoans (8%), foraminiferans (5%), nematodes (4%) and invertebrate larvae (2%) (Fig. 2). Size range of prey varied between 48 and 1920 μ m, with 92% of prey being in the range 48-235 μ m (Fig. 3). Prey number varied significantly between polyps of different diameter (ANOVA, F= 5.928, N=148; p<0.05), but not between different prey size.

The 8 studied colonies of *A. bathyproctus* had a total of 136 polyps. Salps belonging to the species *Salpa thompsoni* were found in 113 (83%) of them whereas 23 (17%) were empty (Fig 5). The size of the salps was between 10 and 50 mm (Fig. 3). Many polyps contained other items (mainly diatoms of the genus *Corethron*, and also centric diatoms and fecal pellets of small size). It seems, however, that these items came from prey gut contents, which was confirmed by dissecting the prey guts. No statistically significant differences were found between number and size of prey items and polyp diameter, neither between number of prey items and capitulum diameter. However, there were significant differences between number of prey items and height of the capitulum (ANOVA, F=10.649, N= 8; p<0.01), and between prey size and height of the capitulum (ANOVA, F=6.087; N= 8; p<0.05). The number of polyps/capitulum in relation with height of the capitulum and also with capitulum diameter showed significant differences (ANOVA, F=61.898, N= 8; p<0.001; ANOVA, F= 139.033, N=8; p<0.001, respectively).

Feeding experiments

Net prey growth rates were calculated for the potential prey items of *O*. *antarctica* working at the level of taxonomic group: bacteria, nanoflagellates, dinoflagellates, ciliates and diatoms; POC and DOC values were also calculated. Sizes of the prey items have also been taken into account (excluding in this case values of bacteria). Statistically significant differences (p<0.01) were found for nanoflagellates (Wilcoxon test). Results are shown in

Publication I

Fig. 5. However, a pattern could be observed also for the other groups: dinoflagellates showed a clear decrease in the experimental chamber, as did *Chaetoceros* species and other phytoplankton groups. Different types of diatoms were lumped because of the low number of specimens found in the samples.

Nutrients and C/N ratio

The concentration of nutrients NO₂, NO₃, and PO₄ varied between 0.02 and 0.20 μ mol/l, 15.94 and 40.35 μ mol/l and 0.77 and 1.49 μ mol/l, respectively. C/N values in the sediment varied between 6 and 293, showing a clear pattern in relation with the distribution of benthic suspension feeder communities: areas which showed high presence of benthic suspension feeders presented the highest values (Fig. 6). Conversely, the areas with higher nitrogen values correspond to areas with a low density of benthic suspension feeders. The same pattern was observed for nutrient values, with higher values in areas where benthic suspension feeder communities were abundant.

Zooplankton abundance

Data of zooplankton densities (focusing on copepod data because of their abundance) have been extracted from preliminary results of the second EASIZ cruise. Near bottom copepod abundances, obtained by epibenthic sledge, were registered by Brandt et al. (1999) on the Weddell Sea shelf reaching summer values between 232 and 702 individuals/ $1000m^2$ at 400 m depth. Copepod abundance (Calanoids) has also been measured by Schiel (pers. comm.) in the upper 200 m of the water column in the same area. The values ranged between 1000 and 4500 ind/1000 m³ during the Antarctic summer.

Discussion

Anthozoans and hydrozoans are groups which have received great attention in tropical and temperate waters, and substantial data on their

natural diet are available (anthozoans e.g. Coma et al. 1994; Ribes et al. 1998; hydrozoans e.g. Gili et al. 1998). Scarce information exists, however, about Antarctic and Arctic species (Gili et al. 1996b; Slattery et al. 1997). Benthic zooplanktivorous species, which feed on substratum-associated organisms or larvae also consume a few holoplanktonic animals such as calanoid copepods (Sebens and Koehl 1984). We name these species "macrophagous" but introduce a new food item: the fine fraction of seston, calling the species, which feed on this fraction, "microphagous". The four studied species reflect this whole spectrum of prey items (Fig. 2).

It has been hypothesized that benthic organisms just feed during favourable periods, remaining in hibernation or in resting stages during cold seasons and under unfavourable environmental conditions (see for review Gili and Hughes 1995). This is true for the "macrophytoplankton system" (Smetacek et al 1990; Scharek and Nöthig 1995) which occurs in summer and most zooplanktonic (hence macrophagous) species profit from these summer blooms to grow and reproduce. However, the "flagellate system" (Smetacek et al. 1990; Scharek and Nöthig 1995), consisting mainly of nanoplankton and members of the microbial food web, is also active during winter (Clarke 1988; Ahn 1993). This system might be capable to sustain communities of benthic suspension feeders during the whole year, as has been observed by Barnes and Clarke (1995) at Signy Island.

Diet: macrophagous and microphagous suspension feeders

Macrophagous species: T. ralphii, C. cf. frankliniana, A. bathyproctus

T. ralphii showed a diet highly dependent on the water column. 85% of their diet were copepods, some of which have been identified as pelagic harpacticoids, indicating a dependence on the planktonic community. The lack of relation between polyp size and prey size suggests an opportunistic strategy contrasting with that observed in a congeneric species from the North Atlantic, *T. larynx* (Gili et al. 1996a).

The feeding strategy of the stoloniferan *C.* cf. *frankliniana* could be linked with resuspension processes at the seafloor. Its polyps are located very close to the substrate and they capture prey moving around their

Publication I

tentacle crown. This kind of feeding is quite frequent in massive and encrusting anthozoans such as alcyonaceans and actiniarians (Sebens and Koehl 1984). Sediment might be continually resuspended by the effect of currents, but also by various animals such as bivalves (e.g. Stockton 1984; Alexander and DeLaca 1987), echinoderms (McClintock 1994) and demersal fish.

The diet of *A. bathyproctus* is probably related to the patchiness of plankton. They might profit from episodes of high availability of food, as occur during the salps' downward migration. The occurrence of gelatinous zooplankton close to the seafloor has been shown in some cases (Gili et al. in press). Vertical migration of Antarctic zooplankton to the sea bed has been documented for salps (Weibe et al. 1979; Casareto and Nemoto 1986) and krill (Gutt and Siegel 1994). In gorgonians (Coma et al. 1994), plankton patches can cause events of high prey capture rates. The presence of big, although occasional, prey in the stomachs of the studied species may be quite significant for their energetic balance (Coma et al. 1998). In the guts of the *A. bathyproctus* specimens we also found diatoms (mainly *Corethron* spp), which seem, however, to come from prey gut contents, as has been described for other prey items in other cases (Sebens and Koehl 1984).

Two possible strategies might be applied by *A. bathyproctus*: 1) they might feed on zooplankton, i.e. prey that occasionally passes by, in an opportunistic way, but feed on the fine fraction of seston, too, using a "sieving" mechanism; 2) they might feed episodically only on big prey items. This last possibility does not appear to be realistic because they would depend completely on the Antarctic summer production to survive. A more realistic scenario is that they use, in different proportions, both resources. In any case, *A. bathyproctus* is neither a deposit nor a sediment feeder. Its anatomical characteristics show the animal to be capable to double its size by way of hydrostatic mechanisms. Thus it can take better advantage of the water column, the food composition of which can vary highly from the bottom to some centimetres above it (Schloss et al. 1999).

Microphagous species: O. antarctica

Little information exists on the role of types of prey other than zooplankton in hydroid feeding (Gili and Hughes 1995). Several studies reported that dinoflagellates, diatoms, tintinnids, and bacteria are sparse in hydroid gut contents (Gili et al. 1996a). On the other hand, nanoplankton, mainly of plant origin, is the most abundant food source in the Southern Ocean, and Coma et al. (1995) demonstrated that detritus from plant matter or particles of unspecified origin represents more than 90% of prey captured in a Mediterranean hydroid. Diatoms have been also reported to be an important food source for the Antarctic hydroid *Silicularia rosea* (Gili et al. 1996b).

Recently it has been observed that the fine fraction of seston (picoand nanoplankton) may represent an important part of the diet of benthic suspension feeders (Pile et al. 1996; Ribes et al. 1999). The studies by Bröckel (1981) showed that nanoplankton cells are also a very important component of the planktonic community in nearshore Antarctic waters. The case of O. antarctica is the first where the importance of this fraction has been shown for hydroids. Our feeding experiments show that components from the fine fraction of seston contribute to the diet of the hydroid (Fig. 5). This is not surprising taking into account that particles smaller than 2 µm and between 2 and 20 µm diameter dominate the pelagic planktonic community in terms of biomass and production (Platt et al. 1983). It has also been demonstrated that suspension feeders can remove very effectively particles of these sizes, and that active filtration is not the only method by which suspension feeders extract efficiently small particles from the water (Rubinstein and Koehl 1977; Okamura 1990). The importance of small prey in the diet of hydroids indicates that other mechanisms of capture may also occur, e.g. inertial impact or gravitational deposition, and creation of currents (Koehl 1977a,b; LaBarbera 1984, Harris 1990).

A wide variety of diets in benthic cnidarians has recently been shown also for two gorgonian species: *Plexaura flexuosa* (Ribes et al. 1998) in the Caribbean and *Paramuricea clavata* (Ribes et al. 1999) in the Mediterranean Sea, with prey items comprise from bacteria to zooplankton. Apparently, feeding strategies and diets in this group are not very different in Antarctica

compared with other latitudes. An example is the capture rates of *T. ralphii*, which are in the same order of magnitude as for related species in temperate waters (Gili et al. 1998).

Role of the suspension feeder communities in the Antarctic benthic communities

Particle composition in the water column in Antarctica may be very different along the year (Clarke and Leakey 1996). In the Southern Ocean, a strong vertical flux of organic matter occurs during a short time, but due to the low decomposition rate of the sediments, they keep their nutritional value longer (Bathmann et al. 1991). The data of Palanques et al. (in press) show high values of nitrogen even in winter. Benthic communities may respond to sedimentation events increasing their activity and production (e.g. Grémare et al. 1997).

The low values of C/N ratio observed (Fig. 6) in places where the benthic suspension feeders are very abundant might reflect their feeding activity consuming the sediment organic component (POC or small organisms). Benthic cnidarians might be able to use sediment material due to resuspension processes. A similar set of sediment C/N values has been observed in the Bransfield Street (Palangues et al. in press) and the authors hypothesize that this organic sediment decomposition could be related with the activity of benthic organisms, not to the different organic composition of material sedimenting from the water column. Parallel to these near-bottom feeding processes high nutrient values such as the observed nitrite values may be expected (Fig. 6). Below the depth limit of photosynthetic activity nitrite cycling is controlled by microbial nitrification as well as denitrification in the water layer close to the bottom, but benthic filter feeders can increase nitrite cycling by ammonium from their excretion processes. The role of nitrite as an obligatory intermediate in nitrification processes and the high values found during our experimental work point to the possible role of benthic suspension feeders in the recycling and remineralization of the organic matter and their role as very active organisms in the dynamics of benthic boundary layers.

In summary, cnidarians exploit both patch food and seasonally available food. This information on the natural diet of Antarctic benthic cnidarians supports the hypothesis that they are adapted to perform a wide spectrum of prey capture, which enhances their survival in a stochastic environment. Furthermore it indicates that the activity and production of Antarctic benthos does not stop during winter. The role of benthic suspension feeders in such communities is still far from being clear, but they must play a principal role both in the benthic pelagic coupling processes and in organic matter recycling.

Acknowledgements

Financial support for this study was provided by a DAAD fellowship (A/96/13073), by an European Commission fellowship from the Programme "Training and Mobility of Researchers" (TMR-CT97-2813) and by CICYT (Spanish Antarctic Research Programme) grant ANT97-1533-E and ANT98-1738-E. We also thank Ms. Patricia Pinto, Ms Nuria Teixidó and Dr. Joandomènec Ross for their help on board. We are grateful to Dr. Jens Kowalke and three anonymous referees for their criticism and comments which improved the manuscript. Many colleagues who helped on board and the readiness to help by the crew of RV "Polarstern" are also gratefully acknowledged.

References

- Ahn I-Y (1993) Enhanced particle flux through the biodeposition by the Antarctic suspension-feeding bivalve *Laternula elliptica* in Marian Cove, King George Island. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 171: 75-90
- Alexander SP, DeLaca TE (1987) Feeding adaptations of the foraminiferan *Cibides refulgens* living epizoically and parasitically on the Antarctic scallop *Adamussium colbecki*. Biol Bull (Woods Hole) 173: 136-159
- Arntz WE, Brey T, Gallardo VA (1994) Antarctic zoobenthos. Oceanogr Mar Biol Annu Rev 32: 241-304
- Barnes DKA, Clarke A (1995) Seasonality of feeding activity in Antarctic suspension feeders. Polar Biol 15: 335-340
- Bathmann U, Fischer G, Müller PJ, Gerdes D (1991) Short-term variations in particulate matter sedimentation off Kapp Norvegia, Weddell Sea, Antarctica: relation to water mass advection, ice cover, plankton biomass and feeding activity. Polar Biol 11: 185-195
- Bayer F (1993) Taxonomic status of the octocoral genus *Bathyalcyon* (Alcyoniidae: Anthomastinae), with descriptions of a new subspecies from the Gulf of Mexico and a new species of *Anthomastus* from Antarctic waters (Plates 1-9). Precious Coral and Octocoral Research 1: 3-13
- Brandt A, Hilbig B, Linse K, Wegener G (1999) Biodiversity and Zoogeography of Mollusca, Polychaeta, and Crustacea Peracarida. In: Arntz WE and Gutt J (eds) The Expedition Antarktis XV/3 (EASIZ II) of RV "Polarstern" in 1998, Ber Polarforsch 301: 135-149
- Bröckel K (1981) The importance of nanoplankton within the pelagic Antarctic ecosystems. In: Rheinheimer G, Fluegel H, Lenz J, Zeitzschel (eds) Lower organisms and their role in the food web. European Marine Biology Symposium, FRG, Kiel, Vol 5, pp 61-64
- Casareto BE, Nemoto T (1986) Salps of the Southern Ocean (Australian sector) during the 1983-84 summer, with special reference to the species *Salpa thompsoni*, Foxton 1961. Mem Natl Inst Polar Res Ser 40: 221-239
- Clarke A (1988) Seasonality in the Antarctic marine environment. Comp Biochem Physiol 90B, 3: 461-473
- Clarke A, Leakey RJG (1996) The seasonal cycle of phytoplankton, macronutrients, and the microbial community in a nearshore Antarctic marine ecosystem. Limnol Oceanogr 41(6): 1281-1294
- Coma R, Gili JM, Zabala M, Riera T (1994) Feeding and prey capture cycles in the aposymbiotic gorgonian *Paramuricea clavata*. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 115: 257-270
- Coma R, Gili JM, Zabala M (1995) Trophic ecology of the benthic marine hydroid *Campanularia everta.* Mar Ecol Prog Ser 119: 211-220

- Coma R, Ribes M, Gili JM, Zabala M (1998) An energetic approach to the study of life-history traits of two modular colonial benthic invertebrates. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 162: 89-103
- Cripps GC, Clarke A (1998) Seasonal variation in the biochemical composition of particulate material collected by sediment traps at Signy Island, Antarctica. Polar Biol 20: 414-423
- Elyakova LA, Shevchenko NM, Avaeva SM (1981) A comparative study of carbohydrase activities in marine invertebrates. Comp Biochem Physiol 69B: 905-908
- Fabricius KE, Genin A, Benayahu Y (1995a) Flow-dependent herbivory and growth in zooxanthellae-free soft corals. Limnol Oceanogr 40(7): 1290-1301
- Fabricius KE, Benayahu Y, Genin A (1995b) Herbivory in asymbiotic soft corals. Science 268: 90-92
- Garrabou J (1999) Life-history traits of *Alcyonum acaule* and *Parazoanthus axinellae* (Cnidaria, Anthozoa), with emphasis on growth. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 178: 193-204
- Gasol JM, del Giorgio P (2000) Using flow cytometry for counting natural planktonic bacteria and understanding the structure of planktonic bacterial communities. Sci Mar 64: 197-224
- Gili JM, Hughes RG (1995) Ecology of benthic hydroids. Oceanogr Mar Biol Annu Rev 33: 351-422
- Gili JM, Hughes RG, Alvà V (1996a) A quantitative study of feeding by the hydroid *Tubularia larynx* Ellis and Solander, 1876. Sci Mar 60(1): 43-54
- Gili JM, Alvà V, Pagès F, Klöser H, Arntz WE (1996b) Benthic diatoms as the major food source in the sub-Antarctic marine hydroid *Silicularia rosea*. Polar Biol 16: 507-512
- Gili JM, Alvà V, Coma R, Orejas C, Pagès F, Ribes M, Zabala M, Arntz WE, Bouillon J, Boero F, Hughes R (1998) The impact of small benthic passive suspension feeders in shallow marine ecosystems: the hydroids as an example. Zool Verhand 323: 99-105
- Gili JM, Coma R, Orejas C, Arntz W, López-González P, Zabala M (in press) Antarctic benthic suspension feeder communities within a world wide approach. Polar Biol

- Grémare A, Amouroux JM, Charles F, Dinet A, Riaux-Gobin C, Baudart J, Medernach L, Bodiou JY, Vetion G, Colomines JC, Albert P (1997)
 Temporal changes in the biochemical composition and nutritional value of the particulate organic matter available to surface deposit-feeders: A two year study. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 150 (1-3): 195-206
- Gutt J, Siegel V (1994) Observations on benthopelagic aggregations of krill (*Euphausia superba*) on the deeper shelf of the southeastern Weddell Sea. Deep Sea Res 41: 169-178
- Gutt J, Starmans A (1998) Megabenthic structure and biodiversity in the Weddell and Lazarev Seas (Antarctic): Ecological role of physical parameters and biological interactions. Polar Biol 20: 229-247
- Harris VA (1990) Sessile animals on the sea shore. Chapman and Hall, London
- Hyman LH (1940) The invertebrates: Protozoa through Ctenophora. MacGraw-Hill
- Koehl MAR (1977a) Effects of sea anemones on the flow forces they encounter. J exp Biol 69: 87-105
- Koehl MAR (1977b) Water flow and the morphology of zoanthid colonies. In: Proc 3 rd Int Coral Reef Symp vol I, Miami, pp 437-444
- LaBarbera M (1984) Feeding currents and particle capture mechanisms in suspension feeding animals. Am Zool 24: 71-84
- Nöthig E, Bodungen B von (1989) Occurrence and vertical flux of faecal pellets of probably protozoan origin in the southeastern Weddell Sea (Antarctica). Mar Ecol Prog Ser 56: 281-289
- Okamura B (1990) Particle size, flow velocity, and suspension feeding by the erect bryozoans *Bugula neritica* and *B. stolonifera*. Mar Biol 105: 33-38
- Palanques A, Isla E, Puig P, Sánchez-Cabrera JA, Masqué P (in press) Annual evolution of settling particle fluxes during the FRUELA experiment (western Bransfield Strait, Antarctica). Deep Sea Res
- Pile AJ, Patterson MR, Witman JD (1996) *In situ* grazing on plankton <10 μm by the boreal sponge *Mycale lingua*. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 141: 95-102
- Platt T, Subba Rao DV, Irwin B (1983) Photosynthesis of picoplankton in the oligotrophic ocean. Nature 301: 702-704

- Ribes M, Coma R, Gili JM (1998) Heterotrophic feeding by gorgonian corals with symbiotic zooxanthellae. Limnol Oceanogr 43: 1170-1179
- Ribes M, Coma R, Gili JM (1999) Heterogeneous feeding in benthic suspension feeders: natural diet and grazing rate of the temperate gorgonian *Paramuricea clavata* (Cnidaria: Octocorallia) over a year cycle. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 183: 125-137
- Rubinstein DI, Koehl MAR (1977) The mechanisms of filter feeding: Some theoretical considerations. Am Nat 111: 981-994
- Scharek R, Nöthig E (1995) Das einzellige Plankton im Ozean der Arktis und Antarktis. In: Hempel I, Hempel G (eds) Biologie der Polarmeere. Gustav Fischer Verlag, Jena, pp 116-127
- Schloss I, Ferreyra G, Mercuri G, Kowalke J (1999) Particle flux in an Antarctic shallow coastal environment: a sediment trap study. In: Arntz WE, Rios C (eds) Magellan-Antarctic: Ecosystems that drifted apart. Sci Mar 63 (Supl. 1), pp 99-111
- Sebens KP, Koehl MAR (1984) Predation on zooplankton by the benthic anthozoans *Alcyonum siderium* (Alcyonacea) and *Metridium senile* (Actiniaria) in the New England subtidal. Mar Biol 81: 255-271
- Slattery M, McClintock JB, Bowser SS (1997) Deposit feeding: a novel mode of nutrition in the Antarctic colonial soft coral *Gersemia antarctica*. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 149: 299-304
- Smetacek V, Scharek R, Nöthig EM (1990) Seasonal variation in the pelagial and its relationship to the life history cycle of krill In: Kerry KR, Hempel G (eds) Antarctic Ecosystems. Ecological Change and Conservation.
 Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg 427: 103-114
- Starmans A, Gutt J, Arntz WE (1999) Mega-epibenthic communities in Arctic and Antarctic shelf areas. Mar Biol 135: 269-280
- Stepanjants SD (1979) Hydroids of the Antarctic and Subantarctic waters. In: Biological results of the Soviet Antarctic Expeditions, 6, Issledov. Fau. Morei, 20: 1-200
- Stockton WL (1984) The biology and ecology of the epifaunal scallop Adamussium colbecki on the west side of McMurdo Sound, Antarctica. Mar Biol 78: 171-178

- von Bodungen B, Smetacek VS, Tilzer MM, Zeitzschel B (1986) Primary production and sedimentation during spring in the Antarctic Peninsula region. Deep Sea Res 33: 177-194
- Weibe PH, Madin LP, Haury LR, Harbison GR, Philbin LM (1979) Diel vertical migration by *Salpa aspera* and its potential for large scale particulate organic matter transport to the deep sea. Mar Biol 53: 249-255



Fig .1 Studied species: 1. Oswaldella antarctica. 2. Tubularia ralphii. 3. Clavularia cf. frankliniana. 4. Anthomastus bathyproctus.



Fig. 2 Percentage (by number) of prey items in the dissected polyps for each studied species.







Fig. 4 Percentage (by number) of full and empty gastrovascular cavities for the four studied species. Black colour shows coelenteron with prey items, white colour without prey items.



Fig. 5 Net growth rate in control (*K*c) and experimental (*K*e) chamber of the different groups of plankton and POC, DOC.



Fig. 6 Values of C/N rate and nutrients for the areas North of Kapp Norvegia (N/KN), Kapp Norvegia (KN), South of Vestkapp (S/VK), and Drescher Inlet (DI). +++ High dominance of benthic suspension feeders; ++ Regular abundance of benthic suspension feeders; Occasional presence of benthic suspension feeders.

Table 1. Sampling stations for the 4 studied species. KG= King George Island; KN= Kapp Norvegia; N/KN= North of Kapp Norvegia; AGT= Agassiz trawl; BT= bottom trawl; TV grab= bottom grab 1.82 m² with video camera.

	Area	Station	Gear	Latitude	Longitude	Depth
				(S)	(VV)	(m)
Oswaldella antarctica	N/KN	71	вт	70°49.3'	10°28.6'	281
	KN	210	TVgrab	71°07.2'	11°28.4'	67
Tubularia ralphii	KN	210	TVgrab	71°07.2'	11°28.4'	67
Clavularia cf frankliniana	KN	210	⊺Vgrab	71°07.2'	11°28.4'	67
Anthomastus bathyproctus	KG	303	AGT	62°16.5'	58°43.1'	430
	KG	304	AGT	62°16.4'	58°43.9'	447

The role of the fine fraction of seston in the diet of two Antarctic octocorals (*Primnoisis antarctica* and *Primnoella* sp.)

Covadonga Orejas¹, Josep Maria Gili², Wolf Arntz¹

- 1 Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine Research, Columbusstrasse, 27568 Bremerhaven, Germany
- 2 Institut de Ciències del Mar (CSIC), Plaça del Mar s/n, 08039 Barcelona, Spain

Abstract

The diet composition of two Antarctic octocorals, Primnoisis antarctica and Primnoella sp. from the shelf of the eastern Weddell Sea (Antarctica) has been studied for the first time. Although meso-zooplankton is very scarce in the diet of these organisms, it seems to be important because of its high carbon content. Feeding experiments showed that components of the seston including the finer fraction of suspended organic matter (ciliates, dinoflagellates and phytoplankton) are an important part of the octocoral diet. It was estimated that in Primnoisis antarctica, the diatom Fragillariopsis spp. accounted for 77% of the total numbers of cells captured, followed by dinoflagellates (20%), Nitzschia spp. (2%) and ciliates (1%). In Primnoella sp., dinoflagellates were consumed preferentially (92%), followed by ciliates (6%) and centric diatoms (2%). However, the consumption rates in carbon terms, were low (1.11x10⁻⁵ mg C polyp⁻¹ d⁻¹ for *Primnoisis antarctica* and 1.34x10⁻⁴ mg C polyp⁻¹ d⁻¹ for *Primnoella* sp.). The ability of these suspension feeders to take small cells at lower concentrations may allow these organisms to remain seasonally active for considerably longer periods than previously thought.

Introduction

It has long been assumed that Antarctic ecosystems experience an extended period of biological inactivity because of the extended periods of ice cover (Gruzov 1977). However, recent studies on Antarctic shallow waters suggested only a brief period of feeding inactivity in some Antarctic benthic suspension feeders (Barnes & Clarke 1995). This is related to the finding at littoral sites that in winter nanoplankton chlorophyll exceeds that of the microplankton during approximately three months (Clarke & Leakey 1996).

Pico - (cells <2 μm) and nanoplankton (cells 2-20 μm) dominate many planktonic communities in terms of production (e.g. Platt et al. 1983, Stoeckner & Antia 1986, Burkill et al. 1993). The plankton of the Southern Ocean is however characterised by a dominant phytoplankton community represented by nanoflagellates and small pennate diatoms (e.g. Sakshaug & Holm-Hansen 1984, Nöthig et al. 1991, Scharek & Nöthig 1995). These organisms are present at low abundance during the winter but exhibit blooms during spring. In contrast, large populations of heterotrophic nanoflagellates, dinoflagellates and ciliates are present practically all year round (Hewes et al. 1985). This "split" planktonic system might provide a key to the understanding of the ecology of benthic suspension feeding organisms.

In recent years, ecological work on Antarctic suspension feeders has increased notably, for instance, on bivalves (e.g. Davenport 1997, Albertelli et al. 1998), sponges (e.g. Starmans et al. 1999, Kowalke 2000), ascidians (e.g. Sahade et al. 1998, Kowalke 1999), and bryozoans (e.g. Sanderson et al. 1994, Barnes & Clarke 1994). Some studies from boreal sponges are also available (e.g. Pile et al. 1996, Riisgård et al 1998). However, studies on passive suspension feeders in polar regions are still scarce.

Suspension feeders are able to capture important amounts of planktonic prey, and the grazing pressure on the water column planktonic communities by benthic macro-invertebrates appears to be much greater than previously thought (e.g. Coma et al. 1995, Pile et al. 1996, Riisgard et al. in press, Orejas et al. in press).

Many anthozoans such as corals, zoantharians, alcyonaceans and actinians from different latitudes capture zooplankton (for a review see Coma et al. 1994). However the study of gastrovascular contents of gorgonians in Antarctic waters (Alvà et al. 1997) revealed a very low number of zooplankton prey items. This would seem to be a paradox taking into account that summer is the period in the Antarctic when higher primary production rates and higher zooplankton densities occur. Additionally, the high reproduction rates of octocorals in Antarctic waters are comparable to those from other latitudes (Orejas et al. submitted), indicating that other planktonic components must be taken by these organisms in order to meet their energetic demands. Recent studies have suggested that the fine fraction of seston (mainly phytoplankton) plays an important role in the diet of various benthic suspension feeders from temperate and boreal latitudes (e.g Ribes et al. 1998a,b; 1999a,b; Riisgard et al. 1998), tropical areas (Fabricius et al

1995, Yahel et al. 1998), and also in the Antarctic (Kowalke 2000, Orejas et al. in press).

Previous studies on Mediterranean (Ribes et al. 1999a) and Caribbean (Ribes et al. 1998a) species have revealed the importance of the fine fraction of seston. Furthermore, cnidarians represent a conspicuous group in benthic Antarctic shelf communities at many locations (e.g. Arntz et al. 1994, Gutt & Starmans 1998). According to Starmans et al. (1999), anthozoans are the third dominant taxon in the shelf communities of the Weddell Sea accounting for 10% of the individuals. Therefore, the ecological role of these animals in the Antarctic system is of considerable interest.

The aim of this study is to determine the role of the fine fraction of seston in the diet of two Antarctic gorgonians.

Material and Methods

Description of the species

Primnoisis antarctica (Studer, 1879) (Isididae, Octocorallia) has a branched shape with arborescent growth form (Fig. 1a). Specimens were collected from soft substrata in a depth range between 200 and 500 m. The second species, *Primnoella* sp. (Primnoidae, Octocorallia) (Fig. 1b), was also common but is yet to be determined because of the extreme variability of the genus (P. López-González, pers. comm.). It has a flagelliform, unbranched shape, with polyps arranged in whorls. This species lives attached to stony substrata and occurs mainly in shallow areas (60 to 100 m depth approximately).

Sampling

Sampling was carried out on board RV "Polarstern" during the EASIZ II cruise (ANT XV/3, January-March 1998) in the Kapp Norvegia area (eastern Weddell Sea, approximately 71°5S, 13°E, and at depths of 60 to 500 meters) (Fig. 2). Details on the expedition are given in Arntz & Gutt (1999). Specimens were sampled with a large TV grab of 1.82 m² area and immediately transferred to sea-water aquaria maintained at Southern Ocean temperature (-1°C to 0.5°C). The sampled area was characterised by Voß

(1988), who described the presence of sandy bottoms but also sponge spicule mats, bryozoan debris and a few stones. High species richness, diversity and evenness are also characteristic of the Kapp Norvegia area (Galéron et al. 1992).

Gastrovascular contents

To determine the role of zooplankton prey in the diet of both species, polyp gastrovascular contents were analysed. 195 polyps from 13 colonies of *P. antarctica* and 200 polyps from 8 colonies of *Primnoella* s.p. were dissected under a binocular and a light microscope. The prey items were identified to groups and, where feasible, to taxa, and their sizes measured. Calculation of biomass values for the various groups was done using literature conversion values (Edler 1979, Coma et al. 1995) and unpublished data of S. Schiel.

Feeding experiments

The role of the fine fraction of seston in the diet of P. antarctica and Primnoella sp. was also evaluated from feeding experiments. A modified form of the incubator developed by the Institut de Ciències del Mar (Ribes et al. 1998a) was used to study the diet of benthic suspension feeders. The incubator (Fig. 3) consists of a chamber in which the colony is placed, and an empty control chamber. Each closed chamber was connected to a pump that re-circulated sea-water at a renewal rate of 3.3 I min⁻¹. Water was collected as close to the seafloor as possible by means of a CTD equipped with a rosette. Temperature and salinity were simultaneously measured. The chambers and all required material and instrumentation were held in a refrigerated experimental room to maintain environmental temperature. Colonies were held in the cooled aguarium until the incubation experiments were carried out. Immediately prior to the experiments (6 replicates for each species), animals were placed in the experimental chamber and were allowed to fully expand. After this period of acclimation (3-4 hours), the incubation chambers were closed and initial water samples of 2000 ml were taken from both chambers. A second set of water samples was collected 6 hours later.

Capture rates were calculated using the variation in the concentration levels of bacteria, nanoflagellates, ciliates, dinoflagellates, diatoms, total Particulate Organic Carbon (POC), and Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC) in the water samples, correcting for their net growth rate (for bacteria, nanoflagellates, ciliates, dinoflagellates and diatoms) and the net increasing rates for POC and DOC during the experiment as revealed by the control chamber.

To quantify heterotrophic bacteria, water samples were stored for flow cytometry by standard methods (Gasol & del Giorgio 2000). For quantification and measurement of nanoplankton (nanoflagellates) water samples were stained with DAPI, counted and measured by epifluorescence microscopy (Porter & Feig 1980). To quantify, measure and identify ciliates, dinoflagellates, and diatoms, water samples were stored in acid Lugol (Utermöhl 1931, 1958) for subsequent microscopy.

Cell biovolume was calculated from length and width by approximation to the nearest regular geometric volume. Carbon content of heterotrophic bacteria was estimated from literature conversion factors (Fry 1988). For pico- and nanoplankton and for the different diatom groups, the method described in Edler (1979) was followed. Nutrients (NO₂, NO₃, Si, and PO₄) in the water samples were measured using a Technikon Autoanalyzer II System following standard methods (Grasshoff 1976). Carbon content was measured using a Leco CN 2000 analyzer. Water samples for these analyses were taken close to the bottom, between 200 and 400 metres depth, in the same areas where the specimens for the experiments were collected. Initial concentrations of plankton groups as well as POC and DOC in the experiments were taken as environmental concentrations too.

To calculate the biomass of the *P. antarctica* and *Primnoella* sp. colonies used in the experiments, specimens were rinsed with water to remove salt and associated macrofauna, and dry mass was determined after drying at 90° C for 24 hours. In order to determine ash free dry mass, the tissue and axis of the colonies were separated, and combusted separately at 450°C for 5 hours.

Depletion rates for the different potential prey items were calculated by assuming exponential growth and clearance of prey as described in Ribes et al. (1998a). Because the data were not normally distributed, a nonparametric test (Wilcoxon test) (Sokal & Rohlf 1995) was used to identify possible differences between prey net growth rate, and POC, DOC and nutrients net increment rate in the experimental and control chamber.

Ingestion rates were estimated from the clearance rates calculated from the feeding experiments and the mean prey concentration value for each prey type during the experiment (Ribes et al. 1999b). Ingestion was expressed in terms of number of cells colony⁻¹ time⁻¹, and in terms of carbon as a proportion of organic carbon weight of tissue time⁻¹. All results are expressed as mean <u>+</u> standard deviation (SD).

Results

Feeding on zooplankton

A small number of zooplankton prey was found in the 195 analysed polyps of *Primnoisis antarctica* (Table 1). The maximal number of prey items per colony was 4; 3 copepod nauplii and a tintinnid. *Primnoella* sp. did not contain any zooplankton prey in the dissected polyps. These results agree with the observations of Alvà et al. (1997) who also dissected polyps of different Antarctic gorgonian species, finding scarce zooplankton prey in the gastrovascular cavities of them.

It is difficult to estimate the contribution of zooplankton in the diet of *P. antarctica* without additional information about diel zooplankton capture rate. However, looking at the high carbon content of zooplankton prey items (Table 1) it is clear that they play a more important role by mass in the diet of this species than is indicated by their low number.

Feeding on the fine fraction of seston

Net growth rates were calculated for each plankton taxon (excluding zooplankton bigger than 100µm) and for POC and DOC in both the control and experimental chambers (Fig. 4). Net growth rates of ciliates and dinoflagellates, followed by *Nitzschia* spp., *Fragillariopsis* spp. and centric diatoms were generally lower in the experimental than in the control chamber. The concentrations of some groups (bacteria, nanoflagellates and

POC) increased in both chambers, but to a greater extent in the experimental one. DOC showed, in contrast, a general decrease in concentration, being higher in the experimental chamber for *P. antarctica* and in the control chamber for *Primnoella* sp. Average prey concentrations (cells l⁻¹) of ciliates, dinoflagellates, and diatoms in the environment and during the experiments are shown in Table 2.

The Wilcoxon test applied to the results for *P. antarctica* detected statistically significant differences in the net growth rate (p<0.05) for *Fragillariopsis* spp. and for nanoflagellates. For *Primnoella* sp. statistically significant differences in the net growth rate (p<0.05) were detected for ciliates, dinoflagellates, and for DOC.

In our experiments, neither species appeared to graze on organisms <5 μ m. Ingestion rates for both species are summarised in Table 4. The highest ingestion rate (cells polyp⁻¹ d⁻¹) in *P. antarctica* was for *Fragillariopsis* spp. followed by dinoflagellates, *Nitzschia* spp. and ciliates. For *Primnoella* sp., the highest ingestion rate was for dinoflagellates followed by ciliates and centric diatoms.

Total ingestion rates, taking into account all seston groups and food items, of *P. antarctica* and *Primnoella* sp. were the same order of magnitude (Table 4). However, *Primnoella* sp. generally exhibited higher ingestion rates than *P. antarctica*. Ingestion rates did not vary clearly with concentrations for *P. antarctica* (Fig. 5 a) suggesting that the grazing on all groups was close to the maximum. In *Primnoella* sp. (Fig. 5 b), there was a general tendency to increase predation when the cell concentration increased. A significant positive correlation between grazing rate and concentration in the environment was observed in two groups: ciliates (r^2 =0.832; p<0.05) and centric diatoms (r^2 =0.891; p<0.05). On average, *P. antarctica* and *Primnoella* sp. ingested 1.11x10⁻⁵ (SD±0.01) mg C⁻¹ polyp⁻¹ d⁻¹ and 1.34x10⁻⁴ (SD±0.12) mg C⁻¹ polyp⁻¹ d⁻¹, respectively, from these prey items (Table 4).

The available prey in the environment for both studied species is shown in Fig. 6. The composition of the plankton groups was quite similar in both cases as would be expected because both samples were taken approximately from the same area and depth. The differences in the carbon content are caused by the cell size dependency of the carbon content (different cell sizes were found at the sampling stations).

The percentage contribution of each group to the diet of both species was also calculated (Fig. 7). For *P. antarctica, Fragillariopsis* spp. was the main contributor in % of ingested cells (77%), followed by dinoflagellates (20%), *Nitzschia* spp. (2%) and ciliates (1%), whereas the higher contribution in mg C was supplied by *Fragillariopsis* spp. and dinoflagellates followed by ciliates and *Nitzschia* spp. For *Primnoella* sp., dinoflagellates accounted for 92% of ingested cells in the diet, followed by ciliates (6%) and centric diatoms (2%). The highest contribution in terms of mg C was made by dinoflagellates (85%), followed by ciliates (13%) and centric diatoms (2%).

Nutrient concentrations were not significantly different at the beginning and at the end of the experiment. However, in some of the replicates the nitrite and nitrate concentrations were slightly higher at the end.

Discussion

Recently it has become evident that Antarctic diatom blooms occur primarily in restricted embayments such as the inner Ross and Weddell Seas and the continental shelf of western Antarctic Peninsula, and are associated with seasonally receding ice edges (e.g., Comiso et al. 1993). In contrast, in the vast open areas of the Southern Ocean, pico- and nanoplankton are the dominant contributors to both planktonic biomass and primary production (e.g. Weber and El-Sayed 1987, Jochem et al. 1995). The idea that autotrophic nanoflagellates constitute an important group in the pelagic food web has only recently become accepted (e.g. Becquevort et al. 1992, Kopczynska 1992). The spring diatom bloom may be superimposed on a phytoplankton assemblage consisting mainly of autotrophic nanoplankton (Smetacek et al. 1990). The cycles of alternation between a diatomdominated system and a flagellate-dominated system are not sufficiently known, partly because of the difficulty in obtaining consistent time series data in polar areas (Socal et al. 1997). The proportions of the different components of the plankton community in the Weddell Sea (Fig 5) are comparable to values from other geographical areas (Table 6).

Concentrations of the groups predated on by both Antarctic species studied here are generally lower compared with other latitudes. Nevertheless, the two gorgonians are able to feed on them. Antarctic bryozoans are also adapted to feed at very low cell concentrations, indicating that the polar winter may be shorter and less harsh for shallow water benthic suspension feeders than previously thought (Barnes & Clarke 1994). One of these bryozoan species, *Arachnopusia inchoata*, continued feeding all year around, and three others showed only relatively short periods of winter cessation of feeding activity.

The feeding behaviour of the bryozoans studied by Barnes & Clarke (1994) could explain the absence of over-wintering energy reserves in these benthic suspension feeders (Peck et al. 1986, 1987), related to reduced metabolic costs in benthos compared with plankton (Clarke & Peck 1991). The work of Barnes & Clarke (1994) was one of the first studies which challenged the concept of the long winter period as a "hibernation" time in polar sessile suspension feeders (Gruzov 1977), i.e. the idea of a long winter period of starvation, which was a dominant concept in Antarctic marine ecology for many years (Clarke 1988).

Predation on the fine fraction of seston by suspension feeders has recently been described in the literature. Studies of sponges in the Arctic (Pile et al. 1996), gorgonians in the Caribbean (Ribes et al. 1998a) as well as several Mediterranean species (Ribes et al. 1999a, b) have shown high grazing efficiency by these benthic invertebrates on the small-plankton communities in near-bottom waters. The Antarctic hydrozoan Oswaldella antarctica also feeds on the fine fraction of seston (Orejas et al. in press), although hydroids have traditionally been considered as carnivorous (Gili & Hughes 1995). This corroborates some previous observations which reported that bacteria, phytoplankton, and suspended organic matter may play an extremely important role in the feeding of non-molluscan suspension feeders (e.g. Riisgård 1991, Pile et al. 1997). In studies carried out on coral reefs in the Gulf of Aqaba (Red Sea) Yahel et al. (1998) showed that the taxa responsible for the depletion of phytoplankton at the reef were most likely species of sponges and ascidians. Another study by Yahel et al. (unpubl. data in: Yahel et al. 1998) on feeding by individual specimens of bivalves,

sponges and ascidians showed an efficiency of more than 60% for grazing rates on eukaryotic phytoplankton.

The Antarctic gorgonians studied here are able to predate on the fraction of seston > 5 μ m. The results of this study (Fig. 4) support the results from other latitudes (Pile et al. 1996, Ribes et al. 1998b, 1999b). For some Antarctic ascidians the diet is composed mainly of particles ranging from 1.2 μ m to 6.5 μ m (Kowalke 1999). These examples together with the available literature lead to the conclusion that resource partitioning is present among passive benthic suspension feeders, due to the wide range of potential prey they have, corresponding to different trophic strategies in a community (Orejas et al. in press, see also Stuart & Klump 1984). Furthermore, Antarctic active suspension feeders, such as the bivalve *Laternula elliptica* (Ahn 1993), behave similarly to species from other latitudes (Jørgensen 1990), thus supporting these results.

The predation of suspension feeders on ciliates and dinoflagellates leads to increase of the growth rates in bacteria and nanoflagellates as observed during the experiment (see Fig. 4). The important role of ciliates and dinoflagellates as predators of bacteria (e.g. Caron et al. 1999, Gast et al. 1999) and nanoflagellates (Banse 1982) has been confirmed by many authors. Because of their potential for rapid growth, ciliates play an important role in the microbial food webs as predators of microflagellates and as predators and grazers of both heterotrophic and autotrophic picoplankton, respectively. According to Gast (1985) and Porter et al. (1985), in eutrophic coastal regions such as estuaries and fjords, bacterivory is likely to be of greater importance for ciliates and other microzooplankton. However, the majority of ciliates in the open ocean are not bacterivorous, as they feed largely on heterotrophic and phototrophic nanoplankton (Fenchel 1984). Their larger size makes some picoplankton more suitable for ingestion by ciliates than the smaller (0.4-0.6 µm) free-living bacteria (Banse 1982). Tsuda & Kawaguchi (1997) indicated that microzooplankton, including flagellates, ciliates, heterotrophic dinoflagellates and microcrustaceans, may be regarded as major consumers of pico- and nanophytoplankton. Accordingly, microflagellates are probably the most important grazers of algal picoplankton in aquatic ecosystems. As predators with a high assimilation

efficiency and rapid growth potential, they serve to keep heterotrophic and autotrophic picoplankton in an active growth phase by their cropping and subsequent release of dissolved organic matter and inorganic nutrients (Goldman et al. 1985, Goldman & Caron 1985). As in the case of flagellate predation on picoplankton, grazing by ciliates and other microzooplankton contributes to the dissolved organic matter pool for utilisation by bacteria, and to the release and recycling of inorganic nutrients for bacteria and phytoplankton (Caron et al. 1985, 1988).

Feeding studies on gorgonians have only rarely reported the capture of zooplankton prey items (e.g. Lasker 1981, Lasker et al. 1983). For this reason, alternative food sources such as suspended particulate matter (Lasker 1981), mucus produced by corals (Coffroth 1984, Herndl & Velimirov 1986), dissolved organic matter (Murdock 1978), and microplankton (Pile et al 1996, Ribes et al. 1998a,b 1999a,b) have been proposed. In fact, significant capture of naturally occurring zooplankton prey in situ has only been documented in the Mediterranean species Paramuricea clavata (Coma et al. 1994) and the Caribbean gorgonians Plexaura flexuosa and Pseudoplexaura porosa (Ribes et al 1998a). In our cases, Primnoisis antarctica had a very small amount of zooplankton prey items in their gastrovascular cavities. However, as in P. clavata (Coma et al. 1994), the small contribution of zooplankton prey might be very important to cover the energetic requirements of the species, since the carbon content of a zooplankton prey item is much higher than that of micro-, nano- and picoplankton items. This has been recently pointed out for benthic sessile organisms (Gili et al. in press). The combination of low metabolism (Clarke 1998) and individual nutritive prey could make up for a long period of starvation. Primnoella sp. did not show any zooplankton prey items in their gastrovascular cavities. We observed, however, that all dissected polyps were filled by well developed gonads (up to 13 oocytes in one gastrovascular cavity) which might explain the absence of large prey in the polyps. This same phenomenon has been mentioned by Brito et al. (1997) for the Antarctic gorgonian Thouarella variabilis.

In summary, the Antarctic octocorals studied here seem to show the same trophic behaviour as do octocorals studied in other latitudes. They do

not seem to make much use of large zooplankters but feed primarily on the fine fraction of seston, i.e. on particles not smaller than 5 µm. The presence of benthic diatoms in the gastrovascular cavities of both studied gorgonians and their grazing observed in the feeding experiments lead to the conclusion that resuspension may play an important role in the food available for these organisms. Sediment resuspension is a common phenomenon already documented in shallow near shore environments surrounding Antarctica (e.g. Klöser et al. 1994). This phenomenon may be particularly relevant during the austral winter. In shallow areas detritus resuspended by wind-generated waves, anchor ice and currents may be a viable food source for benthic invertebrates during this season. This phenomenon was called "utilisation of redistributed accumulated energy" by Gruzov (1977).

The apparent difference with regard to species studied in other oceans does not refer to the quality but to the quantity of food they ingested, which is significantly lower than in octocorals from other latitudes. Antarctic organisms have low metabolic rates (Clarke 1991), which suggests higher growth efficiencies and reduced cost of maintenance. In addition, low resting metabolic rates provide energetic advantages (overwintering reserves can be reduced) but limit the rate at which food can be processed, being an energetic constraint. However, the Antarctic octocorals might be able to feed during the whole year, whereas octocorals from temperate seas show a seasonal feeding behaviour. Feeding the year round, although at lower rates, would reduce the difference in their impact on the ecosystem as compared to other areas.

The ability of suspension feeders to feed on the fine fraction of seston all year round (Clarke & Leakey 1996), the resuspension processes, which supply food to the suspension feeders in the winter season in form of "reversed vertical" inputs, and the lateral advection processes, may be key factors in the trophic dynamics of Antarctic benthic suspension feeders. What Hedgpeth (1977) called "Antarctic paradox" may need to be reformulated in the light of these new studies.

Acknowledgements

Financial support was provided by a DAAD fellowship (A/96/13073), by a European Comission fellowship from the Programme "Training and Mobility of Researchers" (TMR-CT97-2813) and by CICYT (Spanish Antarctic Research Program) grants ANT97-1533-E and ANT98-1739-E, and ANT099-1608-E.

We are indebted to M. Ribes who designed the first prototype for in situ incubations; she and scientists from the British Antarctic Survey helped us with the design of the experimental device and work. For their help in the laboratory, we thank especially N. Teixidó and K. Beyer. Flux cytometry was assisted by P. Gasol. We would like to thank also E. Nöthig for her help with the phytoplankton identification and H. Schwarz for her assistance in the laboratory. Thanks go to T. Brey, S. Schiel, A. Clarke, M. Ribes and F. Pagès whose comments improved very much the early versions of the manuscript. Thanks also to the Scientist Technical Service (University of Barcelona) with the assistance of I. Casals, P. Fernández and L. Balart, who provided the POC and DOC analyses. The authors are grateful to many colleagues who helped on board, and especially to officers and crew of RV "Polarstern" for their cooperation and hospitality during the EASIZ II cruise.

References

- Ahn I (1993) Enhanced particle flux through the biodeposition by the Antarctic suspension-feeding bivalve *Laternula elliptica* in Marian Cove, King George Island. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 171: 75-90
- Albertelli G, Cattaneo-Vietti R, Chiantore M, Pusceddu A, Fabiano M (1998) Food availability to an *Adamussium* bed during the austral summer 1993/1994 (Terra Nova Bay, Ross Sea). J Mar Syst 17: 425-434
- Alvà V, Orejas C, Zabala M (1997) Feeding ecology of Antarctic cnidarian suspension feeders (Hydrozoa, Gorgonacea, Pennatulacea). In: Arntz
 W & Gutt J (eds) The Expedition Antarktis XIII/3 (EASIZ I) of

"Polarstern" to the eastern Weddell Sea in 1996. Ber Polarforsch 249: 14-16

- Arntz WE, Brey T, Gallardo VA (1994) Antarctic zoobenthos. Oceanogr Mar Biol Ann Rev 32: 241-304
- Arntz WE, Gutt J (1999) The Expedition Antarktis XV/3 (EASIZ II) of RV "Polarstern" in 1998. Ber Polarforsch 301 pp 229
- Banse K (1982) Cell volumes, maximal growth rates of unicellular algae and ciliates, and the role of ciliates in the marine pelagial. Limnol Oceanogr 27: 1059-1071
- Barnes DKA, Clarke A (1994) Seasonal variation in the feeding activity of four species of Antarctic bryozoa in relation to environmental factors. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 181: 117-133
- Barnes DKA, Clarke A (1995) Seasonality of feeding activity in Antarctic suspension feeders. Polar Biol 15: 335-340
- Becquevort S, Mathot S, Lancelot C (1992) Interactions in the microbial community of the marginal ice zone of the northwestern Weddell Sea through size distribution analysis. Polar Biol 12: 211-218
- Brito TAS, Tyler PA, Clarke A (1997) Reproductive biology of the Antarctic octocoral *Thouarella variabilis* Wright and Studer 1889. Proc of the 6th Int Conference on Coelenterate Biology 1995, p 63-69
- Burkill PH, MantouraRFC, Owens NJP (1993) Biogeochemical cycling in the northwestern Indian Ocean: a brief overview. Deep Sea Res II 40: 643-649
- Caron DA, Goldman JC, Anderson OK, Dennett MR (1985) Nutrient cycling in a microflagellate food chain: II. Population dynamics and carbon cycling. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 24: 243-254
- Caron DA, Goldman JC, Dennett MR (1988) Experimental demonstration of the roles of bacteria and bacterivorous protozoa in plankton nutrient cycles. Hydrobiol 159 (1): 27-40
- Caron DA, Peele ER, Lim EL, Dennett MR (1999) Picoplankton and nanoplankton and their trophic coupling in surface waters of the Sargasso Sea south of Bermuda. Limnol Oceanogr 44 (2): 259-272
- Clarke A (1988) Seasonality in the Antarctic marine environment. Comp Biochem Physiol 90B (3): 461-473

- Clarke A (1991) What is cold adaptation and how should we measure it? Am Zool 31: 81-92
- Clarke A (1998) Temperature and strategies: an introduction to cold ocean physiology. In: Pörtner HO, Playle RC (eds) Cold Ocean Physiology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p 3-30
- Clarke A, Leakey RJG (1996) The seasonal cycle of phytoplankton, macronutrients, and the microbial community in a nearshore Antarctic marine ecosystem. Limnol Oceanogr 41(6): 1281-1294
- Clarke A, Peck L (1991) The physiology of polar marine zooplankton. Polar Res 10: 355-369
- Coffroth MA (1984) Ingestion and incorporation of coral mucus aggregates by a gorgonian soft coral. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 17: 193-199
- Coma R, Gili JM, Zabala M, Riera T (1994) Feeding and prey capture cycles in the aposymbiotic gorgonian *Paramuricea clavata*. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 115: 257-270
- Coma R, Ribes M, Zabala M, Gili JM (1995) Reproduction and cycle of gonadal development in the Mediterranean gorgonian *Paramuricea clavata*. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 117: 173-183
- Comiso JC, McClain CR, Sullivan CW, Lyan JP, Leonard CL (1993) Coastal zone colour scanner pigment concentrations in the Southern Ocean and relationships to geophysical surface features. J Geophys Res 98-C2: 2419-2451
- Davenport J (1997) Comparisons of the biology of the intertidal subantarctic limpets *Nacella concinna* and *Kerguelnella lateralis*. J Molluscan Stud 63(1): 39-48
- Douglas DJ (1984) Microautoradiography-based enumeration of photosynthetic picoplankton with estimates of carbon specific growth rates. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 14: 223-228
- Edler L (1979) Recommendations on methods for marine biological studies in the Baltic Sea. Phytoplankton and chlorophyll. BMB Publ 5: 1-38
- Fabricius KE, Benayahu Y, Genin A (1995) Herbivory in asymbiotic soft corals. Science 268: 90-92

- Fenchel T (1984) Suspended marine bacteria as a food source. In: Fasham MR (ed) Flows of energy and material in marine ecosystems theory and practice. Plenum Press, New York, p 301-315
- Fry JC (1988) Determination of biomass. In: Austin B (ed) Methods in aquatic bacteriology. Wiley and Sons, New York, p 27-72
- Galéron J, Herman RL, Arnaud PM, Arntz WE, Hain S, Klages M (1992) Macrofaunal communities on the continental shelf and slope of the southeastern Weddell Sea, Antarctica. Polar Biol 12: 283-290
- Gasol JM, del Giorgio P (2000) Using flow cytometry for counting natural planktonic bacteria and understanding the structure of planktonic bacterial communities. Sci Mar 64: 197-224
- Gast V (1985) Bacteria as food source for microzooplankton in the Schlei Fjord and Baltic Sea with special reference to ciliates. Mar Ecol 22: 107-120
- Gast GJ, Jonkers PJ, van-Duyl FC, Bak RPM (1999) Bacteria, flagellates and nutrients in island fringing coral reef waters: Influence of the ocean, the reef and eutrophication. Bull Mar Sci 65 (2): 523-538
- Gili JM, Hughes RG (1995) Ecology of benthic hydroids. Oceanogr Mar Biol Annu Rev 33: 351-422
- Gili JM, Coma R, Orejas C, López-González P, Zabala M (in press) Antarctic benthic suspension feeder communities within a world-wide approach. Polar Biol
- Goldman JC, Caron DA (1985) Nutrient regeneration in the marine microbial food web: bacteria versus microflagellates. EOS 66: 1334
- Goldman JC, Caron DA, Anderson OK, Dennett MR (1985) Nutrient cycling in a microflagellate food chain. I. Nitrogen dynamics. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 24: 231-242
- Graf G (1992) Benthic-pelagic coupling: A benthic view. Oceanogr Mar Biol Ann Rev 30: 149-190
- Grasshoff, K (1976) Methods of seawater analysis. Verlag Chemie, Weinheim, New York
- Gruzov EN (1977) Seasonal alterations in coastal communities in the Davis Sea. In: Llano GA (ed) Adaptations within Antarctic Ecosystems. Smithsonian Press, Washington, p 263-278

- Gutt J, Starmans A (1998) Structure and biodiversity of megabenthos in the Weddell and Lazarev Seas (Antarctic): Ecological role of physical parameters and biological interactions. Polar Biol 20: 229-247
- Hedgpeth JW (1977) The Antarctic marine ecosystem. In: Llano GA (ed) Adaptations within Antarctic Ecosystems, Gulf Publ Co, Houston, Texas, p 3-10
- Herndl GJ, Velimirov B (1986) Microheterotrophic utilisation of mucus released by the Mediterranean coral *Cladocora cespitosa*. Mar Biol 90: 363-369
- Hewes GA, Holm-Hansen O, Sakshaug E (1985) Alternate carbon pathways at lower trophic levels in the Antarctic food web. In: Siegfried WR, Condy P, Laws RM (eds). Antarctic Nutrient Cycles and Food Webs. Springer, Berlin, p 277-283
- Jochem FJ, Mathot S, Quéguiner B (1995) Size-fractioned primary production in the open Southern Ocean in austral summer. Polar Biol 15: 381-392
- Johnson PW, Sieburth JMcN (1979) Chrococcoid cyanobacteria in the sea: a ubiquitous and diverse phototrophic biomass. Limnol Oceanogr 24: 928-935
- Joint IR, Pomroy AJ (1983) Production of picoplankton and small nanoplankton in the Celtic Sea. Mar Biol 77 19-27
- Jørgensen CB (1990) Bivalve Filter Feeding: Hydrodynamics, Bioenergetics, Physiology and Ecology. Olsen & Olsen, Fredensborg
- Klöser H, Ferreyra G, Schloss I, Mercuri G, Laturnus F, Curtosi A (1994)
 Hydrography of Potter Cove, a small, fjord-like inlet on King George Island (South Shetlands). Estuar Coast Shelf Sci-38: 523-537
- Kopczynska EE (1992) Dominance of microflagellates over diatoms in the Antarctic areas of deep vertical mixing and krill concentration. J Plankton Res 14: 1031-1054
- Kowalke J (1999) Filtration in Antarctic ascidians striking a balance. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 242: 233-244
- Kowalke J (2000) Ecology and energetics of two Antarctic sponges. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 247: 85-97

- Larsson U, Hagström Å (1982) Fractioned phytoplankton primary production, exudate release and bacterial production in a Baltic eutrophication gradient. Mar Biol 67: 57-70
- Lasker HR (1981) A comparison of the particulate feeding abilities of three species of gorgonian soft coral. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 5: 61-67
- Lasker HR, Gottfried MD, Coffroth MA (1983) Effects of depth on the feeding capabilities of two octocorals. Mar Biol 73: 73-78
- Laws EA, Redalje DG, Haas LW, Bienfang PK, Eppley RW, Harrison WG, Karl DM, Marra J (1984) High phytoplankton growth and production rates in oligotrophic Hawaiian coastal waters. Limnol Oceanogr 29(6): 1161-1169
- Li WKW, Subba Rao DV, Harrison WG, Smith JC, Cullen JJ, Irwin B, Platt T (1983) Autotrophic picoplankton in the tropical ocean. Science 219: 292-295
- Murdock GR (1978) Digestion, assimilation, and transport of food in the gastrovascular cavity of a gorgonian octocoral (Cnidaria, Anthozoa). Bull Mar Sci 28: 354-362
- Nöthig EM, von Bodungen B, Sui Q (1991) Phyto- and protozooplankton biomass during austral summer in surface waters of the Weddell Sea and vicinity. Polar Biol 11: 293-304
- Orejas C, Gili JM, López-González PJ, Arntz WE (in press) Feeding strategies and diet composition of 4 species of Antarctic benthic cnidarians. Polar Biol DOI 10.1007/s003000100272
- Orejas C, López-González PJ, Gili JM, Teixidó N, Gutt J, Arntz WE (submitted) Density and reproduction patterns of *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum* (Cnidaria, Octocorallia) in the Weddell Sea (Antarctica) Mar Ecol Progr Ser
- Peck LS, Morris DJ, Clarke A, Holmes LJ (1986) Oxygen consumption and nitrogen excretion in the Antarctic brachiopod *Liothyrella uva* (Kackson, 1912) under simulated winter conditions. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 104: 203-213
- Peck L, Clarke A, Holmes L (1987) Size, shape and the distribution of organic matter in the recent Antarctic brachiopod *Liothyrella uva*. Lethaia 20(1): 33-40

- Pile A, Patterson MR, Witman JD (1996) In situ grazing on plankton < 10 μm by the boreal sponge *Mycale lingua*. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 141: 95-102
- Pile AJ, Patterson MR, Savarese M, Chernykh VY, Fialkov VA (1997) Trophic effects of sponge feeding within Lake Baikal's littoral zone. II. Sponge abundance, diet, feeding efficiency, and carbon flux. Limnol Oceanogr 42: 178-184
- Platt T, Subba Rao DV, Irwin B 1983 Photosynthesis of picoplankton in the oligotrophic ocean. Nature 301: 702-704
- Porter KG, Feig YS (1980) The use of DAPI for identifying and counting aquatic microflora. Limnol Oceanogr 25: 943-948
- Porter KG, Sherr EB, Sherr BF, Pace M, Sanders RW (1985) Protozoa in planktonic food webs. J Protozool 32 (3): 409-415
- Ribes M, Coma R, Gili JM (1998a) Heterotrophic feeding by gorgonian corals with symbiotic zooxanthella. Limnol Oceanogr 43(6): 1170-1179
- Ribes M, Coma R, Gili JM (1998b) Seasonal variation of in situ feeding rates by the temperate ascidian *Halocynthia papillosa*. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 175: 201-213
- Ribes M, Coma R, Gili JM (1999a) Heterogeneous feeding in benthic suspension feeders: the natural diet and grazing rate of the temperate gorgonian *Paramuricea clavata* (Cnidaria: Octocorallia) over a year cycle. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 183: 125-137
- Ribes M, Coma R, Gili JM (1999b) Natural diet and grazing rate of the temperate sponge *Dysydea avara* (Demospongiae, Dendroceratida) throughout an annual cycle. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 176: 179-190
- Riisgård HU (1991) Suspension feeding in the polychaete *Nereis diversicolor*. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 70: 29-37
- Riisgård HU, Jensen AS, Jürgensen C (1998) Hydrography, near-bottom currents, and grazing impact of the filter-feeding ascidian *Ciona intestinalis* in a Danish fjord. *Ophelia* 49 (1): 1-16
- Riisgård, HU, Larsen PS (in press) Review of zoobenthic filter-feeding, an ecophysiological approach. J Sea Res
- Sahade R, Tatián M, Kowalke J, Kühne S, Esnal GB (1998) Benthic faunal associations on soft substrates at Potter Cove, King Georg Island, Antarctica. Polar Biol 19: 85-91

- Sakshaug E, Holm-Hansen O (1984) Factors governing pelagic production in polar oceans. In: Holm-Hansen O, Bolis L, Gilles R (eds). Marine phytoplankton and productivity. Lecture Notes on Coastal and Estuarine Studies, Springer, Berlin, 8:1-18
- Sanderson WG, Thorpe JP, Clarke A (1994) A preliminary study of feeding rates in the Antarctic cheilostome bryozoan *Himantozoum antarcticum*.
 In: Hayward PJ, Ryland JS, Taylor PD (eds) Biology and Paleobiology of Bryozoans, Olsen & Olsen, Fredensborg, p 167-170
- Scharek R, Nöthig E (1995) Das einzellige Plankton im Ozean der Arktis und Antarktis. In: Hempel I, Hempel G (eds) Biologie der Polarmeere, Gustav Fischer Verlag, Jena, p 116-127
- Smetacek V, Scharek R, Nöthig EM (1990) Seasonal variation in the pelagial and its relationship to the life history cycle of krill. In: Kerry KR, Hempel G (eds) Antarctic Ecosystems. Ecological Change and Conservation, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, 427: 103-114
- Socal G, Nöthig EM, Bianchi F, Boldrin A, Mathot S, Rabitti S (1997) Phytoplankton and particulate matter at the Weddell/Scotia Confluence (47°W) in summer 1989, as a final step of a temporal succession (EPOS project) Polar Biol 18: 1-9

Sokal RR, Rohlf FJ (1995) Biometry. WH Freeman and Co., San Francisco

- Starmans A, Gutt J, Arntz WE (1999) Mega-epibenthic communities in Arctic and Antarctic shelf areas. Mar Biol 135: 269-280
- Stoeckner JG, Antia NJ (1986) Algal picoplankton from marine and freshwater ecosystems: a multidisciplinary perspective. Can J Fish Aq Sci 43: 2472-2503
- Stuart V, Klump DW (1984) Evidence for food-resource partitioning by kelpbed filter feeders. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 16: 27-37
- Takahashi M, Kikuchi K, Hara Y (1985) Importance of picocyanobacteria biomass (unicellular, blue-green algae) in the phytoplankton population of the coastal waters off Japan. Mar Biol 89: 63-69
- Tsuda A, Kawaguchi S (1997) Microzooplankton grazing in the surface waters of the Southern Ocean during an austral summer. Polar Biol 18: 240-245

- Utermöhl H (1931) Neue Wege in der quantitativen Erfassung des Planktons. Verh Int Ver Theor Angew Limnol 5: 567-596
- Utermöhl L (1958) Zur Vervollkommnung der quantitativen Phytoplankton-Methodik. Mitt Int Ver Theor Angew Limnol 9: 1-38
- Voß J (1988) Zoogeographie und Gemeinschaftsanalyse des Makrozoobenthos des Weddellmeeres (Antarktis). Ber Polarforsch 45: 1-145
- Waterbury JB, Watson SW, Guillard RRW, Brand LE (1979) Widespread occurrence of a unicellular marine planktonic cyanobacteria. Nature 277: 293-294
- Weber LH, El-Sayed SZ (1987) Contribution of the net, nano- and picoplankton to the phytoplankton standing crop and primary productivity in the Southern Ocean. J Plankton Res 9: 973-994
- Yahel G, Post AF, Fabricius K, Vaulot DM, Vaulot D, Genin A (1998) Phytoplankton distribution and grazing near coral reefs. Limnol Oceanogr 43 (4): 551-563



Fig. 1 Studied species. a Primnoisis antarctica, b Primnoella sp.



Fig. 2 Sampling area in the High Antarctic Weddell Sea.



Fig. 3 Experimental device for the feeding experiments. A: Aquarium container, B.1.: Experimental chamber, B.2.: Control chamber, C: Pump, D: Specimen.


Fig. 4 Net growth rates (h^{-1}) (mean<u>+</u>SE) in the control (white bars) and experimental (dotted bars) chamber for *Primnoisis antarctica* (a) and *Primnoella* sp. (b) for each plankton group, POC and DOC. Size range of each plankton group is indicated. Bars indicated standard error.



Fig. 5 Ingestion rate (cells d⁻¹) vs. prey concentration (cells l⁻¹) of *Primnoisis antarctica* (a) and *Primnoella* sp. (b) for each prey group. Logarithmic scale for both variables.



Fig. 6 Prey concentration split by each group in the respective environment where the gorgonians were sampled for a): *Primnoisis antarctica* and b): *Primnoella* sp. Black bars show prey concentration in % of cells and white bars in % of mg C.



Fig. 7 Ingested prey of each plankton group in % for a): *Primnoisis antarctica* and b): *Primnoella* sp. Black bars show ingested prey in % of cells and white bars in % of mg C.

Table 1 Number and type of zooplankton prey items found in the gastrovascular cavities of *Primnoisis antarctica*, and content in carbon of each prey item (expressed in mg C). (Source for conversion in mg C: Edler (1979) and S. Schiel (pers. Comm.)).

Colony	N° of dissected	Prey number	Prey type	mg C/prey item
	polyps			
1	15	0	_	-
2	15	0	-	-
3	15	1	Tinntinid	~ 3.2x10 ⁻³
4	15	0	-	-
5	15	2	Nauplii	~7.5x10 ⁻³
			Tinntinid	~ 3.2x10 ⁻³
6	15	0	-	-
7	15	0	-	-
8	15	1	Inv. larva	~7.2x10⁻⁵
9	15	0	-	-
10	15	0	-	-
11	15	4	Nauplii (3)	~7.5x10 ⁻³ - 18.0x10 ⁻³
			Tintinnid	~ 3.2x10⁻³
12	15	1	Nauplius	~11.0x10 ⁻³
13	15	0	-	-

Primnoella sp Primnoisis antarctica C_{control} C_{control} Cexperiment Cexperiment (cells ml⁻¹) (cells ml⁻¹) (cells ml⁻¹) (cells ml⁻¹) Bacteria 1.25x10⁵<u>+</u>0.31 0.53x10⁶<u>+</u>6.57 2.28x10⁶±0.61 4.49x10⁶+2.15 Nanoflagellates 202.48<u>+</u>103.79 614.38<u>+</u>388.96 265.16<u>+</u>79.77 341.41<u>+</u>144.83 Ciliates 0.18+0.05 0.24+0.06 0.94+0.52 0.42+0.20 Dinoflagellates 3.12<u>+</u>0.10 2.86<u>+</u>0.76 13.22<u>+</u>9.33 9.83<u>+</u>7.89 0.54<u>+</u>0.10 Nitzschia spp. 0.48<u>+</u>0.39 13.22<u>+</u>9.33 5.39<u>+</u>7.80 8.77<u>+</u>2.46 Fragillariopsis 6.19<u>+</u>2.60 37.82<u>+</u>39.81 31.16<u>+</u>24.95 spp. Centric diatoms 0.45<u>+</u>0.09 0.31<u>+</u>0.06 0.43<u>+</u>0.31 0.30±0.17 $(mg C ml^{-1})$ (mg C ml⁻¹) $(mg C ml^{-1})$ $(mg C ml^{-1})$ POC 0.06<u>+</u>0.04 0.17<u>+</u>0.05 0.14<u>+</u>0.05 0.24<u>+</u>0.18 DOC 2.01x10⁻⁶+1.55 2.14x10⁻⁶+1.28 0.24+0.22 0.24<u>+</u>0.23

Table 2 Initial values (control) and mean values of experimental chambers. Control concentration used as environmental concentrations for the different groups and components of the fine fraction of seston.

Table 3 Ingestion rates of Primnoisis antarctica and Primnoella sp. For each prey plankton group. Values are expressed as mean (\pm SD), in cells polyp⁻¹, mg C polyp⁻¹ d⁻¹, mg C mg DW h⁻¹, mg C mg AFDW h⁻¹.

P. antarctica					
	Ciliates	Dinoflagellates	Nitzschia spp.	Fragillariopsis spp.	Total
Ingestion (cells polyp ⁻¹ d ⁻¹)	0.12 <u>+</u> 1.66	2.20x10 ± 4.64	1.63x10 ⁻¹ + 1.64	8.38x10 <u>+</u> 3.87	5.20×10 ± 0.45
Ingestion (mgC polyp ⁻¹ d ⁻¹)	3.53×10 ^{.7} ± 4.93	9.99x10 ^{.7} <u>+</u> 2.02	6.22×10 ^{.9} <u>+</u> 38	1.13x10 ⁻⁶ ±0.69	1.11×10 ⁻⁵ <u>+</u> 0.01
Ingestion (mgC mg DW d ⁻¹)	3.97x10 ⁻⁷ ± 5.55	1.12x10 ⁻⁶ <u>+</u> 2.27	6.99x10 ^{.9} ± 43	1.27x10 ⁻⁶ <u>+</u> 0.78	1.25×10 ⁻⁵ ±0.12
Ingestion (mgC mg AFDW d ⁻¹)	4.21x10 ⁻⁷ ± 5.88		7.41×10 ^{.9} ± 44.98	1.34x10 ⁻⁶ <u>+</u> 0.83	1.32×10 ⁻⁵ <u>+</u> 0 13

Primnoalla sp.	Ciliates	Dinoflagellates	Centric diatoms	Total
Ingestion (cells polyp ⁻¹ d ⁻¹)	3.22x10 ± 3.11	4.87x10 ¹ ± 5.18	8.84x10 ⁻¹ ± 1.80	26.67x10 ¹ ± 3.59
Ingestion (mgC polyp ⁻¹ d ⁻¹)	9.00×10 ⁻⁸ <u>+</u> 0.10	1.58x10 ⁻⁵ <u>+</u> 1.51	1.92x10 ⁻⁷ ±7.02	1.34x10 ⁻⁴ <u>+</u> 0.12
Ingestion (mgC mg DW d ⁻¹)	1.41x10 ⁻⁵ <u>+</u> 1.58	2.47x10 ⁻⁵ ± 2.36	2.22x10 ⁻⁷ ±12	2.09x10 ⁻⁴ ± 0.19
Ingestion (mgC mg AFDW d ⁻¹)	2.37x10 ⁻⁵ <u>+</u> 2.66	4.16x10 ^{.5} <u>+</u> 3.97	3.74x10 ⁻⁷ ±19	3.52x10 ⁻⁴ ± 0.31

Table 4 Comparative concentration values $(x10^3 \text{ cells mI}^{-1})$ of the different groups which constitute the fine fraction of seston in different seas at different latitudes. The sign (-) means no data are available.

Baltic Sea 10-20 30-80 - - Larsson Cetic Sea 0-50 200-600 - - - - - Larsson Cetic Sea 0-50 200-600 - - - - - Waterb Woods Hole Harbour - \pm 1 - 2-360 - - - - Waterb Woods Hole Harbour - 2-360 - 2-360 - - - Waterb Woods Hole Harbour - 2-360 - 2-360 - - Waterb Nova Scotis, coastal slope and eddy - 2-360 - - Waterb Naraganget Bay 50-100 1,800 - - - - Johnson Naraganget Bay 50-100 1,800 - - - Johnson Materba - 1.64 - - - Johnson Japan, coastal waters - 0-	Location	Depth (m)	Picoplankton	Picoeucaryotes	Autotrophic nanoeucaryotes	Heterotrophic nanoeucaryotes	Source
Celic Sea 0.50 $200-600$ $ -$ <t< td=""><td>Baltic Sea</td><td>10-20</td><td>30-80</td><td></td><td>ł</td><td>1</td><td>Larsson & Hangström 1982</td></t<>	Baltic Sea	10-20	30-80		ł	1	Larsson & Hangström 1982
Gulf Stream (Stope Water/North) \pm \pm 1 $ \pm$ 1 $ -$ Water/North Woods Hole Harbour - 2-360 - 2-360 - - Water/North Woods Hole Harbour - 2-360 - 2-360 - - Water/North Nova Scotia, coastal stope and eddy -200 4-50 - - - Water/North Naraganget Bay 50-100 1,800 - - - - - Johnso Naraganget Bay 50-100 1,800 - - - - Johnso Japan, coastal waters 0-70 <1-100	Celtic Sea	0-50	200-600	ı	,	<1 - 7	Joint & Pomroy 1983
Woods Hole Harbour - 2-360 - 2-360 - Watch Mode Scotia, coastal slope and eddy -200 4-50 - Watch Marganget Nova Scotia, coastal slope and eddy -200 4-50 - - - Dougla: Rhode Island shelf 50-100 495 - - - - Dougla: Narraganget Bay 50-100 1,800 - - - - Dougla: Japan, coastal waters 0-70 <1-100	Gulf Stream (Slope Water/North)	,	-	ı	,	1	Waterbury et al. 1979
Nova Scotia, coastal slope and eddy -200 4-50 - - Douglas Rhode Island shelf 50-100 495 - - - - Johnson Narraganget Bay 50-100 495 - - - - Johnson Japan, coastal waters 50-100 1,800 - - - - Johnson Japan, coastal waters 0-70 <1-100	Noods Hole Harbour		2-360	t		ı	Waterbury et al. 1979
Rhode Island shelf 50-100 495 - - Johnson Narraganget Bay 50-100 1,800 - - - - Johnson Japan, coastal waters 0-70 <1-100	Nova Scotia, coastal slope and eddy	~200	4-50	1		ı	Douglas 1984
Naraganget Bay 50-100 1,800 - - Johnson Japan, coastal waters 0-70 <1-100	Rhode Island sheif	50-100	495		,	ı	Johnson & Sieburth 1979
Japan, coastal waters 0-70 <1-100 - - Takaha Mediterranean Sea 15 516 1.64 <1	Narraganşett Bay	50-100	1,800	ı	1	I	Johnson & Sieburth 1979
Mediterranean Sea 15 516 1.64 <1 <1 <1 Ribes e Azores 65-89 4-17 - - - Platt et Azores 65-89 4-17 - - - Platt et Red Sea (Aqaba Gulf) 1-50 - - - Platt et Costa Rica Dome 0-80 500-1500 - - Vahele Peru and Arabian Sea 200-400 0-01-0.3 - - Ui et al. Hawaii 0-30 690 - - - Uaterb Signy Island (Antarctica) 20-25 304 - - - Clarke:	Japan, coastal waters	0-70	<1-100	ı	,	ļ	Takahashi et al. 1985
Azores 65-89 4-17 - - Platt et Red Sea (Aqaba Gulf) 1-50 - <1-8	Mediterranean Sea	15	516	1.64	۲	£	Ribes et al. 1998
Red Sea (Aqaba Gulf) 1-50 - Yahele Costa Rica Dome 0-80 500-1500 - - - Li et al. Costa Rica Dome 0-80 500-1500 - - - Li et al. Peru and Arabian Sea 200-400 <0.01-0.3	Azores	65-89	4-17	ı		ı	Platt et al. 1983
Costa Rica Dome 0-80 500-1500 - Li et al. Peru and Arabian Sea 0-80 <0.01-0.3	Red Sea (Aqaba Gulf)	1-50	,	<1-8	ı	ł	Yahei et al. 1998
Peru and Arabian Sea 200-400 <0.01-0.3 - - Vaterbulation Hawaii 0-30 690 - <1	Costa Rica Dome	0-80	500-1500	·		ı	Li et al. 1983
Hawaii 0-30 690 - <1 ±1 Laws et Signy Island (Antarctica) 20-25 304 - Clarke (^D eru and Arabian Sea	200-400	<0.01-0.3	ı		١	Waterbury et al. 1979
Signy Island (Antarctica) 20-25 304 - - Clarke <i>I</i> Minimum Comparison 260-200 117.252 <1	Hawaii	0-30	690		₽	Ŧı	Laws et al. 1984
111-1-11 <1 This stu	Signy Island (Antarctica)	20-25	304	3	ı	ı	Clarke & Leakey 1996
	Veddell Sea	250-300	117-252	۲.	ł	۶	This study

Covadonga Orejas¹, Pablo José López-González², Josep Maria Gili³, Nuria Teixidó¹, Julian Gutt¹, Wolf E Arntz¹

Distribution and reproductive ecology of the Antarctic octocoral *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum* in the Weddell Sea

1 Alfred Wegener Institut für Polar- und Meeresforschung, Columbusstraße,27568 Bremerhaven, Germany

2 Laboratorio de Biología Marina,Facultad de Biología, Universidad de Sevilla, Reina Mercedes, 6, 41012 Sevilla, Spain

3 Institut de Ciències del Mar,Plaça del Mar s/n, 08039 Barcelona, Spain

Abstract

Ainigmaptilon antarcticum (Molander, 1929) is one of the most common octocoral species of the family Primnoidae in Antarctic benthic communities of the Weddell Sea. Little is known about the ecology of this and other primnoid species, despite that this group is one of the dominant components of the benthos. We studied the spatial distribution, density and reproductive ecology of A. antarcticum using samples (colonies) collected during the EASIZ (Ecology of the Antarctic Sea Ice Zone) cruises I, II, and III, (1996, 1998 and 2000). Samples were taken using Agassiz and bottom trawls between 150 and 600 m depth and using a Remotely Operated Vehicle (ROV, video recording transects). A. antarcticum showed a very patchy distribution with a mean density of 12.0 ind.100m⁻² (SD+ 22.6) in the study area. This gorgonian species is gonochoric with a sex ratio of 1:1. Two size classes of oocytes in different developmental stages were observed in summer and autumn, ranging from 25 to 700 µm in summer, and from 20 to 900 µm in autumn. Differences in developmental stages among different zones of the colony were observed. The apical and medial part showed the highest fecundity. The distribution of gonad-size differed between summer and autumn; our results suggest that this species has a continuous gametogenesis of nearly two years duration with a seasonal spawning period in autumn. The relative frequency of the largest oocyte size class decreased in the autumn samples. No larvae were found. The results are discussed in the context of the relationship between reproductive strategies of marine invertebrates and environmental factors.

Introduction

Antarctic shelf communities are dominated by sessile invertebrates (Dayton et al. 1974, White 1984, Voß 1988). Anthozoans (mainly gorgonians) are the second most dominant macrobenthic taxon in abundance in the

Weddell Sea (Starmans et al. 1999). Moreover, anthozoans, and especially gorgonians, are also common organisms in sublittoral benthic communities in temperate (e.g. Weinberg 1979, 1980, Gili et al. 1989) and tropical areas (e.g. Kinzie 1973, Grigg 1977, Muzik 1982, Lasker et al. 1983, Yoshioka & Yoshioka 1989). Despite the importance of gorgonians in polar regions, studies of their basic ecology have been very few in polar regions (e.g. Arntz et al. 1994).

The distributional patterns of many invertebrate benthic megafauna species has been shown to be patchy (e.g. Picken 1980, Miller 1998). Contagious patterns of distribution have been found for anthozoans (Williams 1976), and several octocoral species also show a patchy and clumped distribution (e.g. Chia & Crawford 1973, Langton et al. 1990, Rice et al. 1992). However, most of these studies have been undertaken in tropical and temperate regions (but see Gili et al. 1999).

Similarly, patterns of reproduction of anthozoans have been well studied in temperate and tropical regions (e.g. Weinberg & Weinberg 1979, Hughes & Jackson 1980, Martin 1982, Brazeau & Lasker 1990, Coma et al. 1995a). Gonochorism and a sex ratio of 1:1 have been considered the general pattern for this group in the Caribbean Sea (Kinzie 1970, 1974, Goldberg & Hamilton 1974, Behety-González & Guardiola 1979, Martin 1982), the Pacific Ocean (Grigg 1977) and the Mediterranean Sea (Coma et al. 1995a). Other important reproductive features are seasonality in gamete production and size at first reproduction (Sebens 1982, Hughes & Cancino 1985). Some work has been done on reproductive patterns of deep-sea cnidarians, mainly actinians (e.g. Van Praet 1990, Van Praet et al. 1990), zoantharians (Muirhead et al. 1986) and sea pens (e.g. Rice et al. 1992, Tyler et al. 1995, Eckelbarger et al. 1998), however, information on polar species is scarce (e.g. Arntz et al. 1992, Barthel & Gutt 1992, Poulin & Féral 1996, Brito et al. 1997, Barnes & Clarke 1998). To our knowledge, the study of the gorgonian Thouarella variabilis (Brito et al. 1997) provides the only data on reproductive ecology available for Antarctic gorgonians so far,

although descriptive information on reproductive modes of some Antarctic octocorals was first obtained a long time ago (in Brito et al. 1997: e.g. Wright & Studer 1889, Versluys 1906). These papers suggest that gonochorism and brooding seem to be common features of Antarctic and deep-sea octocorals.

The objectives of this study were to: (1) determine patterns of density and spatial distribution of the Antarctic gorgonian *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum*, and (2) describe the reproduction of this species (distribution of gonads within a colony, number of oocytes produced, seasonality in gonad production and spawning). We discuss the relationship between distribution and reproductive output, and compare our results with the patterns described for species of octocorals from other latitudes, as well as with other Antarctic benthic organisms.

Material and methods

This study was carried out in the eastern Weddell Sea (Antarctica; Fig. 1). Sampling was carried out on board of the German RV "Polarstern" (for details on the expeditions see Arntz & Gutt 1997, 1999 and Arntz & Brey, in press), during the EASIZ cruises I (ANT XIII/3, January-March 1996), II (ANT XV/3, January-March 1998) and III (ANT XVII/3; March-May 2000). The sampled area was characterised by Voß (1988), who described the presence of sandy bottoms but also sponge spicules matts, bryozoan debris and a few stones. A high number of taxa, species diversity and evenness are also characteristics of the Kapp Norvegia area.

Spatial patterns of density

Transects were conducted with a Remotely Operated Vehicle (ROV) (for detailed description see Starmans et al. 1999) and recorded using a video camera, at depths ranging between 142 and 363 m. Five transects from EASIZ I and 12 from EASIZ II, each covering areas between 377.6 m^2 and 1695.9 m^2 and corresponding to a total of $13,921.2 \text{ m}^2$, were studied (Table 1). Each transect was split into adjacent areas (sampling units) of

approximately 100 m² and 4 of those sampling units of each transect were randomly selected to obtain density values, in order to avoid statistically dependent samples. The degree of contagious of the population was determined using the variance to mean ratio (S²/ \vec{x}) and Morisita's index of dispersion (I_d) (Morisita 1962). Random spatial distribution is indicated when the value of this index equals 1, while the distribution tends to be contagious as the value becomes greater than 1. Randomness of the null hypothesis was tested by a χ^2 -test at 5% significance level.

Reproduction

Samples were collected with Agassiz, bottom, and benthopelagic trawls, and with a small dredge at depths ranging between 250 and 600 m. All specimens were preserved in 4% formalin prior to further work in the laboratory. A total of 136 colonies (indicated by the presence of the holdfast) were examined for sex ratio. A χ^2 -test was done in order to test for statistically significant differences in the frequency of individuals of both sexes.

Studies on the anatomy of the genus *Ainigmaptilon* (Dean 1926, Molander 1929, Carlgren 1943, Bayer 1954) showed that the polyps tend to fuse at different levels, forming distinct polyp leaves (Fig. 2). The selected "working unit" for all the reproductive studies was the polyp leaf because of the difficulty of isolating the gonadal products from each gastrovascular cavity during dissection (Dean 1926). The selection of the polyp leaf as the working unit was based on preliminary morphological and histological studies which confirmed the discontinuity of the gastrovascular cavities in *A. antarcticum*. Selected polyp-leaves previously fixed in formalin were washed in distilled water, dehydrated in acetone, and subsequently dried with CO₂ in a Balzer CPD 030 Critical Point Dryer for scanning electron microscopy (SEM) morphological studies. Samples were mounted on stubs by a carbon impregnated film, coated with 20 nm gold in a Edwards & Kniese Vakuum Coating System E 306 A, and observed with a Philipps scanning electron

microscope SEM 515 at an acceleration voltage of 10.2 kv. For the histological observations we selected portions of fixed colonies, dehydrated them in butanol (Johansen 1940), and embedded in paraffin wax. 6-10 μ m thick histological sections were mounted, and stained with Ramón y Cajal's Triple Stain (Gabe 1968). The sections were also used to confirm and identify the developmental stages of the gonads.

The rest of the reproductive studies were done using a binocular. After dissection gonads were measured using an eyepiece calibrated against a stage micrometer. The number of polyps per polyp leaf and the number of polyp leaves per colony were counted in 6 colonies collected during EASIZ I (3 females and 3males). The length of sixty polyps per leaf were measured. To determine fecundity (according to the definition given by Lincoln et al. 1998), the number of gonads per polyp in 5 colonies from EASIZ I (3 females) and 5 colonies from EASIZ II (2 males and 3 females) were examined. Total numbers of oocytes and spermatic cysts per polyp leaf were counted in three zones (apical, medial and basal) of the colony (Fig. 2). Two leaves per zone were analysed for each zone of each colony. Oocytes and spermatic cysts counts were done in the summer samples only, in order to avoid the possible error of overlooking gametes released during the autumn season.

In order to determine developmental stages, 11 colonies from EASIZ I (8 females and 3 males), 10 colonies from EASIZ II (5 females and 5 males), and 20 colonies from EASIZ III (10 females and 10 males) were selected. The relatively low number of specimens available for examination was caused by the fragility and the consequent difficulty of obtaining complete colonies. The developmental stage of the gonads was studied in each colony in the apical, medial and basal zones (Fig. 2), following the methodology described by Brazeau & Lasker (1990), Coma et al. (1995b), and Brito et al. (1997). In all the colonies (41), 200 gonads per colony zone were randomly selected and measured.

Our data set for number and size of gonads was not distributed normally, despite different transformations. Since a 3-way ANOVA was necessary to test both individual effects and interactions of the factors cruise, sex and colony zone on gonads size and number, parametric tests were used. In order to achieve a distribution as near as possible to a normal distribution and to meet the homocedasticity assumption, data were subjected to BoxCox transformations (Sokal & Rohlf 1995). In case of significant differences, a Bonferroni/Dunn post-hoc analysis of means was performed. For data transformation and further statistical analyses we used the statistical package Statview (SAS Institute 1998).

Results

Density and distribution

The mean density for all transects was 11.95 ind. 100 m⁻² (SD<u>+</u> 22.61) (Table 1). The high variance (much higher than the mean value) indicated a very patchy distribution for *A. antarcticum*. The average patch size was 33.97 m² (SD<u>+</u> 29.68) (patch area ranged from 3 to 98 m²), and the average number of individuals per patch (excluding zeros) was 16.7 ind. 100 m⁻² (SD<u>+</u> 30.8).

In all transects except one (transect 3, EASIZ II), values of Morisita's Index of dispersion exceeded unity (Table 1) (in 3 other transects density was zero), suggesting that *A. antarcticum* has a contagious distribution. Ananlysis of χ^2 statistic showed that the values of Morisita's Index differed significantly from a random distribution for most of the analysed transects (p<0.05, Table 1). This indicates that *A. antarcticum* is also patchily distributed also at scales smaller (dozens of meters) than the area covered by the transects (Fig. 3). Comparative densities of *A. antarcticum* on three transects revealed a discontinuity in the density values which varied between 0 and 116 ind. 100 m⁻². For example, in station 1 of EASIZ I (see Fig. 3 left),

the lowest abundance in units that showed presence of *A. antarcticum* was 5 ind. 100 m⁻², whereas in the next 200 m 116 ind. 100 m⁻² were recorded.

Reproductive features

All colonies examined were found to be reproductive. *A. antarcticum* is a gonochoric species, and the sex ratio is approximately 1:1 (χ^2 ; p>0.05). The polyp leaves of *A. antarcticum* are dichotomously ramified (Fig. 2). Internally, gastrovascular cavities are longitudinally arranged and separated by thin mesogloea walls covered by the gastrodermic epithelium, although the cavities of contiguous polyps are not always completely separated (Fig. 2). The gonads fill all the available space in the canals (Fig. 2, 4 a, b), and have the general structure shown by other octocorals (Fig. 4 c, d).

Oogenesis is similar to that described for other anthozoans. Alterations in the nucleus do not take place until the oocyte reaches the final size, when the distinct nucleolus and line between germ vesicle and cytoplasm, observed during the early oogenesis, disappear during the maturation of the large oocytes. Mature oocytes are finally detached from the mesenteries. No embryonic or planula stages have been observed in the gastrovascular cavities of the polyp leaves.

The average number of oocytes per single gastrovascular cavity (polyp) was 2.99 (SD±1.88), and the average number of spermatic cysts was 1.46 (SD±1.42). Results of the 3-way ANOVA for number of gonads are shown in Table 2. Significant interactions precluded us from testing for the main effects but the Bonferroni/Dunn post hoc test revealed that there were no significant differences in the average number of gonads per polyp between cruises (Table 2, Fig. 5 a). Differences in the mean number of gonads were found between the medial-basal and the apical-basal zones in males but not in females. Significant differences were also detected between medial-basal and apical-basal zones in EASIZ I. Numbers of gonads between females and males were significantly

Publication 111

different in EASIZ II. Differences in numbers of gonads between females and males have been detected for both cruises in the basal zone.

Results of the 3-way ANOVA for gonad size are shown in Table 3. Again, significant interactions precluded us from testing for the main effects. The Bonferroni/Dunn post hoc test revealed significant differences in gonad size among the three cruises (Table 3, Fig. 5 b). In all cases, the larger gonads of both males and females were located in the apical and medial. Significant differences in gonad size have been detected for both sexes in the three zones (Table 3). Significant differences were also detected among the three zones in EASIZ I and EASIZ II and between medial-basal and apical-basal in EASIZ III. The analysis also showed significant differences in the size of gonads between females and males in all cruises and also among the different levels of the colony (Table 3).

Frequency distributions of the oocytes in females, and of sperm cysts in males, from summer and autumn samples are shown in Fig 6. Two modes in gamete size were clearly distinguishable in females, but were less obvious in males. Summer samples showed a first class of oocytes of about 25-400 μ m in diameter in females, and a second size class, mainly oocytes in the last stages and early embryos of about 400-700 μ m. The largest size class of oocytes was more abundant in the apical and medial zones of the colonies, whereas those between 25 and 400 μ m predominantly occurred in the basal part (Fig. 6). In both cases the first mode was larger than the second one. The autumn samples for females presented almost only one distinct mode, which corresponded to the first summer mode (size). The first size class ranging between 25 and 400 μ m in the summer samples showed a displacement to a larger diameter in both sexes in autumn.

In males it was possible to distinguish only one mode both in summer and autumn. In summer, the size of spermatic cysts ranged between <50-1000 μ m, while in autumn the size range was no so widespread (Fig. 6). The size of the spermatic cysts also varied between seasons for the different zones of the colony. In the autumn samples the sizes of the spermatic cysts were homogeneous among zones of the colony, while in summer smaller spermatic cysts were more abundant in the basal zone.

Discussion

Distribution and Reproductive patterns

The density and spatial distributional patterns observed for *A. antarcticum* in the Weddell Sea are similar to those observed in other Antarctic gorgonians (Gili et al. 1999). The low mean densities form a strong contrast with the high densities typically observed for shallow water and continental shelf gorgonians in temperate and tropical regions (e.g , Kinzie 1973, Grigg 1977, Gili & Ros 1985).

Density and fecundity at the polyp level seem to be inversely correlated in benthic cnidarians. For example *Umbellula lindahli* exhibits very low densities but high fecundity at the polyp level (Tyler et al. 1995). Conversely, the pennatulacean *Ptilosarcus guerney* presents high densities and fecundity is very low at the polyp level (but high at the colony level) (Chia & Crawford 1973). *A. antarcticum* seems to follow the latter pattern.

The distance between females and males is a critical factor in the reproduction in benthic sessile invertebrates (Coma & Lasker 1997). Pennington (1985) showed that echinoid sperm shed into sea-water is sufficiently diluted, by turbulent mixing, to prevent fertilisation of eggs more than a few metres away from the male. This may not be a major problem in mobile forms such as the echinoids, which can aggregate to ensure successful fertilisation (Young et al. 1992). A similar behaviour has also been observed in the Antarctic limpet *Nacella concinna*, which forms short-term spawning aggregations (Picken 1980). However, in sessile organisms occurring at low densities, distance between females and males must be of paramount importance in determining reproductive success. The aggregated (contagious) distribution observed in many sessile benthic invertebrates is thus critical to their successful reproduction (Rice et al. 1992). Aggregated

distributions have been reported for cnidarian species of continental shelves in other latitudes (e.g. *Kophobelemnon stelliferum*, Rice et al. 1992, Hecker 1994), and were also found in *A. antarcticum*. Both aggregation and increased fecundity may favour reproduction success, although other factors, such as synchrony of spawning, may positively affect fertilisation of this freespawning species (e.g Langton et al. 1987).

Fecundity

Our data are comparable with results from studies of anthozoans from other latitudes. *A. antarcticum* exhibits a reproductive strategy characterised by a relatively low number of oocytes per polyp but a high number of polyps in the colony. The different values of gonad number/polyp observed in both sexes arise because not all the polyps contribute the same reproductive effort to the total fecundity of the polyp leaf. This contribution probably depends on the age of the polyps, which correlates with the length of their respective gastrovascular cavities.

Fecundity in gorgonians is frequently correlated with colony size (e.g. Kinzie 1974, Grigg 1977, Wahle 1983, Benayahu & Loya 1984, Coma et al. 1995b). In contrast we did not find a relationship between colony size of A. antarcticum and reproductive effort, but this may be a result of the low number of complete colonies available for examination. A large adult A. antarcticum is capable of producing 17,000 oocytes/colony with a maximum value of 12 oocytes/polyp and this compares favourably with colony oocyte output from other cnidarian species, showing different strategies. Thus, Chia & Crawford (1973) showed that the shallow water sea pen Ptilosarcus guerneyi has a fecundity of 200,000 oocytes/colony and 20-25 oocytes/polyp (this last figure is a rough approximation based on large colonies). The Mediterranean gorgonian Eunicella singularis produces 6,000 planulae/colony with an average of 4 oocytes/polyp, for a medium size female of approximately 35 cm (Weinberg & Weinberg 1979), and the Antarctic gorgonian Thouarella variabilis follows a similar strategy (13,500 ooytes/colony, 1 oocyte/polyp) (rough approximation based on a colony of about 20 cm length and the reproductive data by Brito et al. (1997)). On the other hand, the pennatulacean *Umbellula lindahli* has only 2,000 oocytes/colony (Tyler et al. 1995) but about 200 oocytes/polyp (for a specimen of ten polyps and 30 cm length). A relatively small number of oocytes per polyp can thus be compensated by the high number of polyps in the colony.

Intra-colonial variation in fecundity

Variability in fecundity within an individual colony has been studied frequently in octocorals (e.g. Brazeau & Lasker 1990, Coma et al. 1995a). Similar functional characteristics have been postulated for all segments along a colony branch, on the basis of the branch formation pattern (Brazeau & Lasker 1988), but recent reproductive studies have contradicted this assumption by revealing differences in reproductive effort within individual colonies (Coma et al. 1995b). For example, the tropical gorgonian *Briareum asbestinum* shows a more fecund zone in the central portion of its branches (Brazeau & Lasker 1990), whereas in the Mediterranean *Paramuncea clavata* the apical segments are the most fecund ones (Coma et al. 1995a).

Soong & Lang (1992) postulated that a decreasing fecundity related with increasing branch order might be caused by different capture rates along the colonies, themselves related to differences in access to water flow. The authors suggested that the low food availability in tropical waters could be the cause of the low fecundity of the basal portions of the tropical scleractinians *Acropora cervicornis* and *Porites furcata*. A similar pattern was found in *P. clavata* where polyps at the top of the colonies capture the major number of prey (Coma et al. 1994).

In the Antarctic gorgonian *Thouarella variabilis* (Brito et al. 1997) the distal regions of both male and female colonies contain more polyps in the first reproductive or immature stages, with the mature stages distributed relatively evenly between the middle and proximal regions of the secondary

122

branches. Brito et al. (1997) hypothesised that the polyps in a colony could have different functions, which may explain the different distribution of reproductive polyps along the colony, and that the reproductive polyps enter a quiescent stage receiving the food through the solenia from the most distal non-reproductive polyps in the secondary branches. In *A. antarcticum* the most fecund zones are the apical and medial. Two possible explanations could be considered: (1) prey capture is higher in the upper colony parts and is translated into a higher investment in reproduction, and (2) polyp function might be differentiated throughout the colony (Hughes 1989), which would mean that the basal polyps invest more energy into creating colony structure than in reproduction. At present we do not have the data to verify these two hypotheses.

Gametogenesis

Studies on the duration and seasonality of gametogenesis in octocorals have been undertaken in several geographical areas. Different gametogenesis modes have been observed, related in some cases to biological processes. For example, Dahan & Benayahu (1997) suggested that the two annual relatively persistent phytoplankton blooms at Eilat (Red Sea) supply the metabolic demands for gametogenesis in the soft coral Dendronephthya hemprichi, allowing the year-round gamete release. I n contrast most deep-sea anemones have a seasonal reproductive cycle (e.g. Van Praet 1990, Van Praet et al. 1990), although Rice et al. (1992) could find no evidence of seasonal reproduction in the pennatulacean Kophobelemnon stelliferum at 365 - 1600m depth in the Porcupine Seabight (365-1600 m depth). A reproductive cycle of more than one year has been observed in some octocoral species. This is the case in the tropical gorgonian Plexaura A (Brazeau & Lasker 1989), the alcyonaceans, Lobophytum crassum (Yamazo et al. 1981) and Sarcophytum glaucum (Benayahu & Loya 1986), and in the Mediterranean gorgonian Corallium rubrum (Vighi 1970). A. antarcticum shows two modes in the frequency distribution of the oocytes in summer,

which might correspond to two generations of oocytes. This suggests that the reproductive cycle in this species may last at least 18 months and possibly as long as two years, as has been observed in several deep-sea anemones, alcyonaceans and gorgonians (e.g. Benayahu & Loya 1986, Van Praet 1990, Van Praet et al. 1990).

In contrast to the oocyes, the size frequency distributions of spermatic cysts in *A. antarcticum* did not show a clear division into two size classes. This could indicate a development cycle of less than one-year cycle of development, as has been demonstrated for some soft corals (see Benayahu et al. 1990, Dahan & Benayahu 1997), stony corals (see Harrison & Wallace 1990) and gorgonians, in which spermaries develop quickly to maturity within weeks prior to spawning (Brazeau & Lasker 1989, Coma et al. 1995a).

Similarities have been found in the gametogenesis features of *A. antarcticum* and the deep-sea anthozoan species (e.g. Riemann-Zürneck 1976 for the actiniarian *Actinostola spetsbergensis*). These similarities between Antarctic and deep-sea species have also been observed among other benthic invertebrates (Arntz et al. 1994). Brey et al. (1996) suggested that the reproductive strategies of species living on the Antarctic shelf could be similar to those species living in the deep sea because of the migration of continental shelf species into deeper water at times of maximal glacial extension.

Oocyte size as an indicator of reproductive mode

Number and size of oocytes are related to reproductive modes in octocorals (Coma et al. 1995a). Species with non-feeding, non-pelagic, lecithotrophic larvae, produce a few large eggs that are brooded until the larva is mature (Chia & Crawford 1973). In *A. antarcticum* the maximum oocyte size is 900 μ m in diameter. This is unusually large, suggesting a brooding strategy (Chia & Crawford 1973). In general, large oocyte sizes (usually > 600 μ m) are found in species with internal fertilisation and brooding incubation mode (e.g. *Muricea fruticosa* (Grigg 1977), *Anthelia*

124

glauca (Benayahu & Schleyer 1998) and *Thouarella variabilis* (Brito et al. 1997)). However we did not find any direct evidence whether *A. antarcticum* is either a brooding or a broadcasting species.

The decrease in the frequency of large oocytes is clear between summer and autumn samples indicates that spawning of (presumably non-fertilized) oocytes occurs during late summer and autumn. This would be consistent with observations from other octocoral species at lower latitudes (Table 4); (e.g. Benayahu et al. 1989 for *Heteroxenia fuscescens* and Grigg 1977 *for Muricea californica*). However, differences among geographical regions could also be the result of differences in time invested in egg production as a consequence of local trophic constraints. This might be the case in polar regions, which are characterised by a markedly seasonal primary production. Looking at Fig. 7 it can be seen that in all investigated Antarctic and deep-sea species, the oocytes are big (> 600 μ m), whereas in other regions the range is much wider. However, it is also important to take into account that the information about Antarctic and deep-sea species is still limited, and conclusions may change as more data become available.

Direct and larval development and their ecological implications

Observations of Antarctic octocorals and other invertebrate species during the EASIZ III cruise (autumn-early winter) showed an increased incidence of embryo or larval release, and of numbers of embryos and larvae ready to be released, compared to the summer. According to Starr et al. (1990), spawning in many marine invertebrates is coupled with phytoplankton blooms. This obviously makes sense in species with planktotrophic larvae, which have a seasonal occurrence in the plankton, such as the octocoral *Dendronephthya hemprichi* (Dahan & Benayahu 1997). The presence of planulae in the water column all year round has been recently demonstrated by Stanwell-Smith et al. (1999) at Signy Island, Antarctica. Planktonic embryos in autumn have also been observed in bivalves (see Bosch & Pearse 1998), as well as ripe gonads in echinoderms (Pearse & Giese 1966).

These observations strengthen the idea that many Antarctic invertebrates release lecithotrophic larval during autumn to have juveniles ready to settle during the best feeding (spring and summer) period.

Species with lecithotrophic larvae are less closely coupled to the seasonal phytoplankton bloom because they do not require an external source of nutrition during early development. Hartnoll (1975) observed such a case in the soft coral Alcyonium digitatum, which spawns in mid-winter. The planktonic non-feeding larvae of A. digitatum exhibit a long life span, and for this reason a high potential for dispersal before settling prior to the spring plankton bloom. When the bloom commences, larvae are able to take immediate advantage of the abundant food. Another example of long lived planulae has been observed by Shlesinger & Loya (1991) in the scleractinians Favia favus and Platygyra lamellina, which completely developed their primary polyp 20-24 days and 26-30 days after spawning, respectively. Wilson & Harrison (1998) provided the first data demonstrating that some species of broadcast-spawning reef corals produce larvae with considerable longevity and extended settlement-competition periods, with a maximum value of 78 days having been recorded for Acanthastrea lordhowensis. According to Brito et al. (1997) spawning of the Antarctic gorgonian Thouarella variabilis occurs presumably throughout the Antarctic summer and the swimming planulae settle soon after release. These results are in line with the evidence that the development of the first feeding polyp after larval settlement in gorgonians, and probably also in other sessile invertebrates such as the rhagon stage in sponges, takes longer than previously reported, especially in polar regions (e.g. Simpson 1984). Thus, only the functional polyp will profit from the plankton blooms during the favourable season, together with the planktotrophic larvae produced by other benthic organisms. An extended period of polyp development could be a life cycle strategy to avoid the unfavourable trophic season in polar regions.

In conclusion, *A. antarcticum* is characterized by an extended oogenesis period (more than one year), which agrees with the reduction in

development rates with decreasing temperature as has been demonstrated for a wide range of invertebrate species (reviewed in Pechenik 1987). In *A. antarcticum* spawning seems to be delayed until the autumn-winter season, as we also observed in some *Thoaurella* spp. during the EASIZ III cruise (pers. obs.). The decrease in the relative frequency of large oocytes in autumn has been used as an indicator of the spawning season (following Brondson 1993, Van Praet 1990). The absence of larval stages of *A. antarcticum* during the EASIZ III cruise was surprising, considering that many octocoral species had larvae ready to be released, leaving the reproduction of *A. antarcticum* still as a mystery. The type of fertilization (externally or internally) could not be determined. However, the absence of large oocyte frequency suggest that the process of fertilisation probably occurs in the water layers close to the sea floor during autumn or winter.

Acknowledgements

Financial support for this study was provided by a DAAD fellowship (A/96/13073), by a European Comission fellowship within the programme "Training and Mobility of Researchers" (TMR-CT97-2813), and by CICYT (Spanish Antarctic Research Programme) grants ANT97-1533-E, ANT98-1739-E, and ANT099-1608-E.

We are indebted to Dr. Miriam Fernández, Dr. Thomas Brey and Dr. Andrew Clarke whose comments very much improved the manuscript. We also thank Isabel Alfonso, Christianne Hasemann and Patricia Pinto for their laboratory assistance. The SEM observations were assisted by Kerstin Beyer and Ute Bock. The authors are grateful to many colleagues who helped on board, and especially to officers and crew of RV "Polarstern" for their cooperation and hospitality during the three EASIZ cruises.

Literature

- Arntz WE, Brey T, Gerdes D, Gorny M, Gutt J, Hain S, Klages M (1992)
 Patterns of life history and population dynamics of benthic invertebrates under the high Antarctic conditions of the Weddell Sea. In: Colombo G, Ferrari I, Ceccherelli VU, Rossi R (eds) Marine eutrophication and population dynamics. 25th EMBS Symp, Ferrara, Italy, Sept 1990, Olsen & Olsen, Fredensborg, Denmark, 370: 221-230
- Arntz WE, Brey T, Gallardo VA (1994) Antarctic zoobenthos. Oceanogr Mar Biol Ann Rev 32: 241-304
- Arntz W, Gutt J (1997) The expedition Antarktis XIII/3 (EASIZ I) of RV "Polarstern" to the eastern Weddell Sea in 1996. Ber Polarforsch 249, p 148
- Arntz W, Gutt J (1999) The expedition Antarktis XV/3 (EASIZ II) of RV "Polarstern" to the eastern Weddell Sea in 1998. Ber Polarforsch 301, p 229
- Arntz W, Brey T (in press) The expedition Antarktis XVII/3 (EASIZ III) of RV "Polarstern" to the eastern Weddell Sea in 2000. Ber Polarforsch
- Babcock R (1990) Reproduction and development of the blue coral *Heliopora coerulea* (Alcyonaria: Coenothecalia). Mar Biol 104: 475-481
- Barnes DK, Clarke A (1998) Seasonality of polypide recycling and sexual reproduction in some erect Antarctic bryozoans. Mar Biol 131: 647-658
- Barthel D, Gutt J (1992) Sponge associations in the eastern Weddell Sea. Ant Sci 4: 137-150
- Bayer FM (1954) A new species of the gorgonacean genus *Ainigmaptilon* Dean (Coelenterata: octocorallia). J Wash Acad Sci 40 (9): 295-298
- Behety-González PA, Guardiola M (1979) Ciclo reproductivo de Plexaura homomalla (Esper, 1792) forma kuekenthali Moser, 1921 (Gorgonacea). Acad Ser Cienc Cuba, Biologica 3: 99-104

- Benayahu Y, Loya Y (1984) Life history studies on the Red Sea soft coral *Xenia macrospiculata* Gohar, 1940. I. Annual dynamics of gonadal development. Biol Bull (Woods Hole Mass) 166: 32-43
- Benayahu Y, Loya Y (1986) Sexual reproduction of a soft coral: synchronous and brief annual spawning of *Sarcophyton glaucum* (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833). Biol Bull 170: 32-42
- Benayahu Y, Schleyer MH (1988) Reproduction in Anthelia glauca (Octocorallia: Xeniidae). II. Transmission of algal symbionts during planular brooding. Mar Biol 131: 433-442
- Benayahu Y, Berner T, Achituv Y (1989) Development of planulae within a mesogleal coat in the soft coral *Heteroxenia fuscescens*. Mar Biol 100: 203-210
- Benayahu Y, Weil D, Kleinman M (1990) Radiation of broadcasting and brooding patterns in coral reef alcyonaceans. In: Hoshi M, Yamashita O (eds) Advances in Invertebrate Reproduction, Elsevier, New York, 5: 323-328
- Bosch I, Pearse JP (1988) Seasonal pelagic development and juvenile recruitment of the bivalve *Laternula elliptica* in McMurdo Sound, Antarctica. Am Zool 28: 89A
- Brazeau DA, Lasker HR (1988) Inter- and intraespecific variation in gorgonian colony morphology: Quantifying branching patterns in arborescent animals. Coral Reefs 7: 139-143
- Brazeau DA, Lasker HR (1989) The reproductive cycle and spawning in a Caribbean gorgonian. Biol Bull 176: 1-7
- Brazeau DA, Lasker HR (1990) Sexual reproduction and external brooding by the Caribbean gorgonian *Briareum asbestinum*. Mar Biol 104: 465-474
- Brey T, Dahm C, Gorny M, Klages M, Stiller M, Arntz WE (1996) Do Antarctic benthic invertebrates show an extended level of eurybathy? Ant Sci 8 (1): 3-6

- Brito TAS, Tyler PA, Clarke A (1997) Reproductive biology of the Antarctic octocoral *Thouarella variabilis* Wright and Studer 1889. Proc of the 6th Int Conference on Coelenterate Biology 1995, p 63-69
- Bronsdon SK, Tyler PA, Rice AL, Gage JD (1993) Reproductive biology of two epizoic anemones from the deep North-Eastern Atlantic Ocean. J Mar Biol Ass UK 73: 531-542
- Carlgren, O (1943) Die Alcyonarien-Gattungen *Ainigmaptilon* und *Lycurus*. Kungl. Fysiogr. Salskapets i Lund Forhandl. 13 (10): 1-7
- Chia FS, Crawford BJ (1973) Some observations on gametogenesis, larval development and susbtratum selection of the sea-pen *Ptilosarcus guerneyi*. Mar Biol 23: 73-82
- Coma R, Gili JM, Zabala M, Riera T (1994) Feeding and prey capture cycles in the aposymbiontic gorgonian *Paramuricea clavata*. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 115: 257-270
- Coma R, Ribes M, Zabala M, Gili JM (1995a) Reproduction and cycle of gonadal development in the Mediterranean gorgonian *Paramuricea clavata*. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 117: 173-183
- Coma R, Zabala M, Gili JM (1995b) Sexual reproductive effort in the Mediterranean gorgonian *Paramuricea clavata*. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 117: 185-192
- Coma R, Lasker HR (1997) Effects of spatial distribution and reproductive biology on *in situ* fertilization rates of a broadcast-spawning invertebrate. Biol Bull 193: 20-29
- Dahan M, Benayahu Y (1997) Reproduction of *Dendronephthya hemprichi* (Cnidaria: octocorallia): year-round spawning in an azooxanthellae soft coral. Mar Biol 129: 573-579
- Dayton PK, Robilliard RT, Paine LB, Dayton LB (1974) Biological accomodation in the benthic community at McMurdo Sound, Antarctica. Ecol Monogr 44 (1): 105-128
- Dean I (1926) *Ainigmaptilon haswelli*, n. g. et sp.: a new Alcyonarian type. J Linn Soc Zool 36 (244): 337-344

Eckelbarger KJ, Tyler PA, Langton RW (1998) Gonadal morphology and gametogenesis in the sea pen *Pennatula aculeata* (Anthozoa: Pennatulacea) from the Gulf of Maine. Mar Biol 98 (132): 677-690

Gabe M (1968) Technique Histologique. Massou et Cie Editeurs, Paris

- Gili JM, Ros JD (1985) Estudio cuantitativo de tres poblaciones circalitorales de cnidarios bentónicos. Inv Pesq 49: 323-352
- Gili JM, Murillo J, Ros J (1989) The distribution patterns of benthic cnidarians in the Western Mediterranean. Sci Mar 53: 19-35
- Gili JM, Arntz WE, Filipe P, López P, Orejas C, Ros JD, Teixidó N (1999) The role of benthic suspension feeders in Antarctic communities. In: Arntz WE, Gutt J (eds) The expedition Antarktis XV/3 (EASIZ II) of "Polarstern" to the eastern Weddell Sea in 1998. Ber Polarforsch 301, p 229
- Goldberg W, Hamilton R (1974) The sexual cycle in *Plexaura homomalla*. In: Bayer FM, Weinheimer AJ (eds) Prostaglandins from *Plexaura homomalla*: ecology, utilization, and conservation of a major medical marina resource, University of Florida Press, Coral Gables
- Grigg RW (1977) Population dynamics of two gorgonian corals. Ecology 58: 278-290
- Harrison PL, Wallace CC (1990) Reproduction, dispersal and recruitment of scleractinian corals. In: Dubinsky Z (ed) Ecosystems of the World. Elsevier, Amsterdam, p 133-204
- Hartnoll RG (1975) The annual cycle of *Alcyonum digitatum*. Est Coast Mar Sci 3: 71-78
- Hecker B (1994) Unusual megafaunal assemblages on the continental slope off Cape Hatteras. Deep Sea Res II 41 (4-6): 809-834
- Hughes RG (1989) A functional biology of clonal organisms. Chapman and Hall, London
- Hughes TP, Jackson JBC (1980) Do corals lie about their age? Some demographic consequences of partial predation, fission and fusion. Science 209: 713-715

- Hughes RN, Cancino JM (1985) An ecological overview of cloning in Metazoa. In: Jackson JBC, Buss LW, Cook RE (eds) Population Biology and Evolution of Clonal Organisms. Yale University Press, New Haven, p 153-186
- Johansen D A (1940) Plant microtechniques. McGraw-Hill, New York & London
- Kinzie RA (1970) The ecology of the gorgonians (Cnidaria, Octocorallia) of Discovery Bay, Jamaica. PhD. thesis, Yale University, New Haven, CT
- Kinzie RA (1973) The zonation of West Indian gorgonians. Bull Mar Sci 23: 93-155
- Kinzie RA (1974) Plexaura homomalla: the biology and ecology of a harvestable marine resource. In: Bayer FM, Weinheimer AJ (eds) Prostaglandinas from Plexaura homomalla. Studies in tropical oceanography N° 12. Rosensteil School of Marine and Atmospheric Sciences, Univ. Miami Press, Coral Gables, Florida, p 22-38
- Langton RW, Robinson WE, Schick D (1987) Fecundity and reproductive effort of sea scallops *Placopecten magellanicus* from the Gulf of Maine. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 37: 19-25
- Langton RW, Langton EW, Theroux RB, Uzmann JR (1990) Distribution, behaviour and abundance of sea-pens, *Pennatula aculeata*, in the Gulf of Maine. Mar Biol 107: 463-46
- Lasker HR, Gottfried MD, Goffroth MA (1983) Effects of depth on the feeding capability of two octocorals. Mar Biol 73: 73-78
- Lincoln RJ, Boxshall GA, Clark PF (1998) A Dictionary of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics. 2^a edition, Cambridge University Press
- Martin E (1982) Ciclo reproductivo, proporción sexual y fecundidad del coral blando *Plexaura homomalla* (Esper.) en el mar Caribe Mexicano. (Octocorallia: Plexauridae). An Inst Cienc Mar Limnol Univ Nal Autón Mexico 9: 359-380
- Miller KJ (1998) Short-distance dispersal of black coral larvae: inference from spatial analysis of colony genotypes. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 163: 225-233

- Molander AR (1929) Die Octactiniarien. Further Zoological Results of the Swedish Antarctic Expedition 1901-1903. Vol. II, No. 2
- Morisita M (1962) I_d-index, a measure of dispersion of individuals. Res Popul Ecol Kyoto Univ. 4: 1-7
- Muirhead A, Tyler PA, Thurston MH (1986) Reproductive biology and growth of the genus *Epizoanthus* (Zoanthidea) from the North-East Atlantic. J Mar Biol Ass UK 66: 131-143
- Muzik K (1982) Octocorallia (Cnidaria) from Carrie Bow Cay, Belize. In: Rutzler K, MacIntyre JG (eds) The Atlantic Barrier Reef System at Carrie Bow Cay, Belice I. Structure and communities. Smithson Contrib Mar Sci 12: 309-316
- Pearse JS, Giese AC (1966) Food, reproduction and organic constitution of the common Antarctic echinoid *Sterechinus neumayeri* (Meissner). Biol Bull 130: 387-401
- Pechenik JA (1987) Environmental influences of larval survival and development. In: Giese AC, Pearse JS, Pearse VB (eds) Reproduction of marine invertebrates. Blackwell Scientific, Palo Alto, 9: 551-608
- Pennington JT (1985) The ecology of fertilisation of echinoid eggs: the consequences of sperm dilution, adult aggregation, and synchronous spawning. Biol Bull 169: 417-430
- Picken GB (1980) The distribution, growth, and reproduction of the Antarctic limpet *Nacella (Patinigera) concinna* (Strebel, 1980). J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 42: 71-85
- Poulin È, Féral JP (1996) Why are there so many species of brooding antarctic echinoids? Evolution 50 (2): 820-830
- Rice AL, Tyler PA, Paterson GJL (1992) The pennatulacean *Kophobelemnon* stelliferum (Cnidaria: Octocorallia) in the Porcupine Seabight (Northeast Atlanctic ocean) J Mar Biol Ass UK 72: 417-434
- Riemann-Zürneck K (1976) Reproductive biology, oogenesis and early development in the brood-caring sea anemone Actinostola

spetsbergensis (Anthozoa: Actiniaria). Helgoländer wiss Meeresunters 28: 239-249

- Sebens KP (1982) The limits to indeterminate growth: an optimal size model applied to passive suspension feeders. Ecology 63: 209-222
- Shlesinger Y, Loya Y (1991) Larval development and survivorship in the corals *Favia favus* and *Platygyra lamellina* Hydrobiologia 216/217: 101-108

Simpson TL (1984) The Cell Biology of Sponges. Springer-Verlag. New York

- Sokal RR, Rohlf FJ (1995) Biometry, 2nd ed. Freeman and Co., San Francisco
- Soong K, Lang JC (1992) Reproductive integration in reef corals. Biol Bull 183: 418-431
- Stanwell-Smith D, Peck LIS, Clarke A, Murray AWA, Todd CD (1999) The distribution, abundance and seasonality of pelagic marine invertebrate larvae in the maritime Antarctic. Phil Trans R Soc Lond B 354: 471-484
- Starmans A, Gutt J, Arntz W (1999) Mega-epibenthic communities in Arctic and Antarctic shelf areas. Mar Biol 135: 269-280
- Starr M, Himmelman JH, Therriault JC (1990) Direct coupling of marine invertebrate spawning with phytoplankton blooms. Science 24: 1071-1074
- Tyler PA, Brondson SK, Young CM, Rice AL (1995) Ecology and gametogenic biology of the genus *Umbellula* (Pennatulacea) in the North Atlanctic Ocean. Int Revue Ges Hydrobiol 80: 187-199
- Van Praet M (1990) Gametogenesis and the reproductive cycle in the deepsea anemone *Paracalliactis stephensoni* (Cnidaria: Actiniaria). J Mar Biol Ass UK 70: 163-172
- Van Praet M, Rice AL, Thurston MH (1990) Reproduction in two deep-sea anemones (Actiniaria); *Phelliactis hertwigi* and *P. robusta*. Progr Oceanogr 24: 207-222
- Versluys J (1906) Die Gorgoniden der Siboga Expedition II. Die Primnoidae-Siboga-Exped. Monogr. 13(A):1-187 Vighi M (1970) Ricerche sul ciclo

reproductivo del corallo rosso (*Corallium rubrum* (L.)) del Promontorio di Porfino. Atti Accad Lincei Roma 10 (Ser. 8): 1-26

- Voß J (1988) Zoogeographie und Gemeinschaftsanalyse des Makrozoobenthos des Weddellmeeres (Antarktis). Ber Polarforsch 45: 1-145
- Wahle CM (1983) The roles of sex, size and injury in sexual reproduction among Jamaican gorgonians. Am Zool 24: 961
- Weinberg S (1979) The light dependent behavior of planula larvae of *Eunicella singularis* and *Corallium rubrum* and its implications for octocorallian ecology. Bijdr Dierk 49: 16-30
- Weinberg S (1980) Autoecology of shallow-water Octocorallia from Mediterranean rocky sustrata. II. Marseille, Cotê d'Azur and Corsica.
 Bijdr Dierk 50: 73-86
- Weinberg S, Weinberg F (1979) The life cycle of a gorgonian: *Eunicella singularis* (Esper 1794) Bijdr Dierk 48:127-140
- White MG (1984) Marine benthos. In: Laws RM (ed) Antarctic Ecology, Academic Press, London 2: 421-461
- Wilson JR, Harrison PL (1998) Settlement-competency periods of larvae of three species of scleractinian corals. Mar Biol 131: 339-345
- Williams GB (1976) Aggregation during settlement as a factor in the establishment of coelenterate colonies. Ophelia 15: 57-64
- Wright EP, Studer T (1889) Report on the Alcyonaria collected by HMS Challenger during the years 1873-1876. Rept Sci Res Challenger Zool 31: 1-314
- Yamazo KM, Sato M, Yamashiro H (1981) Reproductive biology of an alcyonacean coral *Lobophytum crassum* Marenzeller. Proc. 4th Int. Coral Reef Symp. 2: 671-678
- Yoshioka PM, Yoshioka BB (1989) A multispecies, multiscale analysis of spatial pattern and its application to a shallow-water gorgonian community. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 54: 247-264

Young CM, Tyler PA, Cameron JL, Rumrill SG (1992) Seasonal breeding aggregations in low-density populations of the bathyal echinoid *Stylocidaris lineata*. Mar Biol 113: 603-612



Fig. 1 Map of the sampling area, in the eastern Weddell Sea (Antarctica).



Fig. 2 Morphology of a colony of *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum*. Apical (a), medial (m), and basal (b) zones are indicated, as well as the methodology employed to calculate the fecundity of a colony.


Fig. 3 Density of *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum* in three different transects in the area of Kapp Norvegia (Weddell Sea).



Fig. 4 Gonadal histology and anatomy of *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum*. a) Female colony showing the two different generation of oocytes. b) Male colony showing the spermatic cysts. c) SEM image of an oocyte section. d) SEM image of a spermatic cyst section.



Fig. 5 a) Mean number of gonads along the colony (apical, medial and basal zones) per polyp in both sexes, for the EASIZ I and EASIZ II cruises. b) Mean size of the gonads along the colony (apical, medial and basal zones) per polyp in both sexes, for the EASIZ I, EASIZ II and EASIZ II cruises.



Fig. 6 Size frequency distribution of oocyte and spermatic cysts along the three zones of the colony (apical, medial, basal) in summer and autumn.



Fig. 7 Maximum oocyte size by mode of incubation in different latitudes (Sources: references Table 4).

Table 1. Density values of *A. antarcticum* in the Weddell Sea with values of S²/ \bar{x} and Morisita's Index (I_d). SW/KN: Southwest of Kapp Norvegia; NW/KN: North west of Kapp Norvegia; W/KN: West of Kapp Norvegia; NE/KN: Northeast of Kapp Norvegia; N/KN: North of Kapp Norvegia; KN: Kapp Norvegia; AB: Atka Bay. An asterisk indicates a significant deviation from random for both S²/ \bar{x} and I_d at the 5% level (χ^2 -test). (Data for \bar{x} and SD are based on 4 random 100m² blocks within each transect).

Cruise Area	a Transect	Position		Depth	Total area	\overline{x} + SD	S^2/\overline{x}	ld	
			Lat (S)	Long (W)	(m)	sampled (m*)	ind./100 m ²		
EASIZ I	SW/KN	1	71° 40.54'	12° 44.48'	226	705	37 <u>+</u> 55	79.77 •	2.60*
EASIZ I	NW/KN	2	71° 18.13'	12° 15.99'	175	1203	2 <u>+</u> 2	3.78	2.67*
EASIZ I	W/KN	3	71° 33.09'	12° 20.58'	363	654	4 <u>+</u> 2	1.62	1.14
EASIZ I	NE/KN	4	71° 07.33'	11° 26.79'	142	1341	0	-	-
EASIZ I	NW/KN	5	71° 20.50'	12° 23.90'	198	1115	0	-	-
EASIZ II	N/KN	1	70° 52.04'	10° 32.40'	229	503	3 <u>+</u> 5	6.85	2.46*
EASIZ II	N/KN	2	70° 53.82'	10° 33.85'	244	378	1 <u>+</u> 1	2.00,	2.00
EASIZ II	N/KN	3	70° 52.15'	10° 29.34'	233	1325	1 + 1	0.67	0.00
EASIZ II	N/KN	4	70° 53.28'	10° 27.80'	242	495	0	-	
EASIZ II	N/KN	5	70° 51.93'	10° 32.32'	231	774	1 <u>+</u> 2	1.80	1.60
EASIZ II	N/KN	6	70° 50.77'	10° 30.50'	235	567	1 <u>+</u> 2	3.00	4.00*
EASIZ II	N/KN	7	70° 49.32'	10° 28.92'	281	1696	33 <u>+</u> 25	18.61*	1.41*
EASIZ II	KN	8	71° 13.56'	12° 25.48'	253	841	19 <u>+</u> 23	27.13*	2.03*
EASIZ II	KN	9	70° 50.56'	10° 34.97'	261	590	55 <u>+</u> 41	30.48*	1.40*
EASIZ II	AB	10	70° 47.37'	10° 24.83'	297	568	37 <u>+</u> 30	24.78*	1.48*
EASIZ II	AB	11	70° 51.71'	10° 45.24'	312	652	2 <u>+</u> 1	1.10	1.07
EASIZ II	KN	12	71° 13.79'	12° 14.93'	275	517	5 <u>+</u> 6	7.79	2.02*

Table 2. Three-way ANOVA comparing numbers of gonads of A. antarcticum (BoxCox transformed) between a) cruises, b) colony zone, and c) sexes.

	df	SS	MS	F	P
Cruise	1	3.541	3.541	9.512	0.0034*
Colony zone	2	17.919	8.960	24.068	<0.0001**
Sex	1	12.564	12.564	33.749	<0.0001**
Cruise x Colony zone	2	12.389	6.195	16.640	<0.0001**
Cruise x Sex	1	0.076	0.076	0.203	0.6544
Colony zone x Sex	2	11.683	5,842	15.692	<0.0001**
Cruise x Colony zone x Sex	2	0.174	0.087	0.234	0.7924

	5	Sex	Cruise		Colony zone		
	Female	Male	EASIZ I	EASIZ II	Apical	Medial	Basal
a) Cruise							
EASIZ I-EASIZ II	ns	ns					
b) Colony zone							
Apical-Medial	ns	ns	ns	ns			
Medial-Basal	ns	**	**	*			
Apical-Basal	ns	**	**	ns			
c) Sex							
Female-Male			ns	*	ns	ns	*

ns = not significant • = p<0.05 ** = p<0.0001

Table 3. Three-way ANOVA comparing gonad size (μm) of A. antarcticum (BoxCox transformed between a) cruises, b) colony zone, and c) sexes.

	df	SS	MS	F	Р
Cruise	2	21.386	10.693	36.359	<0.0001**
Colony zone	2	361.206	180.603	614.086	<0.0001**
Sex	1	364.260	364.260	1.238.555	<0.0001**
Cruise x Colony zone	4	30.392	7.598	25.835	<0.0001**
Cruise x Sex	2	246.983	123.492	419.896	<0.0001**
Colony zone x Sex	2	51.089	25.544	86.856	<0.0001**
Cruise x Colony zone x Sex	4	87.437	21.859	74.326	<0.0001**

Bonferroni/Dunn post-hoc test

	S	ex	Cruise			Colony zone		
	Female	Male	EASIZ I	EASIZ II	EASIZ III	Apical	Medial	Basal
a) Cruise								
EASIZ I-EASIZ II	**	**						
EASIZ II- EASIZ III	**	**						
EASIZ I-EASIZ III	**	**						
b) Colony zone								
Apical-Medial	*	**	•	•	ns			
Medial-Basal	**	**	**	**	**			
Apical-Basal	**	**	**	**	**			
c) Sex								
Female-Male			*	**	••	**	**	**

df: degrees of freedom; SS: sums of squares; MS: mean square; F: F ratio; P: probability. ns = not significant • = p<0.05 ** = p<0.001

Table 4. Maximum oocyte size, fertilization type and incubation mode, and geographic area for different gorgonian species (data are arranged by oocyte sizes).

Species	Max oocyte size (µm)	Fertilization	Incubation mode	Geographic area	Reference
Corallium rubrum	330	internal	brooder	Mediterranean	Vighi 1970
Paramuricea clavata	500	-	surface	Mediterranean	Coma et al. 1995
Muricea fructicosa	600	internal	brooder	NE Pacific	Grigg 1977
Ptilosarcus guerney	600	external	-	NE Pacific	Chia & Crawford 1973
Plexaura A	600	external	-	E Pacific	Brazeau & Lasker 1989
Anthelia glauca	633	internal	brooder	SW Indic	Benayahu & Schleyer 1988
Plexaura homomalia	640	external	-	Caribbean	Martin 1982
Sarcophytum glaucum	650	external		Red Sea	Benayahu & Loya 1986
Thouarella variabilis	660	internal	brooder	Antarctic Peninsula	Brito et al. 1997
Muricea californica	700	internal	brooder	NE Pacific	Grigg 1977
Fannyella rossii	700	internal	brooder	E Weddell Sea	(in preparation Orejas et al.)
Pennatula aculeata	880	external	-	NW Atlanctic	Eckelbarger et al. 1998
Ainigmaptilon antarcticum	900	internal	-	E Weddell Sea	This study
Heteroxenia fuscescens	900	internal/external	brooder	Red Sea	Benayahu et al. 1989
Briaremum asbestinum	900	internal	surface	Caribbean	Brazeau & Lasker 1989
Heliophora coerulea	920	internal	surface	SW Pacific	Babcock 1990
Eunicella singularis	-	internal	brooder	Mediterranean	Weinberg & Weinberg 1979

Publication IV

Covadonga Orejas ¹, Josep Maria Gili ², Pablo José López-González ³, Christiane Hasemann ¹, Wolf E Arntz ¹

Reproductive patterns of four Antarctic octocorals in the Weddell Sea: comparisons across different species, morphologies and latitudes

1 Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine Research, Columbusstrasse, 27568 Bremerhaven, Germany

2 Institut de Ciències del Mar, Plaça del Mar s/n, 08039 Barcelona, Spain

3 Laboratorio de Biología Marina, Facultad de Biología, Universidad de Sevilla, Reina Mercedes 6, 41012 Sevilla, Spain

Abstract

The reproductive patterns of four Antarctic gorgonian species have been investigated. Two of them, *Dasystenella acanthina* and *Thouarella* sp. present bottle-brush shapes; the other two, *Fannyella rossii* and *Fannyella spinosa* are fan-shaped. Two different reproductive patterns have been observed in these species: *D. acanthina* and *Thouarella* sp. present two modes in the frequency distribution of oocytes and spermatic cyst size classes, *F. rossi* and *F. spinosa* show only one size class. The presence of larvae in the gastrovascular cavities of both Fannyella species is a clear sign of larvae release during the austral summer.

The observed patterns, as well as the oocyte and spermatic cyst sizes, are comparable to reproductive trends and features of gorgonians from other latitudes. These coincident strategies seem to be related with morphological similarities and food limitation rather than with latitude or water temperature.

The results of this study indicate that octocoral morphology together with trophic constraints may play a crucial role in determining their reproductive output.

Introduction

Over the past three decades, there has been a substantial increase in research into Antarctic benthic marine communities, mostly on the continental shelf. Although aspects of reproduction have been studied in a variety of taxa, a significant fraction of this work has focused almost entirely on solitary (non-colonial) animals (see Pearse et al. 1991, Barnes & Clarke 1998). Information on reproductive patterns and trends for benthic organisms in Antarctic waters comprises decapods (e.g. Arntz et al. 1992, Gorny et al. 1992), amphipods (e.g. Klages 1993), molluscs (e.g. Hain & Arnaud 1992, gastropods: e.g. Stanwell-Smith & Clarke 1998, bivalves: e.g. Berkman et al. 1991), brachiopods (e.g. Peck & Robinson 1994), holothurians (e.g. Gutt 1991, Gutt et al. 1992), sponges (e.g. Barthel & Gutt 1992), polychaetes (e.g. Stiller 1996) and echinoderms (e.g. Poulin & Féral 1996, McClintock & Baker 1997, Stanwell-Smith & Peck 1998). A few papers focused on modular organisms (e.g. Barnes 1996, Barnes & Clarke 1998), but to our knowledge only four have dealt with soft octocorals (Bayer 1996, Brito et al. 1997,

Slattery & McClintock 1997, Orejas et al. submitted). The high abundance of suspension feeders, including octocorals, in Antarctic waters (e.g. White 1984, Mühlenhardt-Siegel 1988, Starmans et al. 1999) calls for the study of the biology and ecology of these organisms, in order to determine their role in the Antarctic ecosystem.

According to Clarke (1987), reproduction and growth should be more efficient in polar waters than at lower latitudes, because the lower basal metabolism of the Antarctic species should allow them to invest more energy in these processes. However, reproductive patterns in the Antarctic are mostly defined by such characteristics as prolonged gametogenesis, delayed maturation, seasonal reproduction, low fecundity, large yolky eggs, predominance of non-pelagic or at least lecitotrophic development, brooding, brood protection, viviparity, slow embryonic development, advanced newlyhatched juvenile stages and slow growth (Thorson 1950, Arnaud 1974, White 1977, reviewed in Pearse et al. 1991). The long developmental times observed in Antarctic organisms (e.g. Hain & Arnaud 1992, Gorny et al. 1992, Gorny et al. 1993, Klages 1993, Gorny & George 1997) seem to be connected with large oocyte sizes and, consequently, with low fecundity (see Arntz et al. 1994). However, the degree of retardation of embryonic development and maturation varies largely among groups and species in the Antarctic (Pearse et al. 1991, Arntz et al. 1994).

Octocoral reproduction has been studied quantitatively in temperate and tropical latitudes (mostly in terms of oocyte number and size), and their reproductive biology is now fairly well known (for a review see Coma et al. 1995a), as are the environmental and biological factors which control the reproductive processes.

This study focused on the quantification of the reproductive patterns of four high Antarctic octocoral species of different colony morphology, comparing these patterns with those of other Antarctic invertebrates. The second objective was a comparison of the reproductive strategies of these polar species and the strategies of octocorals from other latitudes, in order to identify the controlling environmental (e.g. temperature) and biological (e.g. food availability) factors.

Material and methods

Study area

Sampling was carried out in the eastern Weddell Sea (Antarctica) (Fig. 1) from the German RV "Polarstern" (for details on the expeditions see Arntz & Gutt 1997, 1999), during the EASIZ (Ecology of the Antarctic Sea Ice Zone) cruises I (ANT XIII/3, January-March 1996) and II (ANT XV/3, January-March 1998). The eastern Weddell Sea differs from many other Antarctic areas in that it has no shallow areas. The ice edge usually prevents work in areas shallower than 200m, and even in the inlets the seafloor is several hundred metres deep (Arntz et al. 1992). The area was characterised by Voß (1988) who noted the presence of sandy bottoms but also sponge spicules, bryozoan debris and a few stones and described for the first time the benthic assemblages. The communities of Kapp Norvegia, where our studies were carried out, are characterised by high species richness, diversity and evenness (Galéron et al. 1992).

Studied species

The four gorgonian species investigated belong to the Primnoidae, the most important family, in number of species, of gorgonian octocorals in Antarctic communities. *Dasystenella acanthina* (Wright & Studer 1889) and *Thouarella* sp. presented a branched shape with bottle-brush form (Fig 2A). *Fannyella rossii* (Gray 1873) and *Fannyella spinosa* (Thomson & Bennet 1931) showed a dichotomous branched pattern (Fig 2B). All the colonies studied were collected living on soft substratum, attached to stones, in a depth range between 200 and 500 m approximately.

Reproduction study

Sampling was performed with Agassiz, bottom and bentho-pelagic trawls and with a small dredge at depths between 250 and 600 m. All specimens were preserved in 4% formalin prior to further work in the laboratory.

Twenty colonies (10 females and 10 males) for *Dasystenella acanthina, Thouarella* sp. *and Fannyella spinosa*, and 17 (10 females and 7 males) for *Fannyella rossii* were examined. The developmental stage, and the number and size of the gonads were studied in each colony at apical, medial and basal colony zones (Fig. 2A,B), following the methodology described by Brazeau & Lasker (1990), Coma et al. (1995b), and Brito et al. (1997). Additionally, the maturity stage and number of gonads in the proximal, central and distal portion with respect to the axis (Fig. 2A) were also investigated for those species having a principal axis, i.e., *D. acanthina* and *Thouarella* sp.

In the colonies of *D. acanthina* and *Thouarella* sp., 15 polyps from each described colony zone (5 from each portion respect to the axis: proximal, central, distal) were dissected, and for *F.rossii* and *F. spinosa* 10 polyps of each colony zone (apical, medial and basal). In all cases, the polyps were selected randomly and the total of gonads in each polyp gastrovascular cavity were counted and measured.

The dissection of specimens was done under a binocular; gonads were measured with a light microscope using an eyepiece calibrated against a stage micrometer.

Our data set for number and size of gonads was not distributed normally, despite different transformations (data were subjected to a square root transformation (number of gonads) and a logarithmic transformation (size of gonads) (Sokal & Rohlf 1995)). However, in order to evaluate individual effects and interactions of the factors sex, colony zone and position with respect to the axis, and the influence of them on the variability of number and size of gonads, we applied a 3-way ANOVA instead of a non-parametric test for *D. acanthina* and *Thouarella* sp. To evaluate the effects and interactions of the factors sex and colony zone, a 2-way ANOVA test for *F. rossii* and *F. spinosa* was applied. In case of significant differences, a Bonferroni/Dunn post-hoc analysis of means was performed. For data transformation and further statistical analyses the statistical package Statview (SAS Institute 1998) was used.

Results

According to the classification system for the sexual modes of modular organisms of Wasson & Newberry (1997), the four species are gonochoric at module, genet and colony level.

The 3-way ANOVA analyses for *D. acanthina* and *Thouarella* sp. lead to the following results:

Number of gonads

The average (\pm SD) number of oocytes was 1.1 ± 1.1 and 1.3 ± 0.9 for *D. acanthina* and *Thouarella* sp., and that of spermatic cysts was 2.8 ± 1.2 and 3.2 ± 2.4 , respectively (Fig. 3a). Statistically significant differences between females and males in both species were observed (Table 1A, 2A). Significant differences in the number of gonads between different colony zones and positions with respect to the axis (Table 1A, 2A, Figs. 3a, 4a, 5a) were also observed. The highest number of oocytes and spermatic cysts was found in the medial and basal zones in both species (Fig. 3a). In females and males of *D. acanthina*, gonads were more abundant in the proximal and central positions (Fig. 4a), whereas in *Thouarella* sp. this was the case in the central and distal ones (Fig. 5a).

Gonad size

The mean (\pm SD) size of oocytes was 373.7 \pm 259.4 µm and 270.7 \pm 134.5 µm, and of spermatic cysts 304.8 \pm 172.3µm and 252.1 \pm 106.4 µm, respectively for *D. acanthina* and *Thouarella* sp. (Fig. 3b). Statistically significant differences between females and males were found (Table 1B, 2B) in all colony zones for *D. acanthina*, while in *Thouarella* sp. only in the apical zone. Significant differences in the gonad size between different colony zones and positions with respect to the axis were also detected for both species (Table 1B, 2A, Figs. 3b, 4b, 5b). The largest gonads were in the apical and medial zones in the females and in the medial and basal in the males of *D. acanthina*. The oocytes from the proximal and central position and the spermatic cysts from the central and distal were the largest (Fig. 4b). *Thouarella* sp. had the largest oocytes in the basal zone and in the central and distal position with respect to the axis. The basal zone and the central and distal parts presented the largest spermatic cysts (Fig. 5b).

The results of the 2-way ANOVA analysis for *Fannyella rossii* and *Fanyella spinosa* can be summarised as follows:

Gonad number

The average number of oocytes per polyp (\pm SD) was 1.6 \pm 0.6 and 1.5 \pm 0.7, and of spermatic cysts 5.2 \pm 3.0 and 3.1 \pm 1.5 for *F. rossii* and *F. spinosa*, respectively (Fig. 3a). Statistically significant differences between females and males (Table 3A, 4A) were found. No statistically significant differences in the number of oocytes between different colony zones in *F. rossii* (Table 3A, Fig. 3a) were observed, but in the number of spermatic cysts (Table 3A, Fig 3a). For *F. spinosa* the number of oocytes and spermatic cysts were significantly different for the different colony zones (Table 4A, Fig. 3a). In both species, the medial zone had the highest number of gonads, except in the case of *F. rossii*, having the highest number of spermatic cysts in the basal one.

Gonad size

The average size of the oocytes was $239.8\pm129.4 \ \mu\text{m}$ and 182.0 ± 95.5 and of the spermatic cysts $113.7\pm62.7 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $161.4\pm83.8 \ \mu\text{m}$ for *F. rossii* and *F. spinosa*, respectively (Fig. 3b). Statistically significant differences between females and males in all colony zones were found for *F. rossii* (Table 3B) and in the apical and medial zones for *F. spinosa* (Table 4B).

Gonad size frequency distribution:

Dasystenella acanthina and Thouarella sp

The frequency distribution of gonad size in these species showed, in both females and males, two modes which probably correspond to two oocyte and spermatic cyst generations (Fig. 6a,b, 7a,b). In *D. acanthina* there seems to be a third size class although it is not clear if this corresponds to a third mode or if it is just a remnant from the last spawn event. The two modes of *Thouarella* sp. (Fig. 7a,b) are not as well defined as in *D. acanthina* because they were not distinguishable in all the colony zones. There were no significant differences in the frequency distribution of gonad size in *D. acanthina* between the different colony zones, but there was in the positions with respect to the axis. The largest oocytes were located in the central and distal part (Fig. 6a). The colony zones of the males were very similar, in

contrast to the position respect to the axis, with the largest spermatic cysts in the central and distal positions (Fig. 6b). In *Thouarella* sp. there were neither significant differences in the frequency distribution of gonad size in the females between different colony zones nor in the position with respect to the axis. However, the largest ooycte classes were located in the apical and basal zones, and in the proximal and central part with respect to the axis (Fig. 7a). The colony zones were significantly different in the males. The largest spermatic cyst class was present in the central and basal zone. No statistically significant differences were detected with respect to the axis position.

Fannyella rossii and Fannyella spinosa

There were no significant differences in the frequency distribution of oocyte sizes between the different colony zones. The largest oocytes for *F. rossii* were located in the medial and basal zones while in the apical and medial zones for *F. spinosa*. Although both species presented one mode, the rest of a larger oocyte size class was also detected. This rest should be a signal of release of sexual products (Fig. 8a, 9a). In the males, there were significant differences in the size frequency distribution between all colony zones in *F. rossii*, and between the apical and basal zones in *F. spinosa*. In *F. rossii* the largest spermatic cysts appeared in the medial zone, following in importance the apical and basal ones (Fig. 8b), whereas in *F. spinosa* they were mainly in the basal and apical zone (Fig. 9b).

No larvae were present in the studied colonies of *D. acanthina*, in contrast with *Thouarella* sp., which had larvae in two of the studied colonies. One of these colonies had three in the basal zone, the other had one in the apical zone. In *F. rossii* two colonies had three and two larvae, respectively, in the medial zone, and a third one had one in the basal zone. In one of the studied colonies of *F. spinosa* there were two larvae in the apical zone.

Discussion

General patterns in octocoral reproduction

Reproductive features of Antarctic invertebrates have been studied by many authors (e.g., Arntz et al. 1992, Barthel & Gutt 1992, Poulin & Féral

1996, Brito et al. 1997, Barnes & Clarke 1998). Despite the efforts to identify a general polar trend in reproduction (e.g. Thorson 1950, for a review see Pearse et al. 1991) up to now only a variety of strategies, ranging from production of planktotrophic larvae to brooding, and from seasonal to continuous reproduction, has been described.

To our knowledge, the only data on the reproductive biology of Antarctic octocorals available are on *Thouarella variabilis* (Brito et al. 1997) and *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum* (Orejas et al. submitted), and on the stoloniferan *Clavularia* cf *frankliniana* (Slattery & Mc Clintock 1997), although descriptive information on reproductive modes of some Antarctic octocorals was obtained a long time ago (in Brito et al. 1997: e.g. Wright & Studer 1889, Versluys 1906). These studies showed gonochorism and brooding to be common features of Antarctic and deep-sea octocorals.

The species studied in this publication fit with the pattern related to gonochorism, and at least three of them (*Thouarella* sp., *Fannyella rossii* and *Fannyella spinosa*) are clearly brooders, as shown by the presence of larvae in their gastrovascular cavities. In the case of *Dasystenella acanthina* the lack of larvae in the studied polyps and colonies prevents any clear definition of the incubation mode of the species.

Many authors have attempted to identify the factors that determine patterns of reproduction in reef anthozoans. Colony morphology and polyp size (Fadlallah & Pearse 1982a,b, Fadlallah 1983), patterns of gamete development (Rinkevich & Loya 1979), habitat (Stimson 1978), and levels of disturbance (Szmant 1986) have all been proposed as important correlates of reproductive strategies. However, these models have not adequately explained the diversity of reproductive patterns observed (Brazeau & Lasker 1990). There are three modes of sexual reproduction in reef soft corals: broadcasting of gametes, external surface brooding, and internal brooding of planulae (for a review see Benayahu et al. 1990). Most of the species studied to date are gonochoric, whereas hermaphrodites are rare (Dahan & Benayahu 1997).

It is surprising that so many traits are shared by species despite the differences in geographical location and colony morphology (Brazeau & Lasker 1990). Since the patterns of reproduction of anthozoans are well

studied in temperate and tropical regions (e.g. Weinberg & Weinberg 1979, Hughes & Jackson 1980, Martin 1982, Brazeau & Lasker 1990, Coma et al. 1995a), gonochorism and a sex ratio of 1:1 have been considered as the general patterns for this group in the Caribbean Sea (Kinzie 1970, 1974, Goldberg & Hamilton 1974, Behety-González & Guardiola 1979, Martin 1982), the Pacific Ocean (Grigg 1977) and the Mediterranean Sea (Coma et al. 1995a).

Oocyte number and size as indicators of gamete development duration and incubation mode: a latitudinal comparison

Oocyte production ranges from 1.1 polyp⁻¹ for *Dasystenella acanthina* to 1.6 polyp⁻¹ for *Fannyella rossii*. Among gorgonians from other latitudes, it ranges from 1.6 polyp⁻¹ for *Muricea californica* (Grigg 1977) to 13 oocytes per mature polyp for *Paramuricea clavata* (Coma et al. 1995b), with the majority of species producing 2 to 7 oocytes per polyp. The Antarctic octocorals *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum* and *Primnoella* sp., both with a flagelliform shape, have an average of 3 oocytes polyp⁻¹ (Orejas et al. submitted) and 9 oocytes polyp⁻¹ (own unpublished data), respectively. This means that the oocyte number of the Antarctic species does not differ from the pattern observed in other latitudes.

The size of the oocytes might define the duration of the maturation period: large oocytes may indicate a long period of development (Harrison & Wallace 1990) and the presence of lecitotrophic larvae. However, this is a controversial subject and some authors do not consider the oocyte size to be an indicator of the incubation mode in octocoral species (e.g. Rinkevich & Loya 1979, Fadlallah 1983, Kruger et al. 1998).

The oocyte size between the four studied gorgonians ranged from 40 to approximately 900 µm, in agreement with the values found in other octocoral species (see Coma et al. 1995a). The suggestion of Harrison & Wallace (1990) that large oocytes are often associated with longer oogenic development, does not fit with the large oocytes (450-750 µm) commonly found in soft corals (Benayahu & Loya 1986), irrespective of the duration of oogenesis (Benayahu & Loya 1983, 1984, 1986) and regardless of their mode of reproduction (Rinkevich & Loya 1979, Fadlallah 1983). Benayahu & Loya (1986) suggested that large oocyte size is not the consequence of a prolonged oocyte development, but that prolonged gametogenesis is found in species with high fecundity, synchronised maturation and brief spawning periods. Furthermore, Levitan (1993, 1996a,b) has argued that large oocytes are a larger target for sperm and thus increase the probability of fertilization. There are hard corals with extended oogenic cycles that only produce small oocytes, as the case of *Paracyanthus stearnsii* (Fadlallah & Pearse 1982b). The hypothesis of Rinkevich & Loya (1979) that broadcast-spawning hard corals produce large oocytes while brooders produce small oocytes is clearly not applicable to soft corals (Benayahu & Loya 1986) and the species studied here corroborate that. In agreement with previous studies on brooders: Benayahu & Loya (1983, 1984), Benayahu (1989), Benayahu et al. (1989), and broadcasters: Benayahu & Loya (1986), Aliño & Coll (1989) our results indicate that both produce large oocytes, ranging between 400 and 900 µm, as has also been shown by Kruger et al. (1998).

Duration of gametogenesis

The differences in number and size of gonads found in the different parts of the colony of D. acanthina (Fig. 4a,b) might indicate a lack of synchronisation of reproduction within a colony. Nevertheless, synchronisation could exist as in Xenia macrospiculata. This gorgonian is markedly synchronised within the same colony, but because of the prolonged period of gonadal initiation, the population contains colonies of various sexual stages, and a wide range of sizes in oocytes and sperm sacs is evident almost year-round (Benayahu & Loya 1984). The presence of two-three oocyte and spermatic cyst size classes in D. acanthina points to a reproduction cycle of 2-3 years with long maturation periods, and probably non-seasonal spawning events. The low mean number of oocytes per polyp (1.1) is due to the large size of them (up to 900 µm approximately). This pattern fits also with the - probably delayed - maturation (Harrison & Wallace 1990) and spawning period. D. acanthina, with its two-three oocyte size classes, presents a similar pattern as the Caribbean gorgonian Plexaura A (Brazeau & Lasker 1989). Additionally the pattern of oocyte development in Plexaura A seems to be quite similar to the pattern expected for D. acanthina

as the oocytes are present in *Plexaura A* colonies throughout the year. This is the only such case known for a coral and the trend suggests that more than a single season of oocyte maturation time is required (Brazeau & Lasker 1989), as probably occurs with *D. acanthina*. This may represent a mechanism through which mature oocyte production can be adjusted later in the developmental season rather than at the time of primary oocyte appearance (Brazeau & Lasker 1989). In *Thouarella* sp (Fig. 7a,b), there is a significantly higher frequency of immature oocytes than of mature and spermatic cysts. This situation, together with the remainder of a larger oocyte size class and the larvae observed in the polyps is a sign of recent larval release.

Thouarella sp. shows reproduction patterns similar to other octocoral species with a two year maturation time: the alcyonaceans *Lobophytum crassum* (Yamazo et al. 1981) and *Sarcophytum glaucum* (Benayahu & Loya 1986), and the gorgonian *Corallium rubrum* (Vighi 1972, in Yamazo et al. 1981). In the polyps of these species, as in *Thouarella* sp. (Fig. 7a,b), two discrete size classes of oocytes can be identified. In *Sarcophyton glaucum*, where oogenesis occurs every year, the oocyte maturation requires 22-23 months, resulting in the presence of two cohorts of oocytes in each female. Two size classes are also present in the polyps of *Heteroxenia coheni* with primordial oocytes developing between the large oocytes and three spermatogenic stages usually found in a single polyp (Benayahu et al. 1990).

Other polar organisms also require two successive summer periods to complete the gametogenesis, due to the shortage of food available for gonad synthesis during the intervening winter, e.g. the isopod *Serolis polita* (Luxmoore 1982) and some caridean decapods (Gorny et al. 1993).

F. rossii and *F. spinosa* present a pattern quite different to the above described for *D. acanthina* and *Thouarella* sp. In both cases it is possible to distinguish a unique oocyte class and the remainder of a larger class, which was probably released during the period of sampling. In the case of the coral *Parerythropodium fulvum fulvum*, the annual development of female and male gonads exhibited the same pattern, which was markedly synchronized within the population. This species shows only one gonad generation (Benayahu & Loya 1983) as seems to occur in *F. rossii* and *F. spinosa*.

Among other cnidarians, the shallow water sea pen *Ptilosarcus gurney* reproduces annually (Chia & Crawford 1973), whereas the upper bathyal species *Kophobolemnon stelliferum* shows no signs of seasonal reproduction (Rice et al. 1992).

The size of the oocytes is smaller in *F. rossii* and *F. spinosa* than in *D. acanthina* and *Thouarella* sp. This is likely a consequence of the different gametogenesis cycle duration since *F. rossii* and *F. spinosa*, due to their annual cycle, probably have a shorter maturation period.

Role of the shape in the reproductive features

Although the fecundity of clonal organisms is size dependent (see reviews by Harper 1977, Hughes 1989, Harrison & Wallace 1990), colony size does not always have an effect on oocyte or spermatic cyst number per polyp (Hall & Hughes 1996). The number of gravid modules in a colony varies greatly between species, caused in part by differences in module size and spacing, and partly by colony morphology. The branch type and growth form of the corals influence the reproductive patterns and provide further evidence that the reproductive output of colonies is not a simple multiple of polyp fecundity (Hall & Hughes 1996). Hughes & Jackson (1980) argued that sterile areas in corals may also act as buffer zones against partial mortality. and that reproductively valuable tissue is located in "safer", central regions of the colony (e.g. away from peripheral encounters with competitors and predators). Similarly, Grosberg (1988) argued for a colonial ascidian, that the periphery of a colony or clone may be structurally specialised for defence against predation or agressive encounters with competitors. In D. acanthina, one of the bottle-brush morphotypes studied (Fig 2A), a higher number of gonads was observed in the proximal and central part of the branches relative to the axis (Fig. 4a) and in the medial and basal part of the colonies (Fig. 3a). This pattern agrees with that detected for the same morphotype at other latitudes: Kojis & Quinn (1982) and Szmant-Froehlich (1985) reported that among large colonies of bottle-brush octocorals, the modules at the periphery of the colony are often non - reproductive (Kapela & Lasker 1999). Peripheral modules in octocoral species are typically younger, faster growing, and non-reproductive. For example, in the soft coral Sarcophyton glaucum,

young and sexually immature polyps are located along the margins of the colony (Benayahu & Loya 1986). The specimens of Thouarella sp. studied here did not show this tendency very clearly. The colony zone pattern is the same as for D. acanthina (Fig. 3), but in contrast, the central and distal zone had a higher number of gonads per polyp (Fig 5a). However Brito et al. (1997) reported that another species of the genus Thouarella (T. variabilis) seems to have the same pattern as D. acanthina. These different reproductive stages in a colony have been hypothesised by Brito et al. (1997) as differential polyp functionality: the reproductive polyps, near to the axis, enter in a quiescent stage receiving the food through the solenia from the most distal non-reproductive polyps in the secondary branches. The reduced reproductive effort in polyps near the growing tip of branching colonies has also been noticed in some hard corals (e.g. Rinkevich & Loya 1979, Wallace 1985, Chornesky & Peters 1987), being explained by Connell (1973) in terms of diversion of colony resources to growth rather than gamete production, and/or polyp age.

The gonad distribution shown by *Thouarella* sp., *F. rossii* and *F. spinosa* did not fit with the above described patterns for scleractinian and octocorals. They therefore can not be explained with the information presently available. This is also true for the tropical gorgonian *Plexaura* A, implying that this is not a specific Antarctic feature. The inclusion of taxonomic/morphologic constraints and/or additional ecological parameters seems to be required to explain the reproductive patterns seen in octocorals (Brazeau & Lasker 1989).

Trophic control of the reproduction processes

Over the last decade, studies of benthic suspension feeders, both in cold (Antarctic: e.g. Barnes & Clarke 1995), and temperate (Mediterranean: Coma et al. 1998) environments have demonstrated that trophic control is a better explanation than temperature in understanding the seasonality of marine faunal life cycles. According to Hughes (1989) and Coma et al. (1998), the energy investment in reproduction coincides with the seasonal increase of food supply to the benthos, which suggests a trophic control of life cycles in many benthic organisms. Trophic control of gametogenesis has

been observed among a wide variety of invertebrates (e.g. Andrew 1986, Giese & Kanatani 1987), but this topic has seldom been examined for corals. In the cold water soft coral *Alcyonium digitatum* a direct relationship was found between its gonad development and the seasonal abundance of plankton (Hartnoll 1975). Dahan & Benayahu (1997) suggest that the two relatively persistent phytoplankton blooms each year at Eilat (Genin et al. 1995) supply the metabolic demands for gametogenesis in *D. hemprichi*, thus allowing year-round gamete release.

The seasonality of primary production in the Antarctic should influence herbivores and suspension feeders directly (Clarke 1983, Clarke & Peck 1991). However, it has been shown that various suspension feeders are able to use the fraction of seston, which remains less seasonal through the year (Clarke & Leakey 1996) as a food source (Barnes & Clarke 1995, Orejas et al. in press, Orejas et al. submitted).

Clarke (1991) argues that the comparatively slow rates of reproduction and development of Antarctic organisms cannot be taken as an evidence of lack of temperature compensation, but rather as adaptations to low food supplies during most of the year. The possible disadvantages of a winter spawning strategy include a slower developmental rate and a diminished food supply. Slow developmental rates may be associated with the extra energetic requirement of increased overall maintenance metabolic costs, while reduced food availability is a disadvantage for winter larvae. However, Rivkin et al (1986) showed that asteroid larvae could feed on bacteria, and Peck (1993) found that larvae of the Antarctic nemertean *Parbolarsia corrugatus* were capable of feeding on particles less than 1 µm diameter.

Although the seasonal pulse of primary productivity is very sharp, the pattern becomes less distinct further along the food chain. Some benthic organisms breed all year around, suggesting only minor fluctuations in their food supply (White 1977, Picken 1979, Barnes & Clarke 1995). In three of the octocoral species studied, larvae have been observed in the gastrovascular cavities of the polyps. According to Rivkin et al. (1986) larvae are known to feed on bacterioplankton that are relatively abundant the whole year, therefore they may not be as dependent on the mid-summer phytoplankton blooms as had originally been suspected (White 1977, Picken 1980).

Stanwell-Smith et al. (1999) found planulae from octocorals at Signy Island throughout the year. At this same location the cushion star *Odontaster validus* reproduces via feeding pelagic larvae which are released into the water column in early winter, although the phytoplankton levels are decreasing during this season (Stanwell-Smith et al. 1999). Most planulae would not be expected to be tightly associated with the summer phytoplankton blooms because they are predominantly lecitotrophic.

From our data we are not able to know if the release of larvae occurs during the Antarctic summer, during other years or seasons, or continuously. The presence of more than one gonad size class in the same polyp and colony indicates continuous gametogenesis, which would also imply continuous release of larvae all year round.

In summary, Antarctic octocorals present reproduction features and patterns which seem not to be different from octocorals at other latitudes. Oocyte numbers and sizes fit into the observed pattern at other latitudes, as does the duration of gametogenic cycles. Presence of one or more oocyte size class points to cycles of one or several years duration, respectively, as also occurs in octocorals from tropical seas. Different shape patterns have been detected in agreement with observations of corals from different latitudes. The consideration of "architectural" parameters is required to identify possible features related with the shape of these organisms. Additionally, trophic control has been identified as one of the main factors probably responsible for reproductive processes as observed in other latitudes.

Acknowledgements

Financial support for this study was provided by a European Comission fellowship within the programme "Training and Mobility of Researchers" (TMR- CT97-2813), CICYT (Spanisch Antarctic Research Programme) grants ANT98-1739-E and ANT099-1608-E, the programme "Acciones integradas hispano-alemanas" (314-Al-e-dr/ia. Ministerio de Educación y Ciencia, and DAAD (Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst).

We thank Nuria Teixidó, Patricia Pinto and Kerstin Beyer for their laboratory assistance. We are indebted to Andrew Clarke whose comments greatly improved the manuscript. The authors are grateful to many colleagues who helped on board, and especially to officers and crew of RV "Polarstern" for their cooperation and hospitality during the two EASIZ cruise.

Literature

- Aliño PM, Coll JC (1989) Observations of the synchronised mass spawning and post-settlement activity of octocorals on the Great Barrier Reef, Australia: biological aspects. Bull Mar Sci 45: 697-707
- Andrew NL (1986) The interaction between diet and density in influencing reproductive output in the echinoid *Evechinus chloroticus* (Val.). J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 97: 63-79
- Arnaud PM (1974) Contribution a la binomie marine benthiques des regions antarctiques et subantarctiques. Tethys 6: 465-656
- Arntz WE, Brey T, Gerdes D, Gorny M, Gutt J, Hain S, Klages M (1992)
 Patterns of life history and population dynamics of benthic invertebrates under the high Antarctic conditions of the Weddell Sea. In: Colombo G, Ferrari I, Ceccherelli VU, Rossi R (eds) Marine Eutrophication and Population Dynamics. Olsen & Olsen, Fredensborg, Denmark, 370: 221-230
- Arntz WE, Brey T, Gallardo VA (1994) Antarctic zoobenthos. Oceanogr Mar Biol Ann Rev 32: 241-304
- Arntz W, Gutt J (1997) The expedition Antarktis XIII/3 (EASIZ I) of RV "Polarstern" to the eastern Weddell Sea in 1996. Ber Polarforsch 249, p 148
- Arntz W, Gutt J (1999) The expedition Antarktis XV/3 (EASIZ II) of RV "Polarstern" to the eastern Weddell Sea in 1998. Ber Polarforsch 301, p 229
- Barnes DKA (1996) Low levels of colonisation in Antarctica: the role of bryozoans in early community development. In: Barnes DKA, Gordon DP, Smith AM, Grant-Mackie JA (eds) Bryozoans in Space and Time.

National Institute of Water and Atmospheric Research Ltd, Wellington, New Zealand

- Barnes DKA, Clarke A (1995) Seasonality of feeding activity in Antarctic suspension feeders. Polar Biol 15: 335-340
- Barnes DKA, Clarke A (1998) Seasonality of polypide recycling and sexual reproduction in some erect Antarctic bryozoans. Mar Biol 131: 647-658
- Barthel D, Gutt J (1992) Sponge associations in the eastern Weddell Sea. Ant Sci 4: 137-150
- Bayer FM (1996) New primnoid gorgonians (Coelenterata: Octocorallia) from Antarctic waters. Bull Mar Sci 58 (2): 511-530
- Behety-González PA, Guardiola M (1979) Ciclo reproductivo de Plexaura homomalla (Esper, 1792) forma kuekenthali Moser, 1921 (Gorgonacea). Acad Ser Cienc Cuba, Biologica 3: 99-104
- Benayahu Y (1989) Reproductive cycle and developmental processes during embrycgenesis of *Clavularia hamra* (Cnidaria: Octocorallia). Acta Zool Stockh 70(1): 29-36
- Benayahu Y, Loya Y (1983) Surface brooding in the red sea soft coral *Parerythropodium fulvum fulvum* (Forskal, 1775). Biol Bull 165: 353-369
- Benayahu Y, Loya Y (1984) Life history studies on the Red Sea soft coral *Xenia macrospiculata* Gohar, 1940. I. Annual dynamics of gonadal development. Biol Bull 166: 32-43
- Benayahu Y, Loya Y (1986) Sexual reproduction of a soft coral: synchronous and brief annual spawning of *Sarcophyton glaucum* (Quoy and Gaimard, 1833). Biol Bull 170: 32-42
- Benayahu Y, Berner T, Achituv Y (1989) Development of planulae within a mesogleal coat in the soft coral *Heteroxenia fuscescens*. Mar Biol 100: 203-210
- Benayahu Y, Weil D, Kleinman M (1990) Radiation of broadcasting and brooding patterns in coral reef Alcyonaceans. In: Hoshi M, Yamashita O (eds) Advances in invertebrate reproduction, Elsevier Science Publishers BV (Biomedical Division), Amsterdam 5: 323-328
- Berkman PA, Waller TR, Alexander SP (1991) Unprotected larval development in the Antarctic scallop *Adamussium colbecki* (Mollusca: Bivalvia: Pectinidae) Ant Sci 3: 7-151

- Brazeau DA, Lasker HR (1989) The reproductive cycle and spawning in a Caribbean gorgonian. Biol Bull 176: 1-7
- Brazeau DA, Lasker HR (1990) Sexual reproduction and external brooding by the Caribbean gorgonian *Briareum asbestinum*. Mar Biol 104: 465-474
- Brito TAS, Tyler PA, Clarke A (1997) Reproductive biology of the Antarctic octocoral *Thouarella variabilis* Wright and Studer 1889. Proc of the 6th Int Conference on Coelenterate Biology 1995, p 63-69
- Chia FS, Crawford BJ (1973) Some observations on gametogenesis, larval development and substratum selection of the sea-pen *Ptilosarcus guerneyi*. Mar Biol 23: 73-82
- Chornesky EA, Peters EC (1987) Sexual reproduction and colony growth in the scleractinian coral *Porites astreoides*. Biol Bull 172: 161-177
- Clarke A (1983) Life in cold water: the physiology and ecology of polar marine ectotherms. Oceanogr Mar Biol Ann Rev 21: 341-453
- Clarke A (1987) Temperature, latitude and reproductive effort. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 38: 89-99
- Clarke A (1991) What is cold adaptation and how should we measure it? Amer Zool 31: 81-92
- Clarke A, Leakey RJG (1996) The seasonal cycle of phytoplankton, macronutrients, and the microbial community in a nearshore Antarctic marine ecosystem. Limnol Oceanogr 41: 1281-1294
- Clarke A, Peck LS (1991) The physiology of polar marine zooplankton. In: Sakshaug E, Hopkins CCE, Øritsland N (eds) Proceedings of the Pro Mar Symposium on Polar Marine Ecology, Trondheim, 12-16 May 1990, Polar Res 10: 353-369
- Coma R, Ribes M, Zabala M, Gili JM (1995a) Reproduction and cycle of gonadal development in the Mediterranean gorgonian *Paramuricea clavata*. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 117: 173-183
- Coma R, Zabala M, Gili JM (1995b) Sexual reproductive effort in the Mediterranean gorgonian *Paramuricea clavata*. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 117: 185-192

- Coma R, Ribes M, Gili JM, Zabala M (1998) An energetic approach to the study of life history traits of two modular colonial benthic invertebrates. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 162: 89-103
- Connell JH (1973) Population ecology of reef-building corals. In: Jones OA, Endean R (eds), Biology and Geology of Coral Reefs, II. Biology, Academic Press, New York. pp 205-245
- Dahan M, Benayahu Y (1997) Reproduction of *Dendronephthya hemprichi* (Cnidaria: octocorallia): year-round spawning in an azooxanthellae soft coral. Mar Biol 129: 573-579
- Fadlallah YH (1983) Sexual reproduction, development and larval biology in scleractinian corals. Coral Reefs 2: 129-150
- FadlallahYH, Pearse JS (1982a) Sexual reproduction in solitary corals: overlapping oogenic and brooding cycles, and benthic planulas in *Balanophyllia elegans*. Mar Biol 71: 223-231
- FadlallahYH, Pearse JS (1982b) Sexual reproduction in solitary corals: synchronous gametogenesis and broadcast spawning in *Paracyanthus stearnsii*. Mar Biol 71: 233-239
- Galéron J, Herman RL, Arnaud PM, Arntz WE, Hain S, Klages M (1992) Macrofaunal communities on the continental shelf and slope of the southeastern Weddell Sea, Antarctica. Polar Biol 12 (2): 283-290
- Genin A, Lazar B, Brenner S (1995) Vertical mixing and coral death in the Red Sea following the eruption of Mount Pinatubo. Nature 377: 507-510
- Giese AC, Kanatani H (1987) Maturation and spawning. In: Giese AC, Pearse JS, Pearse VB, Reproduction of Marine Invertebrates. Vol 9, Blackwell Scientific/Boxwood Press, Palo Alto/Pacific Grove, CA. pp 251-329
- Goldberg W, Hamilton R (1974) The sexual cycle in *Plexaura homomalla*. In: Bayer FM, Weinheimer AJ (eds) Prostaglandins from *Plexaura homomalla*: Ecology, Utilization, and Conservation of a Major Medical Marine Resource. University of Florida Press, Coral Gables
- Gorny M, Arntz WE, Clarke A, Gore DJ (1992) Reproductive biology of caridean decapods from the Weddell Sea. Polar Biol 12 (1): 11-1120
- Gorny M, Brey T, Arntz W, Bruns T (1993) Growth, development and productivity of *Chorismus antarcticus* (Pfeffer) (Crustacea: Decapoda:

Natantia) in the eastern Weddell Sea (Antarctica). J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 174(2): 261-275

- Gorny M, George MR (1997) Oocyte development and gonadal production of *Nematocarcinus lanceopes* (Decapoda: Caridea) in the eastern Weddell Sea (Antarctica). Polar Biol 17(3): 191-198
- Grigg RW (1977) Population dynamics of two gorgonian corals. Ecology 58: 278-290
- Grosberg RK (1988) Life-history variation within a population of the colonial ascidian *Botryllus schlosseri*. I. The genetic and environmental control of seasonal variation. Evolution 42: 900-920
- Gutt J (1991) On the distribution and ecology of holothurians in the Weddell Sea (Antarctica). Polar Biol 11: 145-155
- Gutt J, Gerdes D, Klages M (1992) Seasonality and spatial variability in the reproduction of two Antarctic holothurians (Echinodermata). Polar Biol 11(8): 533-544
- Hain S, Arnaud PM (1992) Notes on the reproduction of high Antarctic molluscs from the Weddell Sea. Polar Biol 12(2): 303-312
- Hall VR, Hughes TP (1996) Reproductive strategies of modular organisms: comparative studies of reef-building corals. Ecology 77(3): 950-963
- Harper JL (1977) Population Biology of Plants, Academic Press, London
- Harrison PL, Wallace CC (1990) Reproduction, dispersal and recruitment of scleractinian corals. In: Dubinsky Z (ed). Ecosystems of the World. Elsevier, Amsterdam, p 133-204
- Hartnoll RG (1975) The annual cycle of *Alcyonum digitatum*. Estuarine Coastal Mar Sci 3: 71-78
- Hughes DJ (1989) Variation in reproductive strategy among clones of the bryozoan *Celleporella hyalina*. Ecol Monogr 59: 387-403
- Hughes TP, Jackson JBC (1980) Do corals lie about their age? Some demographic consequences of partial predation, fission and fusion. Science 209: 713-715
- Kapela W, Lasker HR (1999) Size-dependent reproduction in the Caribbean gorgonian *Pseudoplexaura porosa*. Mar Biol 135 (1): 107-114
- Kinzie RA (1970) The ecology of the gorgonians (Cnidaria, Octocorallia) of Discovery Bay, Jamaica. PhD. thesis, Yale University, New Haven, CT

- Kinzie RA (1974) Plexaura homomalla: the biology and ecology of a harvestable marine resource. In: Bayer FM, Weinheimer AJ (eds) Prostaglandins from Plexaura homomalla: Ecology, Utilization, and Conservation of a Major Medical Marine Resource. University of Florida Press, Coral Gables
- Klages M (1993) Distribution, reproduction and population dynamics of the Antarctic gammaridean amphipod *Eusirus perdentatus* Chevreux, 1912 (Crustacea). Ant Sci 5(4): 349-359
- Kojis BL, Quinn NJ (1982) Reproductive ecology of two faviid corals (Coelenterata: Scleractinia) Mar Ecol Progr Ser 8: 251-255
- Kruger A, Schleyer MH, Benayahu Y (1998) Reproduction in Anthelia glauca (Octocorallia: Xeniidae). I. Gametogenesis and larval brooding. Mar Biol 131: 423-432
- Levitan DR (1993) The importance of sperm limitation to the evolution of egg size in marine invertebrates. Am Nat 141: 517-536
- Levitan DR (1996a) Effects on gamete traits on fertilization in the sea and the evolution of sexual dimorphism. Nature 382: 153-155
- Levitan DR (1996b) Predicting optimal and unique egg sizes in free spawning marine invertebrates. Am Nat 148: 174-188
- Luxmoore RA (1982) The reproductive biology of some serolid isopods from the Antarctic. Polar Biol 1: 3-11
- Martin E (1982) Ciclo reproductivo, proporción sexual y fecundidad del coral blando *Plexaura homomalla* (Esper.) en el mar Caribe mexicano. (Octocorallia: Plexauridae). An Inst Cienc Mar Limnol Univ Nal Autón Mexico 9: 359-380
- McClintock JB, Baker BJ (1997) Palatability and chemical defence of eggs, embryos and larvae of shallow-water Antarctic marine Invertebrata. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 154: 121-131
- Mühlenhardt-Siegel U (1988) Some results on quantitative investigations of macrozoobenthos in the Scotia Arc (Antarctica) Polar Biol 8: 241-248
- Orejas C, Gili JM, López-González PJ, Arntz WE Feeding strategies and diet composition of four species of Antarctic benthic chidarian species Polar Biol DOI 10.1007/s003000100272

- Orejas C, López-González PJ. Gili JM, Teixidó N, Gutt J, Arntz WE. Distribution and reproductive ecology of the Antarctic octocoral *Ainigmaptilon antarcticum* in the Weddell Sea. Mar Ecol Progr Ser (submitted)
- Pearse JS, McClintock JB, Bosch I (1991) Reproduction of Antarctic marine invertebrates: Tempos, modes and timing. Amer Zool 31: 65-80
- Peck LS (1993) Larval development in the Antarctic nemertean *Parborlasia corrugatus* (Heteronemertea: Lineidae) Mar Biol 116: 301-310
- Peck LS, Robinson K (1994) Pelagic larval development in the brooding brachiopod *Liothyrella uva*. Mar Biol 120(2): 279-286
- Picken GB (1979) Non-pelagic reproduction of some Antarctic prosobranch gastropods from Signy Island, South Orkney Islands. Malacologia 19: 109-128
- Picken GB (1980) The distribution, growth, and reproduction of the Antarctic limpet *Nacella* (*Patinigera*) *concinna* (Strebel, 1980). J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 42: 71-85
- Poulin E, Féral JP (1996) Why are there so many species of brooding antarctic echinoids? Evolution 50 (2): 820-830
- Rice AL, Tyler PA, Paterson GJL (1992) The pennatulacean *Kophobelemnon stelliferum* (Cnidaria: Octocorallia) in the Porcupine Seabight (northeast Atlanctic Ocean) J Mar Biol Ass UK 72: 417-434
- Rinkevich B, Loya Y (1979) The reproduction of the Red Sea coral *Stylophora pistillata*. I. Gonads and planulae. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 1: 133-144
- Rivkin RB, Bosch I, Pearse JS, Lessard EJ (1986) Bacterivory: a novel feeding mode for asteroid larvae. Science 233: 1311-1314
- Slattery M, McClintock JB (1997) An overview of population biology and chemical ecology of three species of Antarctic soft coral. In: Valencia J, Walton DWH (eds) Antarctic Communities: Species, Structure and Survival. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p 309-315
- Sokal RR, Rohlf FJ (1995) Biometry. WH Freeman and Co., San Francisco, 859 pp.

- Stanwell-Smith D, Clarke A (1998) The timing of reproduction in the Antarctic limpet Nacella concinna (Strebel, 1908) (Patellidae) at Signy Island, in relation to environmental variables. J Mollusc Stud 64: 123-127
- Stanwell-Smith D, Peck LS (1998) Temperature and embryonic development in relation to spawning and field occurrence of larvae of three Antarctic echinoderms. Biol Bull 194: 44-52
- Stanwell-Smith D, Peck LS, Clarke A, Murray AWA, Todd CD (1999) The distribution, abundance and seasonality of pelagic marine invertebrate larvae in the maritime Antarctic. Phil Trans R Soc Lond B 354: 471-484
- Starmans A, Gutt J, Arntz WE (1999) Mega-epibenthic communities in Arctic and Antarctic shelf areas. Mar Biol 135: 269-280
- Stiller M (1996) Distribution and biology of the aphroditides and polynoids (Polychaeta) in the eastern Weddell Sea and the Lazarev Sea (Antarctica). Ber Polarforsch 185:1-200
- Stimson JS (1978) Mode and timing of reproduction in some common hermatypic corals of Hawaii and Enewetak. Mar Biol 48: 173-184
- Szmant AM (1986) Reproductive ecology of Caribbean reef corals. Coral Reefs 5: 43-54
- Szmant-Froehlich A (1985) The effect of colony size on the reproductive ability of the Caribbean coral *Montastrea annularis* (Ellis and Solander). Fifth Internat. Coral Reef Congress, Tahiti, 158: 295-300
- Thorson G (1950) Reproductive and larval ecology of marine bottom invertebrates. Biol Rev 25: 1-45
- Versluys J (1906) Die Gorgoniden der Siboga Expedition II. Die Primnoidae-. Siboga-Exped. Monogr. 13A:1-187, figs 1-178, 1-10 pls
- Vighi M (1972) Etude sur la reproduction du *Corallium rubrum* (L.). Vie Milieu XXIII (1): 21-32
- Voß J (1988) Zoogeographie und Gemeinschaftsanalyse des Makrozoobenthos des Weddellmeeres (Antarktis). Ber Polarforsch 45: 1-145
- Wallace CC (1985) Reproduction, recruitment and fragmentation in nine sympatric species of the coral genus Acropora. Mar Biol 88: 217-233
- Wasson K, Newberry AT (1997) Modular metazoans: gonochoric, hermaphroditic, or both at once?. Inv Rep Dev 31 (1-3): 159-175

- Weinberg S, Weinberg F (1979) The life cycle of a gorgonian: *Eunicella singularis* (Esper 1794). Bijdr Dierk 48:127-140
- White MG (1977) Ecological adaptations by Antarctic poikilotherms to the polar marine environment. In: Llano GA (ed) Adaptations within Antarctic Ecosystems. The Smithsonian Institution, Washington, DC. pp 197-208
- White MG (1984) Marine benthos. In: Laws RM (ed) Antarctic Ecology , London, Academic Press, 2: 421-461
- Wright EP, Studer T (1889) Report on the Alcyonaria collected by HMS Challenger during the years 1873-1876.- Rept. Sci. Res. Challenger. Zool. 31: 1-314, 43 pls
- Yamazo KM, Sato M, Yamashiro H (1981) Reproductive biology of an alcyonacean coral *Lobophytum crassum* Marenzeller. Proc. 4th Int. Coral Reef Symp. 2: 671-678



Fig.1 Sampling area. Eastern Weddell Sea. The black circle shows the area where the sampling has been done



Fig. 2 Schematic aspect of the two studied morphotypes. *Dasystenella acanthina* and *Thouarella* sp. belong to the bottle-brush (A), and *Fannyella rossii* and *Fannyella spinosa* to the dichotomous type (B). The letters a, m and b indicate the colony zones apical, medial and basal respectively; p, c and d indicate the position with respect to the axis: proximal, central and distal, respectively.



Fig. 3 Number (a) and gonad size (b) in the different colony zones (a, m, b) of the four species of this study.


Fig. 4 a) Number of gonads related to axis position (p, c, d) for Dasystenella acanthina. b) Size of gonads related to axis position (p, c, d) for Dasystenella acanthina.



Fig. 5 a) Number of gonads related to axis position (p, c, d) for *Thouarella* sp. b) Size of gonads related to axis position (p, c, d) for *Thouarella* sp.



Fig. 6a Frequency distribution of oocyte size for Dasystenella acanthina.



Spermatic cyst size (µm)

Fig. 6b Frequency distribution of spermatic cyst size for Dasystenella acanthina.



Fig. 7a Frequency distribution of oocyte sizefor Thouarella sp.



Fig. 7b Frequency distribution of spermatic cyst size for Thouarella sp.



Fig. 8 Frequency distribution of gonad size for *Fannyella rossii.* a) oocytes, b) spermatic cysts.



Fig. 9 Frequency distribution of gonad size for *Fannyella spinosa*. a) oocytes,b) spermatic cysts.

Publication IV

<u>A</u>

Table 1. A) Three-way ANOVA comparing numbers of gonads for Dasystenella acanthina (square root transformed): a) sex and colony zone, b) sex and axis position, c) colony zone and axis position. B) Three-way ANOVA comparing gonad size for Dasystenella acanthina (Log transformed): a) sex and colony zone, b) sex and axis position, c) colony zone and axis position.

SS

MS

F

P

df

Sex			1	85.200	85.200	644.280	<0.00	01
Colony zone			2	12.933	6.467	48.901	<0.00	01
Axis position			2	7.174	3.587	27,126	<0.00	01
Sex x Colony zone			2	5.386	2.693	20.3663	<0.00	01
Sex x Axis position			2	0 171	0.086	0.648	0.52	19
Colony zone v Axis positi	ion			3 114	0.000	5.887	0.000	11
Say y Colony zone y Avi			-	0.000	0.779	5.667	0.000	20
Basidual	s position		4	2.990	0.749	3.007	0.004	12
resional			1035	135.87	0.132			
Bonferroni/Dunn post-ho	c test							
	Axis	position		1.112	Colony zone		Sex	(
	Proximal	Central	Distal	Apical	Medial	Basal	Female	Male
a) Sex								
Female-Male		••	••	**	••	••		
b) Colony zone								
Apical-Medial	••	ns					**	•
Medial-Basal	ns 	ns	ns					
Apical-basal		ns						
Proximal-Central							ns	5
Central-Distal				••	ns	ns	•	•
Proximal-Distal				•	•	•	••	•
В					a			
			df	SS	MS	F	P	
Sex			1	0.643	0.643	8.887	0.00	30
Colony zone			2	1.345	0.673	9.289	0.00	001
Axis position			2	1.836	0.918	12.679	<0.0	001
Sex x Colony zone			2	0.409	0.204	2.824	0.0	599
Sex x Axis position			2	0.871	0.436	6.018	0.0	025
Colony zone x Axis posi	tion		4	4.074	1.019	14.068	<0.0	001
Sex x Colony zone x Ax	is position		4	0.409	0.102	1.412	0.2	282
Residual			807	58.429	0.072			
Bonforroni/Duon nost bu								
Bomenone Dunn post-in	Avi	s position			Colony zone		S	
	Provimal	Central	Dieta	Anical	Medial	Basal	Female	Male
a) Sex		Gentral	Dista				- Cittale	
Female-Male	•	••	•	•	ns	ns		
b) Colony zone					-			
Apical-Medial	•	·	•				•	ns
Medial-Basal	ns	ns	••				ns	ns
Apical-Basal	•	••	•				ns	ns
c) Axis position								
Proximal-Central				ns				
Central-Distal				ns		ns		ns
r ioxinial-Distai				ris	115		ns	

df: degrees of freedom, SS, sums of squares, MS, mean square, F: F-ratio, P, probability ns = not significant $\ = p<0.05$

Table 2. A) Three-way ANOVA comparing numbers of gonads for Thouarella sp. (square root transformed): a) sex and colony zone, b) sex and axis position, c) colony zone and axis position. B) Three-way ANOVA comparing gonad size for Thouarella sp. (Log transformed): a) sex and colony zone, b) sex and axis position, c) colony zone and axis position.

	df	SS	MS	F	Р
Sex	1	44.393	44.393	308.866	<0.0001
Colony zone	2	4.572	2.286	15.906	<0.0001
Axis position	2	10.443	5.221	36.328	<0.0001
Sex x Colony zone	2	0.105	0.052	0.365	0.6942
Sex x Axis position	2	1.035	0.518	3.601	0.0280
Colony zone x Axis position	4	1.575	0.394	2.739	0.0281
Sex x Colony zone x Axis position	4	1.718	0.430	2.988	0.0186
Residual	527	75.75	0.144		

Boundarien Bog	1001001							
	Axi	s position		1	Colony zone		Se	x
	Proximal	Central	Distal	Apical	Medial	Basal	Female	Male
a) Sex				- <u></u>				
Female-Male	••	**	••	**	••	**		
b) Colony zone								
Apical-Medial	•	ns	กร				•	ns
Medial-Basal	ns	•	ns				•	•
Apical-Basal	•	•	•				••	•
c) Axis position								
Proximal-Central				••	ns	•	••	•
Central-Distal				ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
Proximal-Distal				•	•	••	••	**

в	_	
	в	

	df	SS	MS	F	Ρ
Sex	1	0,0001	0,0001	0.003	0.9571
Colony zone	2	0.624	0.312	7.886	0.0004
Axis position	2	0.192	0.096	2.427	0.0894
Sex x Colony zone	2	0.125	0.063	1.579	0.2072
Sex x Axis position	2	0.033	0.016	0.415	0.6604
Colony zone x Axis position	4	0.083	0.021	0.527	0.7162
Sex x Colony zone x Axis position	4	0.175	0.044	1.104	0.3542
Residual	463	18.327	0.040		

Bonferroni/Dunn pos	t-hoc test							
	Axi	s position		Colony zone			Sex	
	Proximal	Central	Distal	Apical	Medial	Basal	Female	Male
a) Sex								
Female-Male	ns	ns	ns	•	ns	ns		
b) Colony zone								
Apical-Medial	•	ns	ns				ns	ńs
Medial-Basal	•	•	•				ns	••
Apical-Basal	••	•	ns				ns	••
c) Axis position								
Proximal-Central				•	ns	ns	ns	ns
Central-Distal				•	ns	ns	ns	ns
Broximal Distal				••	ns	ns	05	ns

df degrees of freedom, SS. sums of squares, MS mean square, F. F-ratio, P. probability ns = not significant \star = p<0.05 \star = p<0.0001

Publication IV

Table 3. A) Two-way ANOVA comparing numbers of gonads for Fannyella rossii (square root transformed): a) sex and colony zone, b) sex and axis position, c) colony zone and axis position. B) Two-way ANOVA comparing gonad size for Fannyella rossii (Log transformed): a) sex and colony zone, b) sex and axis position, c) colony zone and axis position.

Α

<u>A</u>					
	df	SS	MS	F	Р
Sex	1	306.940	306.940	754.765	<0.0001
Colony zone	2	2.718	1.359	3.342	0.0355
Sex x Colony zone	2	2.663	1.332	3.274	0.0380
Residual	2524	1026.44	0.407		

Bomerion/Bann pe		Colony zone		Se	ex
	Apical	Medial	Basal	Female	Male
a) Sex					
Female-Male	**	**	••		
b) Colony zone					
Apical-Medial				ns	ns
Medial-Basal				ns	**
Apical-Basal				ns	**

в

	df	SS	MS	F	Р
Sex	1	36.688	38.688	711.620	<0.0001
Colony zone	2	1.859	0.929	17.094	<0.0001
Sex x Colon y zone	2	1.700	0.850	15.633	<0.0001
Residual	2521	137.057	0.054		

Bonferroni/Dunn po	st-hoc test					
	Colony zone			Sex		
	Apical	Medial	Basal	Female	Male	
a) Sex						
Female-Male	**	**	**			
b) Colony zone						
Apical-Medial				ns	**	
Medial-Basal				ns	ns	
Apical-Basal				ns	**	

df: degrees of freedom, SS: sums of squares, MS: mean square, F: F-ratio, P: probability. ns = not significant * = p<0.05 ** = p<0.0001

Table 4. A) Two-way ANOVA comparing numbers of gonad for Fannyella spinosa (square root transformed): between a) sex and colony zone, b) sex and axis position, c) colony zone and axis position. B) Two-way ANOVA comparing gonad size for Fannyella spinosa (Log transformed): between a) sex and colony zone, b) sex and axis position, c) colony zone and axis position.

A					
	df	SS	MS	F	Ρ
Sex	1	57.193	57.193	421.383	<0.0001
Colony zone	2	0.021	0.011	0.078	0.9252
Sex x Colony zone	2	1.233	0.617	4.542	0.0109
Residual	1087	147.535	0.136		

Bonferroni/Dunn po	ost-hoc test				
		Colony zone		S€	эх
	Apical	Medial	Basal	Female	Male
a) Sex					
Female-Male	**	**	**		
b) Colony zone					
Apical-Medial				ns	ns
Medial-Basal				*	*
Apical-Basal				ns	ns

	-	
	2	2

	df	SS	MS	F	P
		1.022	1.022	20.268	<0.0001
Sex	1	1.022	0.450	20.200	~0.0001
Colony zone	2	0.311	0.156	3.084	0.0462
Sex x Colony zone	2	0.285	0.142	2.820	0.0600
Residual	1024	51.649	0.050		

Bonferroni/Dunn po	ost-hoc test					
	Colony zone			Sex		
	Apical	Medial	Basal	Female	Male	
a) Sex						
Female-Male	*	**	ns			
b) Colony zone						
Apical-Medial				ns	ns	
Medial-Basal				ns	ns	
Apical-Basal				ns	*	

df: degrees of freedom, SS: sums of squares, MS: mean square, F: F-ratio, P: probability.

ns = not significant * = p<0.05 ** = p<0.0001

Folgende Hefte der Reihe "Berichte zur Polarforschung" sind bisher erschienen:

* Sonderheft Nr. 1/1981 - "Die Antarktis und ihr Lebensraum" Eine Einführung für Besucher - Herausgegeben im Auftrag von SCAR Heft Nr. 1/1982 - "Die Filchner-Schelfeis-Expedition 1980/81" zusammengestellt von Heinz Kohnen Heft Nr. 2/1982 - "Deutsche Antarktis-Expedition 1980/81 mit FS "Meteor" First International BIOMASS Experiment (FIBEX) - Liste der Zooplankton- und Mikronektonnetzfänge zusammengestellt von Norbert Klages Heft Nr. 3/1982 – "Digitale und analoge Krill-Echolot-Rohdatenerfassung an Bord des Forschungs-schiffes ,Meteor" (im Rahmen von FIBEX 1980/81, Fahrtabschnitt ANT III), von Bodo Morgenstern Heft Nr. 4/1982 - "Filchner-Schelfeis-Expedition 1980/81" Liste der Planktonfänge und Lichtstärkemessungen zusammengestellt von Gerd Hubold und H. Eberhard Drescher Heft Nr. 5/1982 - "Joint Biological Expedition on RRS 'John Biscoe', February 1982" by G. Hempel and R. B. Heywood Heft Nr. 6/1982 - "Antarktis-Expedition 1981/82 (Unternehmen ,Eiswarte')" zusammengestellt von Gode Gravenhorst Heft Nr. 7/1982 - "Marin-Biologisches Begleitprogramm zur Standorterkundung 1979/80 mit MS "Polarsirkel (Pre-Site Survey) – Stationslisten der Mikronekton- und Zooplanktonfänge sowie der Bodenfischerei zusammengestellt von R. Schneppenheim Heft Nr. 8/1983 – "The Post-Fiber Data Interpretation Workshop" by D. L. Cram and J.-C. Freytag with the collaboration of J. W. Schmidt, M. Mall, R. Kresse, T. Schwinghammer Heft Nr. 9/1983 – "Distribution of some groups of zooplankton in the inner Weddell Sea in summer 1979/80" by I. Hempel, G. Hubold, B. Kaczmaruk, R. Keller, R. Weigmann-Haass Heft Nr. 10/1983 - "Fluor im antarktischen Ökosystem" - DFG-Symposium November 1982 zusammengestellt von Dieter Adelung Heft Nr. 11/1983 - "Joint Biological Expedition on RRS 'John Biscoe', February 1982 (II)" Data of micronecton and zooplankton hauls, by Uwe Piatkowski Heft Nr. 12/1983 - "Das biologische Programm der ANTARKTIS-I-Expedition 1983 mit FS "Polarstern" Stationslisten der Plankton-, Benthos- und Grundschleppnetzfänge und Liste der Probennahme an Robben und Vögeln, von H. E. Drescher, G. Hubold, U. Piatkowski, J. Plötz und J. Voß Heft Nr. 13/1983 - "Die Antarktis-Expedition von MS "Polarbjörn' 1982/83" (Sommerkampagne zur Atka-Bucht und zu den Kraul-Bergen), zusammengestellt von Heinz Kohnen Sonderheft Nr. 2/1983 - "Die erste Antarktis-Expedition von FS "Polarstern' (Kapstadt, 20. Januar 1983 -Rio de Janeiro, 25. März 1983)", Bericht des Fahrtleiters Prof. Dr. Gotthilf Hempel Sonderheft Nr. 3/1983 - "Sicherheit und Überleben bei Polarexpeditionen" zusammengestellt von Heinz Kohnen Heft Nr. 14/1983 - "Die erste Antarktis-Expedition (ANTARKTIS I) von FS ,Polarstern' 1982/83" herausgegeben von Gotthilf Hempel Sonderheft Nr. 4/1983 – "On the Biology of Krill *Euphausia superba*" – Proceedings of the Seminar and Report of the Krill Ecology Group, Bremerhaven 12. - 16. May 1983, edited by S. B. Schnack Heft Nr. 15/1983 - "German Antarctic Expedition 1980/81 with FRV 'Walther Herwig' and RV 'Meteor'" -First International BIOMASS Experiment (FIBEX) - Data of micronekton and zooplankton hauls by Uwe Piatkowski and Norbert Klages Sonderheft Nr. 5/1984 - "The observatories of the Georg von Neumayer Station", by Ernst Augstein Heft Nr. 16/1984 - "FIBEX cruise zooplankton data" by U. Piatkowski, I. Hempel and S. Rakusa-Suszczewski Heft Nr. 17/1984 - Fahrtbericht (cruise report) der ,Polarstern'-Reise ARKTIS I, 1983" von E. Augstein, G. Hempel und J. Thiede Heft Nr. 18/1984 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS II mit FS ,Polarstern' 1983/84", Bericht von den Fahrtabschnitten 1, 2 und 3, herausgegeben von D. Fütterer Heft Nr. 19/1984 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS II mit FS "Polarstern' 1983/84", Bericht vom Fahrtabschnitt 4, Punta Arenas-Kapstadt (Ant-II/4), herausgegeben von H. Kohnen Heft Nr. 20/1984 - "Die Expedition ARKTIS II des FS "Polarstern' 1984, mit Beiträgen des FS "Valdivia' und des Forschungsflugzeuges ,Falcon 20' zum Marginal Ice Zone Experiment 1984 (MIZEX)' von E. Augstein, G. Hempel, J. Schwarz, J. Thiede und W. Weigel Heft Nr. 21/1985 – "Euphausiid larvae in plankton from the vicinity of the Antarctic Penisula, February 1982" by Sigrid Marschall and Elke Mizdalski Heft Nr. 22/1985 - "Maps of the geographical distribution of macrozooplankton in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean" by Uwe Platkowski Heft Nr. 23/1985 - "Untersuchungen zur Funktionsmorphologie und Nahrungsaufnahme der Larven des Antarktischen Krills Euphausia superba Dana" von Hans-Peter Marschall

Heft Nr. 24/1985 - "Untersuchungen zum Periglazial auf der König-Georg-Insel Südshetlandinseln/ Antarktika. Deutsche physiogeographische Forschungen in der Antarktis. - Bericht über die Kampagne 1983/84" von Dietrich Barsch, Wolf-Dieter Blümel, Wolfgang Flügel, Roland Mäusbacher, Gerhard Stäblein, Wolfgang Zick Heft Nr. 25/1985 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS III mit FS ,Polarstern' 1984/1985" herausgegeben von Gotthilf Hempel. * Heft Nr. 26/1985 - "The Southern Ocean"; A survey of oceanographic and marine meteorological research work by Hellmer et al. Heft Nr. 27/1986 - "Spätpleistozäne Sedimentationsprozesse am antarktischen Kontinentalhang vor Kapp Norvegia, östliche Weddell-See" von Hannes Grobe Heft Nr. 28/1986 - "Die Expedition ARKTIS III mit ,Polarstern' 1985 mit Beiträgen der Fahrtteilnehmer, herausgegeben von Rainer Gersonde Heft Nr. 29/1986 - "5 Jahre Schwerpunktprogramm ,Antarktisforschung" der Deutschen Forschungsgemeisnchaft." Rückblick und Ausblick. Zusammengestellt von Gotthilf Hempel, Sprecher des Schwerpunktprogramms Heft Nr. 30/1986 - "The Meteorological Data of the Georg-von-Neumayer-Station for 1981 and 1982" by Marianne Gube and Friedrich Obleitner Heft Nr. 31/1986 – "Zur Biologie der Jugendstadien der Notothenioidei (Pisces) an der Antarktischen Halbinsel" von A. Kellermann Heft Nr. 32/1986 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS IV mit FS ,Polarstern' 1985/86" mit Beiträgen der Fahrtteilnehmer, herausgegeben von Dieter Fütterer Heft Nr. 33/1987 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-IV mit FS "Polarstern" 1985/86 -Bericht zu den Fahrtabschnitten ANT-IV/3-4" von Dieter Karl Fütterer Heft Nr. 34/1987 - "Zoogeographische Untersuchungen und Gemeinschaftsanalysen an antarktischen Makroplankton" von U. Piatkowski Heft Nr. 35/1987 - "Zur Verbreitung des Meso- und Makrozooplanktons in Oberflächenwasser der Weddell See (Antarktis)" von E. Boysen-Ennen Heft Nr. 36/1987 - "Zur Nahrungs- und Bewegungsphysiologie von Salpa thompsoni und Salpa fusiformis" von M. Reinke Heft-Nr. 37/1987 - "The Eastern Weddell Sea Drifting Buoy Data Set of the Winter Weddell Sea Project (WWSP)" 1986 by Heinrich Hoeber und Marianne Gube-Lenhardt. Heft Nr. 38/1987 - "The Meteorological Data of the Georg von Neumayer Station for 1983 and 1984" by M. Gube-Lenhardt Heft Nr. 39/1987 - "Die Winter-Expedition mit FS ,Polarstern' in die Antarktis (ANT V/1-3)" herausgegeben von Sigrid Schnack-Schiel Heft Nr. 40/1987 - "Weather and Synoptic Situation during Winter Weddell Sea Project 1986 (ANT V/2) July 16 - September 10, 1986" by Werner Rabe Heft Nr. 41/1988 - "Zur Verbreitung und Ökologie der Seegurken im Weddellmeer (Antarktis)" von Julian Gutt Heft Nr. 42/1988 - "The zooplankton community in the deep bathyal and abyssal zones of the eastern North Atlantic" by Werner Beckmann Heft Nr. 43/1988 - "Scientific cruise report of Arctic Expedition ARK IV/3" Wissenschaftlicher Fahrtbericht der Arktis-Expedition ARK IV/3, compiled by Jörn Thiede Heft Nr. 44/1988 - "Data Report for FV 'Polarstern' Cruise ARK IV/1, 1987 to the Arctic and Polar Fronts" by Hans-Jürgen Hirche Heft Nr. 45/1988 - "Zoogeographie und Gemeinschaftsanalyse des Makrozoobenthos des Weddellmeeres (Antarktis)" von Joachim Voß Heft Nr. 46/1988 - "Meteorological and Oceanographic Data of the Winter-Weddell-Sea Project 1986 (ANT V/3)" by Eberhard Fahrbach Heft Nr. 47/1988 – "Verteilung und Herkunft glazial-mariner Gerölle am Antarktischen Kontinentalrand des östlichen Weddellmeeres" von Wolfgang Oskierski Heft Nr. 48/1988 - "Variationen des Erdmagnetfeldes an der GvN-Station" von Arnold Brodscholl Heft Nr. 49/1988 - "Zur Bedeutung der Lipide im antarktischen Zooplankton" von Wilhelm Hagen Heft Nr. 50/1988 - "Die gezeitenbedingte Dynamik des Ekström-Schelfeises, Antarktis" von Wolfgang Kobarg Heft Nr. 51/1988 - "Ökomorphologie nototheniider Fische aus dem Weddellmeer, Antarktis" von Werner Ekau Heft Nr. 52/1988 - "Zusammensetzung der Bodenfauna in der westlichen Fram-Straße" von Dieter Piepenburg Heft Nr. 53/1988 – "Untersuchungen zur Ökologie des Phytoplanktons im südöstlichen Weddellmeer (Antarktis) im Jan./Febr. 1985" von Eva-Maria Nöthig Heft Nr. 54/1988 - "Die Fischfauna des östlichen und südlichen Weddellmeeres: geographische Verbreitung, Nahrung und trophische Stellung der Fischarten" von Wiebke Schwarzbach Heft Nr. 55/1988 – "Weight and length data of zooplankton in the Weddell Sea in austral spring 1986 (Ant. V/3)" by Elke Mizdalski Heft Nr. 56/1989 - "Scientific cruise report of Arctic expeditions ARK IV/1, 2 & 3"

by G. Krause, J. Meinke und J. Thiede

Heft Nr. 57/1989 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS V mit FS ,Polarstern' 1986/87" Bericht von den Fahrtabschnitten ANT V/4-5 von H. Miller und H. Oerter Heft Nr. 58/1989 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS VI mit FS ,Polarstern' 1987/88" von D. K. Fütterer Heft Nr. 59/1989 - "Die Expedition ARKTIS V/1a, 1b und 2 mit FS "Polarstern' 1988" von M. Spindler Heft Nr. 60/1989 - "Ein zweidimensionales Modell zur thermohalinen Zirkulation unter dem Schelfeis" von H. H. Hellmer Heft Nr. 61/1989 - "Die Vulkanite im westlichen und mittleren Neuschwabenland, Vestfjella und Ahlmannryggen, Antarktika" von M. Peters Heft Nr. 62/1989 - "The Expedition ANTARKTIS VII/1 and 2 (EPOS I) of RV 'Polarstern' in 1988/89", by I. Hempel Heft Nr. 63/1989 - "Die Eisalgenflora des Weddellmeeres (Antarktis): Artenzusammensetzung und Biomasse sowie Ökophysiologie ausgewählter Arten" von Annette Bartsch Heft Nr. 64/1989 - "Meteorological Data of the G.-v.-Neumayer-Station (Antarctica)" by L. Helmes Heft Nr. 65/1989 - "Expedition Antarktis VII/3 in 1988/89" by I. Hempel, P. H. Schalk, V. Smetacek Heft Nr. 66/1989 - "Geomorphologisch-glaziologische Detailkartierung des arid-hochpolaren Borgmassivet, Neuschwabenland, Antarktika" von Karsten Brunk Heft Nr. 67/1990 - "Identification key and catalogue of larval Antarctic fishes", edited by Adolf Kellermann Heft Nr. 68/1990 - "The Expedition Antarktis VII/4 (Epos leg 3) and VII/5 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1989", edited by W. Arntz, W. Ernst, I. Hempel Heft Nr. 69/1990 - "Abhängigkeiten elastischer und rheologischer Eigenschaften des Meereises vom Eisgefüge", von Harald Hellmann Heft Nr. 70/1990 - "Die beschalten benthischen Mollusken (Gastropoda und Bivalvia) des Weddellmeeres, Antarktis", von Stefan Hain Heft Nr. 71/1990 - "Sedimentologie und Paläomagnetik an Sedimenten der Maudkuppe (Nordöstliches Weddellmeer)", von Dieter Cordes Heft Nr. 72/1990 - "Distribution and abundance of planktonic copepods (Crustacea) in the Weddell Sea in summer 1980/81", by F. Kurbjeweit and S. Ali-Khan Heft Nr. 73/1990 - "Zur Frühdiagenese von organischem Kohlenstoff und Opal in Sedimenten des südlichen und östlichen Weddellmeeres", von M. Schlüter Heft Nr. 74/1990 - "Expeditionen ANTARKTIS-VIII/3 und VIII/4 mit FS "Polarstern' 1989" von Rainer Gersonde und Gotthilf Hempel Heft Nr. 75/1991 - "Quartäre Sedimentationsprozesse am Kontinentalhang des Süd-Orkey-Plateaus im nordwestlichen Weddellmeer (Antarktis)", von Sigrun Grünig Heft Nr. 76/1990 - "Ergebnisse der faunistischen Arbeiten im Benthal von King George Island (Südshetlandinseln, Antarktis)", von Martin Rauschert Heft Nr. 77/1990 - "Verteilung von Mikroplankton-Organismen nordwestlich der Antarktischen Halbinsel unter dem Einfluß sich ändernder Umweltbedingungen im Herbst", von Heinz Klöser Heft Nr. 78/1991 - "Hochauflösende Magnetostratigraphie spätquartärer Sedimente arktischer Meeresgebiete", von Norbert R. Nowaczyk Heft Nr. 79/1991 - "Ökophysiologische Untersuchungen zur Salinitäts- und Temperaturtoleranz antarktischer Grünalgen unter besonderer Berücksichtigung des β-Dimethylsulfoniumpropionat (DMSP) - Stoffwechsels", von Ulf Karsten Heft Nr. 80/1991 - "Die Expedition ARKTIS VII/1 mit FS ,Polarstern' 1990", herausgegeben von Jörn Thiede und Gotthilf Hempel Heft Nr. 81/1991 - "Paläoglaziologie und Paläozeanographie im Spätquartär am Kontinentalrand des südlichen Weddelmeeres, Antarktis", von Martin Melles Heft-Nr. 82/1991 - "Quantifizierung von Meereseigenschaften: Automatische Bildanalyse von Dünnschnitten und Parametrisierung von Chlorophyll- und Salzgehaltsverteilungen", von Hajo Eicken. Heft Nr. 83/1991 - "Das Fließen von Schelfeisen - numerische Simulationen mit der Metholde der finiten Differenzen", von Jürgen Determann Heft Nr. 84/1991 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-VIII/1-2, 1989 mit der Winter Weddell Gyre Study der Forschungsschiffe ,Polarstern' und ,Akademik Fedorov'", von Ernst Augstein, Nikolai Bagriantsev und Hans Werner Schenke Heft Nr. 85/1991 – "Zur Entstehung von Unterwassereis und das Wachstum und die Energiebilanz des Meereises in der Atka Bucht, Antarktis", von Josef Kipfstuhl Heft Nr. 86/1991 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-VIII mit FS "Polarstern' 1989/90. Bericht vom Fahrtabschnitt ANT-VIII/5", von Heinz Miller und Hans Oerter Heft Nr. 87/1991 - "Scientific cruise reports of Arctic expeditions ARK VI/1-4 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1989", edited by G. Krause, J. Meincke & H. J. Schwarz Heft Nr. 88/1991 - "Zur Lebensgeschichte dominanter Copepodenarten (Calanus finmarchicus, C. glacialis, C. hyperboreus, Metridia longa) in der Framstraße", von Sabine Diel

Heft Nr. 89/1991 - "Detaillierte seismische Untersuchungen am östlichen Kontinentalrand des Weddell-Meeres vor Kapp Norvegia, Antarktis", von Norbert E. Kaul Heft Nr. 90/1991 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-VIII mit FS , Polarstern' 1989/90. Bericht von den Fahrtabschnitten ANT-VIII/6-7", herausgegeben von Dieter Karl Fütterer und Otto Schrems Heft Nr. 91/1991 - "Blood physiology and ecological consequences in Weddell Sea fishes (Antarctica)", by Andreas Kunzmann Heft Nr. 92/1991 - "Zur sommerlichen Verteilung des Mesozooplanktons im Nansen-Becken, Nordpolarmeer", von Nicolai Mumm Heft Nr. 93/1991 - "Die Expedition ARKTIS VII mit FS "Polarstern", 1990. Bericht vom Fahrtabschnitt ARK VII/2", herausgegeben von Gunther Krause Heft Nr. 94/1991 - "Die Entwicklung des Phytoplanktons im östlichen Weddellmeer (Antarktis) beim Übergang vom Spätwinter zum Frühjahr", von Renate Scharek Heft Nr. 95/1991 - "Radioisotopenstratigraphie, Sedimentologie und Geochemie jungquartärer Sedimente des östlichen Arktischen Ozeans", von Horst Bohrmann Heft Nr. 96/1991 - "Holozäne Sedimentationsentwicklung im Scoresby Sund, Ost-Grönland", von Peter Marienfeld Heft Nr. 97/1991 – "Strukturelle Entwicklung und Abkühlungsgeschichte von Heimefrontfjella (Westliches Dronning Maud Land/Antarktika)", von Joachim Jacobs Heft Nr. 98/1991 - "Zur Besiedlungsgeschichte des antarktischen Schelfes am Beispiel der Isopoda (Crustacea, Malacostraca)", von Angelika Brandt Heft Nr. 99/1992 – "The Antarctic ice sheet and environmental change: a three-dimensional modelling study", by Philippe Huybrechts Heft Nr. 100/1992 – "Die Expeditionen ANTARKTIS IX/1-4 des Forschungsschiffes 'Polarstern' 1990/91" herausgegeben von Ulrich Bathmann, Meinhard Schulz-Baldes, Eberhard Fahrbach, Victor Smetacek und Hans-Wolfgang Hubberten Heft Nr. 101/1992 – "Wechselbeziehungen zwischen Schwermetallkonzentrationen (Cd, Cu, Pb, Zn) im Meerwasser und in Zooplanktonorganismen (Copepoda) der Arktis und des Atlantiks", von Christa Pohl Heft Nr. 102/1992 - "Physiologie und Ultrastruktur der antarktischen Grünalge Prasiola crispa ssp. antarctica unter osmotischem Streß und Austrocknung", von Andreas Jacob Heft Nr. 103/1992 - "Zur Ökologie der Fische im Weddellmeer", von Gerd Hubold Heft Nr. 104/1992 – "Mehrkanalige adaptive Filter für die Unterdrückung von multiplen Reflexionen in Verbindung mit der freien Oberfläche in marinen Seismogrammen", von Andreas Rosenberger Heft Nr. 105/1992 - "Radiation and Eddy Flux Experiment 1991 (REFLEX I)", von Jörg Hartmann, Christoph Kottmeier und Christian Wamser Heft Nr. 106/1992 – "Ostracoden im Epipelagial vor der Antarktischen Halbinsel - ein Beitrag zur Systematik sowie zur Verbreitung und Populationsstruktur unter Berücksichtigung der Saisonalität", von Rüdiger Kock Heft Nr. 107/1992 - "ARCTIC '91: Die Expedition ARK-VIII/3 mit FS ,Polarstern' 1991", von Dieter K. Fütterer Heft Nr. 108/1992 - "Dehnungsbeben an einer Störungszone im Ekström-Schelfeis nördlich der Georg-von-Neumayer-Station, Antarktis. - Eine Untersüchung mit seismologischen und geodätischen Methoden", von Uwe Nixdorf. Heft Nr. 109/1992 – "Spätquartäre Sedimentation am Kontinentalrand des südöstlichen Weddellmeeres, Antarktis", von Michael Weber. Heft Nr. 110/1992 - "Sedimentfazies und Bodenwasserstrom am Kontinentalhang des norwestlichen Weddellmeeres", von Isa Brehme. Heft Nr. 111/1992 - "Die Lebensbedingungen in den Solekanälchen des antarktischen Meereises", von Jürgen Weissenberger. Heft Nr. 112/1992 - "Zur Taxonomie von rezenten benthischen Foraminiferen aus dem Nansen Becken, Arktischer Ozean", von Jutta Wollenburg. Heft Nr. 113/1992 - "Die Expedition ARKTIS VIII/1 mit FS ,Polarstern' 1991", herausgegeben von Gerhard Kattner. Heft Nr. 114/1992 - "Die Gründungsphase deutscher Polarforschung, 1865 - 1875", von Reinhard A. Krause. Heft Nr. 115/1992 - "Scientific Cruise Report of the 1991 Arctic Expedition ARK VIII/2 of RV 'Polarstern' (EPOS II)", by Eike Rachor. Heft Nr. 116/1992 - "The Meteorological Data of the Georg-von-Neumayer-Station (Antarctica) for 1988, 1989, 1990 and 1991", by Gert König-Langlo. Heft Nr. 117/1992 - "Petrogenese des metamorphen Grundgebirges der zentralen Heimefrontfjella (westliches Dronning Maud Land / Antarktis)", von Peter Schulze. Heft Nr. 118/1993 - "Die mafischen Gänge der Shackleton Range / Antarktika: Petrographie, Geochemie, Isotopengeochemie und Paläomagnetik", von Rüdiger Hotten. Heft Nr. 119/1993 - "Gefrierschutz bei Fischen der Polarmeere", von Andreas P. A. Wöhrmann.

 Heft Nr. 120/1993 – "East Siberian Arctic Region Expedition '92: The Laptev Sea - its Significance for Arctic Sea-Ice Formation and Transpolar Sediment Flux", by D. Dethleff, D. Nürnberg, E. Reimnitz, M. Saarso and Y. P. Sacchenko. – "Expedition to Novaja Zemlja and Franz Josef Land with RV. 'Dalnie Zelentsy'", by D. Nürnberg and E. Groth.

Heft Nr. 121/1993 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS X/3 mit FS "Polarstern" 1992", herausgegeben von Michael Spindler, Gerhard Dieckmann und David Thomas Heft Nr. 122/1993 - "Die Beschreibung der Korngestalt mit Hilfe der Fourier-Analyse: Parametrisierung der morphologischen Eigenschaften von Sedimentpartikeln", von Michael Diepenbroek. Heft Nr. 123/1993 - "Zerstörungsfreie hochauflösende Dichteuntersuchungen mariner Sedimente", von Sebastian Gerland. Heft Nr. 124/1993 – "Umsatz und Verteilung von Lipiden in arktischen marinen Organismen unter besonderer Berücksichtigung unterer trophischer Stufen", von Martin Graeve. Heft Nr. 125/1993 - "Ökologie und Respiration ausgewählter arktischer Bodenfischarten", von Christian F. von Dorrien. Heft Nr. 126/1993 - "Quantitative Bestimmung von Paläoumweltparametern des Antarktischen Oberflächenwassers im Spätquartier anhand von Transferfunktionen mit Diatomeen", von Ulrich Zielinski • Heft Nr. 127/1993 - "Sedimenttransport durch das arktische Meereis: Die rezente lithogene und biogene Materialfracht", von Ingo Wollenburg. Heft Nr. 128/1993 – "Cruise ANTARKTIS X/3 of RV 'Polarstern': CTD-Report", von Marek Zwierz. Heft Nr. 129/1993 - "Reproduktion und Lebenszyklen dominanter Copepodenarten aus dem Weddellmeer, Antarktis", von Frank Kurbjeweit Heft Nr. 130/1993 - "Untersuchungen zu Temperaturregime und Massenhaushalt des Filchner-Ronne-Schelfeises, Antarktis, unter besonderer Berücksichtigung von Anfrier- und Abschmelzprozessen", von Klaus Grosfeld Heft Nr. 131/1993 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS X/5 mit FS ,Polarstern' 1992", herausgegeben von Rainer Gersonde Heft Nr. 132/1993 - "Bildung und Abgabe kurzkettiger halogenierter Kohlenwasserstoffe durch Makroalgen der Polarregionen", von Frank Laturnus Heft Nr. 133/1994 - "Radiation and Eddy Flux Experiment 1993 (REFLEX II)" by Christoph Kottmeier, Jörg Hartmann, Christian Wamser, Axel Bochert, Christof Lüpkes, Dietmar Freese and Wolfgang Cohrs Heft Nr. 134/1994 - "The Expedition ARKTIS-IX/1", edited by Hajo Eicken and Jens Meincke Heft Nr. 135/1994 - "Die Expeditionen ANTARKTIS X/6-8", herausgegeben von Ulrich Bathmann, Victor Smetacek, Hein de Baar, Eberhard Fahrbach und Gunter Krause Heft Nr. 136/1994 - "Untersuchungen zur Ernährungsökologie von Kaiserpinguinen (Aptenodytes forsteri) und Königspinguinen (*Aptenodytes patagonicus*)st, von Klemens Pütz Heft Nr. 137/1994 – "Die känozoische Vereisungsgeschichte der Antarktis", von Werner U. Ehrmann Heft Nr. 138/1994 – "Untersuchungen stratosphärischer Aerosole vulkanischen Ursprungs und polarer stratosphärischer Wolken mit einem Mehrwellenlängen-Lidar auf Spitzbergen (79° N, 12° E)", von Georg Beyerle Heft Nr. 139/1994 - "Charakterisierung der Isopodenfauna (Crustacea, Malacostraca) des Scotia-Bogens aus biogeographischer Sicht: Ein multivariater Ansatz", von Holger Winkler. Heft Nr. 140/1994 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS X/4 mit FS ,Polarstern' 1992", herausgegeben von Peter Lemke Heft Nr. 141/1994 - "Satellitenaltimetrie über Eis - Anwendung des GEOSAT-Altimeters über dem Ekströmisen, Antarktis", von Clemens Heidland **Heft Nr. 142/1994** – "The 1993 Northeast Water Expedition. Scientific cruise report of RV 'Polartstern' Arctic cruises ARK IX/2 and 3, USCG 'Polar Bear' cruise NEWP and the NEWLand expedition", edited by Hans-Jürgen Hirche and Gerhard Kattner Heft Nr. 143/1994 - "Detaillierte refraktionsseismische Untersuchungen im inneren Scoresby Sund Ost-Grönland", von Notker Fechner Heft Nr. 144/1994 – "Russian-German Cooperation in the Siberian Shelf Seas: Geo-System Laptev Sea", edited by Heidemarie Kassens, Hans-Wolfgang Hubberten, Sergey M. Pryamikov and Rüdiger Stein Heft Nr. 145/1994 -- "The 1993 Northeast Water Expedition. Data Report of RV ,Polarstern' Arctic Cruises IX/2 and 3", edited by Gerhard Kather and Hans-Jürgen Hirche. Heft Nr. 146/1994 – "Radiation Measurements at the German Antarctic Station Neumayer 1982 - 1992", by Torsten Schmidt and Gerd König-Langlo. Heft Nr. 147/1994 - "Krustenstrukturen und Verlauf des Kontinentalrandes im Weddell-Meer / Antarktis", von Christian Hübscher. • Heft Nr. 148/1994 - "The expeditions NORILSK/TAYMYR 1993 and BUNGER OASIS 1993/94 of the AWI Research Unit Potsdam", edited by Martin Melles. Heft Nr. 149/1994 – "Die Expedition ARCTIC '93. Der Fahrtabschnitt ARK-IX/4 mit FS ,Polarstern' 1993", herausgegeben von Dieter K. Fütterer. Heft Nr. 150/1994 – "Der Energiebedarf der Pygoscelis-Pinguine: eine Synopse", von Boris M. Culik. Heft Nr. 151/1994 – "Russian-German Cooperation: The Transdrift I Expedition to the Laptev Sea", edited by Heidemarie Kassens and Valeriy Y. Karpiy. Heft Nr. 152/1994 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-X mit FS "Polarstern' 1992. Bericht von den Fahrtabschnitten / ANT-X / 1a und 2", herausgegeben von Heinz Miller. Heft Nr. 153/1994 - "Aminosäuren und Huminstoffe im Stickstoffkreislauf polarer Meere", von Ulrike Hubberten. Heft Nr. 154/1994 - "Regional and seasonal variability in the vertical distribution of mesozooplankton in the Greenland Sea", by Claudio Richter.

Heft Nr. 155/1995 - "Benthos in polaren Gewässern", herausgegeben von Christian Wiencke und Wolf Arntz. Heft Nr. 156/1995 - "An adjoint model for the determination of the mean oceanic circulation, air-sea fluxes and mixing coefficients", by Reiner Schlitzer. Heft Nr. 157/1995 - "Biochemische Untersuchungen zum Lipidstoffwechsel antarktischer Copepoden", von Kirsten Fahl. ** Heft Nr. 158/1995 - "Die Deutsche Polarforschung seit der Jahrhundertwende und der Einfluß Erich von Drygalskis", von Cornelia Lüdecke. Heft Nr. 159/1995 - "The distribution of J¹⁸O in the Arctic Ocean: Implications for the freshwater balance of the halocline and the sources of deep and bottom waters", by Dorothea Bauch. Heft Nr. 160/1995 - "Rekonstruktion der spätquartären Tiefenwasserzirkulation und Produktivität im östlichen Südatlantik anhand von benthischen Foraminiferenvergesellschaftungen", von Gerhard Schmiedl. Heft Nr. 161/1995 - "Der Einfluß von Salinität und Lichtintensität auf die Osmolytkonzentrationen, die Zellvolumina und die Wachstumsraten der antarktischen Eisdiatomeen Chaetoceros sp. und Navicula sp. unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Aminosäure Prolin", von Jürgen Nothnagel. Heft Nr. 162/1995 - "Meereistransportiertes lithogenes Feinmaterial in spätquartären Tiefseesedimenten des zentralen östlichen Arktischen Özeans und der Framstraße", von Thomas Letzig. Heft Nr. 163/1995 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-XI/2 mit FS ,Polarstern' 1993/94", herausgegeben von Rainer Gersonde. Heft Nr. 164/1995 - "Regionale und altersabhängige Variation gesteinsmagnetischer Parameter in marinen Sedimenten der Arktis", von Thomas Frederichs. Heft Nr. 165/1995 - "Vorkommen, Verteilung und Umsatz biogener organischer Spurenstoffe: Sterole in antarktischen Gewässern", von Georg Hanke. Heft Nr. 166/1995 - "Vergleichende Untersuchungen eines optimierten dynamisch-thermodynamischen Meereismodells mit Beobachtungen im Weddellmeer", von Holger Fischer. Heft Nr. 167/1995 - "Rekonstruktionen von Paläo-Umweltparametern anhand von stabilen Isotopen und Faunen-Vergesellschaftungen planktischer Foraminiferen im Südatlantik", von Hans-Stefan Niebler Heft Nr. 168/1995 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS XII mit FS ,Polarstern' 1993/94. Bericht von den Fahrtabschnitten ANT XII/1 und 2", herausgegeben von Gerhard Kattner und Dieter Karl Fütterer Heft Nr. 169/1995 - "Medizinische Untersuchung zur Circadianrhythmik und zum Verhalten bei Überwinterern auf einer antarktischen Forschungsstation", von Hans Wortmann Heft-Nr. 170/1995 - DFG-Kolloquium: Terrestrische Geowissenschaften -- Geologie und Geophysik der Antarktis. Heft Nr. 171/1995 – "Strukturentwicklung und Petrogenese des metamorphen Grundgebirges der nördlichen Heimfrontfjella (westliches Dronning Maud Land/Antarktika)", von Wilfried Bauer. Heft Nr. 172/1995 – "Die Struktur der Erdkruste im Bereich des Scoresby Sund, Ostgrönland: Ergebnisse refraktionsseismischer und gravimetrischer Untersuchungen", von Holger Mandler. Heft Nr. 173/1995 - "Paläozoische Akkretion am paläopazifischen Kontinentalrand der Antarktis in Nordvictorialand P-T-D-Geschichte und Deformationsmechanismen im Bowers Terrane", von Stefan Matzer.
Heft Nr. 174/1995 -- "The Expedition ARKTIS-X/2 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1994", edited by Hans-W. Hubberten Heft Nr. 175/1995 - "Russian-German Cooperation: The Expedition TAYMYR 1994", edited by Christine Siegert and Gmitry Bolshivanov. Heft Nr. 176/1995 – "Russian-German Cooperation: Laptev Sea System", edited by Heidemarie Kassens, Dieter Piepenburg, Jörn Thiede, Leonid Timokhov, Hans-Wolfgang Hubberten and Sergey M. Priamikov. Heft Nr. 177/1995 - "Organischer Kohlenstoff in spätquartären Sedimenten des Arktischen Ozeans: Terrigener Eintrag und marine Produktivität", von Carsten J. Schubert Heft Nr. 178/1995 – "Cruise ANTARKTIS XII/4 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1995: CTD-Report", by Jüri Sildam. Heft Nr. 179/1995 – "Benthische Foraminiferenfaunen als Wassermassen-, Produktions- und Eisdriftanzeiger im Arktischen Ozean", von Jutta Wollenburg. Heft Nr. 180/1995 - "Biogenopal und biogenes Barium als Indikatoren für spätquartäre Produktivitätsänderungen am antarktischen Kontinentalhang, atlantischer Sektor", von Wolfgang J. Bonn. Heft Nr. 181/1995 - "Die Expedition ARKTIS X/1 des Forschungsschiffes "Polarstern' 1994", herausgegeben von Eberhard Fahrbach. Heft Nr. 182/1995 - "Laptev Sea System: Expeditions in 1994", edited by Heidemarie Kassens. Heft Nr. 183/1996 - "Interpretation digitaler Parasound Echolotaufzeichnungen im östlichen Arktischen Ozean auf der Grundlage physikalischer Sedimenteigenschaften", von Uwe Bergmann. Heft Nr. 184/1996 – "Distribution and dynamics of inorganic nitrogen compounds in the troposphere of continental, coastal, marine and Arctic areas", by Maria Dolores Andrés Hernández. Heft Nr. 185/1996 - ""Verbreitung und Lebensweise der Aphroditen und Polynoiden (Polychaeta) im östlichen Weddellmeer und im Lazarevmeer (Antarktis)", von Michael Stiller. Heft Nr. 186/1996 – "Reconstruction of Late Quaternary environmental conditions applying the natural radionuclides System", by Martin Frank. Heft Nr. 187/1996 - "The Meteorological Data of the Neumayer Station (Antarctica) for 1992, 1993 and 1994", by Gert König-Langlo and Andreas Herber. Heft Nr. 188/1996 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-XI/3 mit FS ,Polarstern' 1994", herausgegeben von Heinz Miller und Hannes Grobe.

Heft Nr. 189/1996 – "Die Expedition ARKTIS-VII/3 mit FS "Polarstern' 1990", herausgegeben von Heinz Miller und Hannes Grobe

Heft Nr. 190/1996 - "Cruise report of the Joint Chilean-German-Italian Magellan , Victor Hensen' Campaign in 1994", edited by Wolf Arntz and Matthias Gorny. Heft Nr. 191/1996 - "Leitfähigkeits- und Dichtemessung an Eisbohrkernen", von Frank Wilhelms. Heft Nr. 192/1996 - "Photosynthese-Charakteristika und Lebensstrategie antarktischer Makroalgen", von Gabriele Weykam. Heft Nr. 193/1996 - "Heterogene Reaktionen von N2O5 und Hbr und ihr Einfluß auf den Ozonabbau in der polaren Stratosphäre", von Sabine Seisel. Heft Nr. 194/1996 - "Ökologie und Populationsdynamik antarktischer Ophiuroiden (Echinodermata)", von Corinna Dahm. Heft Nr. 195/1996 - "Die planktische Foraminifere Neogloboquadrina pachyderma (Ehrenberg) im Weddellmeer, Antarktis", von Doris Berberich. Heft Nr. 196/1996 - "Untersuchungen zum Beitrag chemischer und dynamischer Prozesse zur Variabilität des stratosphärischen Ozons über der Arktis", von Birgit Heese Heft Nr. 197/1996 - "The Expedition ARKTIS-XI/2 of 'Polarstern' in 1995", edited by Gunther Krause. Heft Nr. 198/1996 - "Geodynamik des Westantarktischen Riftsystems basierend auf Apatit-Spaltspuranalysen", von Frank Lisker. Heft Nr. 199/1996 - "The 1993 Northeast Water Expedition. Data Report on CTD Measurements of RV 'Polarstern' Cruises ARKTIS IX/2 and 3", by Gerion Budéus and Wolfgang Schneider. Heft Nr. 200/1996 - "Stability of the Thermohaline Circulation in analytical and numerical models", by Gerrit Lohmann. Heft Nr. 201/1996 - "Trophische Beziehungen zwischen Makroalgen und Herbivoren in der Potter Cove (King George-Insel, Äntarktis)", von Katrin Iken. Heft Nr. 202/1996 - "Zur Verbreitung und Respiration ökologisch wichtiger Bodentiere in den Gewässern um Svalbard (Arktis)", von Michael K. Schmid. Heft Nr. 203/1996 - "Dynamik, Rauhigkeit und Alter des Meereises in der Arktis - Numerische Untersuchungen mit einem großskaligen Modell", von Markus Harder. Heft Nr. 204/1996 - "Zur Parametrisierung der stabilen atmosphärischen Grenzschicht über einem antarktischen Schelfeis", von Dörthe Handorf. Heft Nr. 205/1996 - "Textures and fabrics in the GRIP ice core, in relation to climate history and ice deformation", by Thorsteinn Thorsteinsson. Heft Nr. 206/1996 – "Der Ozean als Teil des gekoppelten Klimasystems: Versuch der Rekonstruktion der glazialen Zirkulation mit verschieden komplexen Atmosphärenkomponenten", von Kerstin Fieg. Heft Nr. 207/1996 - "Lebensstrategien dominanter antarktischer Oithonidae (Cyclopoida, Copepoda) und Oncaeidae (Poecilostomatoida, Copepoda) im Bellingshausenmeer", von Cornelia Metz. Heft Nr. 208/1996 - "Atmosphäreneinfluß bei der Fernerkundung von Meereis mit passiven Mikrowellenradiometern", von Christoph Oelke. Heft Nr. 209/1996 - "Klassifikation von Radarsatellitendaten zur Meereiserkennung mit Hilfe von Llne-Scanner-Messungen", von Axel Bochert. Heft Nr. 210/1996 - "Die mit ausgewählten Schwämmen (Hexactinellida und Demospongiae) aus dem Weddellmeer, Antarktis, vergesellschaftete Fauna", von Kathrin Kunzmann. Heft Nr. 211/1996 - "Russian-German Cooperation: The Expedition TAYMYR 1995 and the Expedition KOLYMA 1995", by Dima Yu. Bolshiyanov and Hans-W. Hubberten. Heft Nr. 212/1996 - "Surface-sediment composition and sedimentary processes in the central Arctic Ocean and along the Eurasian Continental Margin", by Ruediger Stein, Gennadij I. Ivanov, Michael A. Levitan, and Kirsten Fahl. Heft Nr. 213/1996 – "Gonadenentwicklung und Eiproduktion dreier *Calanus*-Arten (Copepoda): Freilandbeobachtungen, Histologie und Experimente", von Barbara Niehoff Heft Nr. 214/1996 - "Numerische Modellierung der Übergangszone zwischen Eisschild und Eisschelf", von Christoph Mayer Heft Nr. 215/1996 - "Arbeiten der AWI-Forschungsstelle Potsdam in Antarktika, 1994/95", herausgegeben von Ulrich Wand. Heft Nr. 216/1996 – "Rekonstruktion guartärer Klimaänderungen im atlantischen Sektor des Südpolarmeeres anhand von Radiolarien", von Uta Brathauer. Heft Nr. 217/1996 - "Adaptive Semi-Lagrange-Finite-Elemente-Methode zur Lösung der Flachwassergleichungen: Implementierung und Parallelisierung", von Jörn Behrens. Heft Nr. 218/1997 - "Radiation and Eddy Flux Experiment 1995 (REFLEX III)", by Jörg Hartmann, Axel Bochert, Dietmar Freese, Christoph Kottmeier, Dagmar Nagel and Andreas Reuter. Heft Nr. 219/1997 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-XII mit FS ,Polarstern' 1995. Bericht vom Fahrtabschnitt ANT-XII/3, herausgegeben von Wilfried Jokat und Hans Oerter. Heft Nr. 220/1997 - "Ein Beitrag zum Schwerefeld im Bereich des Weddellmeeres, Antarktis. Nutzung von Altimetermessungen des GEOSAT und ERS-1", von Tilo Schöne. Heft Nr. 221/1997 - "Die Expeditionen ANTARKTIS-XIII/1-2 des Forschungsschiffes ,Polarstern' 1995/96", herausgegeben von Ülrich Bathmann, Mike Lukas und Victor Smetacek. Heft Nr. 222/1997 - "Tectonic Structures and Glaciomarine Sedimentation in the South-Eastern Weddell Sea from Seismic Reflection Data", by László Oszkó.

Heft Nr. 223/1997 - "Bestimmung der Meereisdicke mit seismischen und elektromagnetisch-induktiven Verfahren", von Christian Haas. Heft Nr. 224/1997 - "Troposphärische Ozonvariationen in Polarregionen", von Silke Wessel. Heft Nr. 225/1997 – "Biologische und ökologische Untersuchungen zur kryopelagischen Amphipodenfauna des arktischen Meereises", von Michael Poltermann. Heft Nr. 226/1997 - "Scientific Cruise Report of the Arctic Expedition ARK-XI/1 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1995", edited by Eike Rachor. Heft Nr. 227/1997 - "Der Einfluß kompatibler Substanzen und Kryoprotektoren auf die Enzyme Malatdehydrogenase (MDH) und Glucose-6-phosphat-Dehydrogenase (G6P-DH) aus Acrosiphonia arcta (Chlorophyta) der Arktis", von Katharina Kück. Heft Nr. 228/1997 - "Die Verbreitung epibenthischer Mollusken im chilenischen Beagle-Kanal", von Katrin Linse. Heft Nr. 229/1997 - "Das Mesozooplankton im Laptevmeer und östlichen Nansen-Becken - Verteilung und Gemeinschaftsstrukturen im Spätsommer", von Hinrich Hanssen. Heft Nr. 230/1997 - "Modell eines adaptierbaren, rechnergestützten, wissenschaftlichen Arbeitsplatzes am Alfred-Wegener-Institut für Polar- und Meeresforschung", von Lutz-Peter Kurdelski Heft Nr. 231/1997 - "Zur Ökologie arktischer und antarktischer Fische: Aktivität, Sinnesleistungen und Verhalten", von Christopher Zimmermann Heft Nr. 232/1997 - "Persistente chlororganische Verbindungen in hochantarktischen Fischen", von Stephan Zimmermann Heft Nr. 233/1997 - "Zur Ökologie des Dimethylsulfoniumpropionat (DMSP)-Gehaltes temperierter und polarer Phytoplanktongemeinschaften im Vergleich mit Laborkulturen der Coccolithophoride Emiliania huxleyi und der antarktischen Diatomee Nitzschia lecointel', von Doris Meyerdierks. Heft Nr. 234/1997 - "Die Expedition ARCTIC '96 des FS ,Polarstern' (ARK XIII) mit der Arctic Climate System Study (ACSYS)", von Ernst Augstein und den Fahrtteilnehmern. Heft Nr. 235/1997 – "Polonium-210 und Blei-219 im Südpolarmeer: Natürliche Tracer für biologische und hydrographische Prozesse im Oberflächenwasser des Antarktischen Zirkumpolarstroms und des Weddellmeeres", von Jana Friedrich Heft Nr. 236/1997 - "Determination of atmospheric trace gas amounts and corresponding natural isotopic ratios by means of ground-based FTIR spectroscopy in the high Arctic", by Arndt Meier. Heft Nr. 237/1997 - "Russian-German Cooperation: The Expedition TAYMYR/SEVERNAYA ZEMLYA 1996", edited by Martin Melles, Birgit Hagedorn and Dmitri Yu. Bolshiyanov Heft Nr. 238/1997 - "Life strategy and ecophysiology of Antarctic macroalgae", by Iván M. Gómez. Heft Nr. 239/1997 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS XIII/4-5 des Forschungsschiffes ,Polarstern' 1996", herausgegeben von Eberhard Fahrbach und Dieter Gerdes. Heft Nr. 240/1997 - "Untersuchungen zur Chrom-Speziation in Meerwasser, Meereis und Schnee aus ausgewählten Gebieten der Arktis", von Heide Giese. Heft Nr. 241/1997 - "Late Quaternary glacial history and paleoceanographic reconstructions along the East Greenland continental margin: Evidence from high-resolution records of stable isotopes and ice-rafted debris", by Seung-II Nam. Heft Nr. 242/1997 - "Thermal, hydrological and geochemical dynamics of the active layer at a continuous permafrost site, Taymyr Peninsula, Siberia", by Julia Boike. Heft Nr. 243/1997 - "Zur Paläoozeanographie hoher Breiten: Stellvertreterdaten aus Foraminiferen", von Andreas Mackensen. Heft Nr. 244/1997 – "The Geophysical Observatory at Neumayer Station, Antarctica, Geomagnetic and seismological observations in 1995 and 1996", by Alfons Eckstaller, Thomas Schmidt, Viola Graw, Christian Müller and Johannes Rogenhagen. Heft Nr. 245/1997 - "Temperaturbedarf und Biogeographie mariner Makroalgen - Anpassung mariner Makroalgen an tiefe Temperaturen, von Bettina Bischoff-Bäsmann. Heft Nr. 246/1997 - "Ökologische Untersuchungen zur Fauna des arktischen Meereises", von Christine Friedrich. Heft Nr. 247/1997 - "Entstehung und Modifizierung von marinen gelösten organischen Substanzen", von Berit Kirchhoff. Heft Nr. 248/1997 - "Laptev Sea System: Expeditions in 1995", edited by Heidemarie Kassens. Heft Nr. 249/1997 - "The Expedition ANTARKTIS XIII/3 (EASIZ I) of RV 'Polarstern' to the eastern Weddell Sea in 1996", edited by Wolf Arntz and Julian Gutt. Heft Nr. 250/1997 - "Vergleichende Untersuchungen zur Ökologie und Biodiversität des Mega-Epibenthos der Arktis und Antarktis", von Adreas Starmans. Heft Nr. 251/1997 - "Zeitliche und räumliche Verteilung von Mineralvergesellschaftungen in spätquartären Sedimenten des Arktischen Ozeans und ihre Nützlichkeit als Klimaindikatoren während der Glazial/Interglazial-Wechsel", von Christoph Vogt. Heft Nr. 252/1997 - "Solitäre Ascidien in der Potter Cove (King George Island, Antarktis). Ihre ökologische Bedeutung und Populationsdynamik", von Stephan Kühne.

Heft Nr. 253/1997 – "Distribution and role of microprotozoa in the Southern Ocean", by Christine Klaas. Heft Nr. 254/1997 – "Die spätguartäre Klima- und Umweltgeschichte der Bunger-Oase, Ostantarktis",

von Thomas Kulbe

Heft Nr. 255/1997 - "Scientific Cruise Report of the Arctic Expedition ARK-XIII/2 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1997", edited by Ruediger Stein and Kirsten Fahl. Heft Nr. 256/1998 - "Das Radionuklid Tritium im Ozean: Meßverfahren und Verteilung von Tritium im Südatlantik und im Weddellmeer", von Jürgen Sültenfuß. Heft Nr. 257/1998 - "Untersuchungen der Saisonalität von atmosphärischem Dimethylsulfid in der Arktis und Antarktis", von Christoph Kleefeld. Heft Nr. 258/1998 - "Bellingshausen- und Amundsenmeer: Entwicklung eines Sedimentationsmodells", von Frank-Oliver Nitsche. Heft Nr. 259/1998 - "The Expedition ANTARKTIS-XIV/4 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1997", by Dieter K. Fütterer. * Heft Nr. 260/1998 - "Die Diatomeen der Laptevsee (Arktischer Ozean): Taxonomie und biogeographische Verbreitung", von Holger Cremer Heft Nr. 261/1998 - "Die Krustenstruktur und Sedimentdecke des Eurasischen Beckens, Arktischer Ozean: Resultate aus seismischen und gravimetrischen Untersuchungen", von Estella Weigelt. Heft Nr. 262/1998 - "The Expedition ARKTIS-XIII/3 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1997", by Gunther Krause. Heft Nr. 263/1998 - "Thermo-tektonische Entwicklung von Oates Land und der Shackleton Range (Antarktis) basierend auf Spaltspuranalysen", von Thorsten Schäfer. Heft Nr. 264/1998 - "Messungen der stratosphärischen Spurengase CIO, HCI, O3, N2O, H2O und OH mittels flugzeuggetragener Submillimeterwellen-Radiometrie", von Joachim Urban. Heft Nr. 265/1998 - "Untersuchungen zu Massenhaushalt und Dynamik des Ronne Ice Shelfs, Antarktis", von Astrid Lambrecht. Heft Nr. 266/1998 - "Scientific Cruise Report of the Kara Sea Expedition of RV 'Akademic Boris Petrov' in 1997", edited by Jens Matthiessen and Oleg Stepanets. Heft Nr. 267/1998 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-XIV mit FS "Polarstern" 1997. Bericht vom Fahrtabschnitt ANT-XIV/3", herausgegeben von Wilfried Jokat und Hans Oerter. Heft Nr. 268/1998 - "Numerische Modellierung der Wechselwirkung zwischen Atmosphäre und Meereis in der arktischen Eisrandzone", von Gerit Birnbaum. Heft Nr. 269/1998 - "Katabatic wind and Boundary Layer Front Experiment around Greenland (KABEG '97)", by Günther Heinemann. Heft Nr. 270/1998 - "Architecture and evolution of the continental crust of East Greenland from integrated geophysical studies", by Vera Schlindwein. Heft Nr. 271/1998 - "Winter Expedition to the Southwestern Kara Sea - Investigations on Formation and Transport of Turbid Sea-Ice", by Dirk Dethleff, Per Loewe, Dominik Weiel, Hartmut Nies, Gesa Kuhlmann, Christian Bahe and Gennady Tarasov. Heft Nr. 272/1998 - "FTIR-Emissionsspektroskopische Untersuchungen der arktischen Atmosphäre", von Edo Becker. Heft Nr. 273/1998 - "Sedimentation und Tektonik im Gebiet des Agulhas Rückens und des Agulhas Plateaus (,SETA-RAP')", von Gabriele Uenzelmann-Neben, Heft Nr. 274/1998 - "The Expedition ANTARKTIS XIV/2", by Gerhard Kattner. Heft Nr. 275/1998 - "Die Auswirkung der 'NorthEastWater'-Polynya auf die Sedimentation von NO-Grönland und Untersuchungen zur Paläo-Ozeanographie seit dem Mittelweichsel", von Hanne Notholt. Heft Nr. 276/1998 - "Interpretation und Analyse von Potentialfelddaten im Weddellmeer, Antarktis: der Zerfall des Superkontinents Gondwana", von Michael Studinger. Heft Nr. 277/1998 - "Koordiniertes Programm Antarktisforschung". Berichtskolloquium im Rahmen des Koordinierten Programms "Antarktisforschung mit vergleichenden Untersuchungen in arktischen Eisgebieten", herausgegeben von Hubert Miller. Heft Nr. 278/1998 - "Messung stratosphärischer Spurengase über Ny-Ålesund, Spitzbergen, mit Hilfe eines bodengebundenen Mikrowellen-Radiometers", von Uwe Raffalski. Heft Nr. 279/1998 - "Arctic Paleo-River Discharge (APARD). A New Research Programme of the Arctic Ocean Science Board (AOSB)", edited by Ruediger Stein. Heft Nr. 280/1998 – "Fernerkundungs- und GIS-Studien in Nordostgrönland" von Friedrich Jung-Rothenhäusler. Heft Nr. 281/1998 - "Rekonstruktion der Oberflächenwassermassen der östlichen Laptevsee im Holozän anhand von aquatischen Palynomorphen", von Martina Kunz-Pirrung. Heft Nr. 282/1998 - "Scavenging of 231Pa and 230Th in the South Atlantic: Implications for the use of the 231Pa/230Th ratio as a paleoproductivity proxy", by Hans-Jürgen Walter. Heft Nr. 283/1998 - "Sedimente im arktischen Meereis - Eintrag, Charakterisierung und Quantifizierung", von Frank Lindemann. Heft Nr. 284/1998 - "Langzeitanalyse der antarktischen Meereisbedeckung aus passiven Mikrowellendaten", von Christian H. Thomas. Heft Nr. 285/1998 - "Mechanismen und Grenzen der Temperaturanpassung beim Pierwurm Arenicola marina (L.)", von Angela Sommer. Heft Nr. 286/1998 - "Energieumsätze benthischer Filtrierer der Potter Cove (King George Island, Antarktis)", von Jens Kowalke.

Heft Nr. 287/1998 - "Scientific Cooperation in the Russian Arctic: Research from the Barents Sea up to the Laptev Sea", edited by Eike Rachor.

Heft Nr. 288/1998 – "Alfred Wegener. Kommentiertes Verzeichnis der schriftlichen Dokumente seines Lebens und Wirkens", von Ulrich Wutzke.

Heft Nr. 289/1998 – "Retrieval of Atmospheric Water Vapor Content in Polar Regions Using Spaceborne Microwave Radiometry", by Jungang Miao.

Heft Nr. 290/1998 – "Strukturelle Entwicklung und Petrogenese des nördlichen Kristallingürtels der Shackleton Range, Antarktis: Proterozoische und Ross-orogene Krustendynamik am Rand des Ostantarktischen Kratons", von Axel Brommer.

Heft Nr. 291/1998 – "Dynamik des arktischen Meereises - Validierung verschiedener Rheologieansätze für die Anwendung in Klimamodellen", von Martin Kreyscher.

Heft Nr. 292/1998 – "Anthropogene organische Spurenstoffe im Arktischen Ozean, Untersuchungen chlorierter Biphenyle und Pestizide in der Laptevsee, technische und methodische Entwicklungen zur Probenahme in der Arktis und zur Spurenstoffanalyse", von Sven Utschakowski.

Heft Nr. 293/1998 – "Rekonstruktion der spätquartären Klima- und Umweltgeschichte der Schirmacher Oase und des Wohlthat Massivs (Ostantarktika)", von Markus Julius Schwab.

Heft Nr. 294/1998 – "Besiedlungsmuster der benthischen Makrofauna auf dem ostgrönländischen Kontinentalhang", von Klaus Schnack.

Heft Nr. 295/1998 – "Gehäuseuntersuchungen an planktischen Foraminiferen hoher Breiten: Hinweise auf Umweltveränderungen während der letzten 140.000 Jahre", von Harald Hommers.

Heft Nr. 296/1998 – "Scientific Cruise Report of the Arctic Expedition ARK-XIII/1 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1997", edited by Michael Spindler, Wilhelm Hagen and Dorothea Stübing.

Heft Nr. 297/1998 – "Radiometrische Messungen im arktischen Özean - Vergleich von Theorie und Experiment", von Klaus-Peter Johnsen.

Heft Nr. 298//1998 – "Patterns and Controls of CO₂ Fluxes in Wet Tundra Types of the Taimyr Peninsula, Siberia - the Contribution of Soils and Mosses", by Martin Sommerkorn.

Heft Nr. 299/1998 – "The Potter Cove coastal ecosystem, Antarctica. Synopsis of research performed within the frame of the Argentinean-German Cooperation at the Dallmann Laboratory and Jubany Station (Kind George Island, Antarctica, 1991 - 1997)", by Christian Wiencke, Gustavo Ferreyra, Wolf Arntz & Carlos Rinaldi.

Heft Nr. 300/1999 – "The Kara Sea Expedition of RV 'Akademik Boris Petrov' 1997: First Results of a Joint Russian-German Pilot Study", edited by Jens Matthiessen, Oleg V. Stepanets, Ruediger Stein, Dieter K. Fütterer, and Eric M. Galimov.

Heft Nr. 301/1999 - "The Expedition ANTARKTIS XV/3 (EASIZ II)", edited by Wolf E. Arntz and Julian Gutt.

Heft Nr. 302/1999 – "Sterole im herbstlichen Weddellmeer (Antarktis): Großräumige Verteilung, Vorkommen und Umsatz", von Anneke Mühlebach.

Heft Nr. 303/1999 – "Polare stratosphärische Wolken: Lidar-Beobachtungen, Charakterisierung von Entstehung und Entwicklung", von Jens Biele.

Heft Nr. 304/1999 – "Spätquartäre Paläoumweltbedingungen am nördlichen Kontinentalrand der Barents- und Kara-See. Eine Multi-Parameter-Analyse", von Jochen Knies.

Heft Nr. 305/1999 – "Arctic Radiation and Turbulence Interaction Study (ARTIST)", by Jörg Hartmann, Frank Albers, Stefania Argentini, Axel Bochert, Ubaldo Bonafé, Wolfgang Cohrs, Alessandro Conidi, Dietmar Freese, Teodoro Georgiadis, Alessandro Ippoliti, Lars Kaleschke, Christof Lüpkes, Uwe Maixner, Giangiuseppe Mastrantonio, Fabrizio Ravegnani, Andreas Reuter, Giuliano Trivellone and Angelo Viola.

Heft Nr. 306/1999 – "German-Russian Cooperation: Biogeographic and biostratigraphic investigations on selected sediment cores from the Eurasian continental margin and marginal seas to analyze the Late Quaternary climatic variability", edited by Robert R. Spielhagen, Max S. Barash, Gennady I. Ivanov, and Jörn Thiede. Heft Nr. 307/1999 – "Struktur und Kohlenstoffbedarf des Makrobenthos am Kontinentalhang Ostgrönlands", von Dan Seiler.

Heft Nr. 308/1999 – "ARCTIC '98: The Expedition ARK-XIV/1a of RV 'Polarstern' in 1998", edited by Wilfried Jokat. Heft Nr. 309/1999 – "Variabilität der arktischen Ozonschicht: Analyse und Interpretation bodengebundener Millimeterwellenmessungen", von Björn-Martin Sinnhuber.

Heft Nr. 310/1999 – "Rekonstruktion von Meereisdrift und terrigenem Sedimenteintrag im Spätquartär: Schwermineralassoziationen in Sedimenten des Laptev-See-Kontinentalrandes und des zentralen Arktischen Ozeans", von Marion Behrends.

Heft Nr. 311/1999 – "Parameterisierung atmosphärischer Grenzschichtprozesse in einem regionalen Klimamodell der Arktis", von Christoph Abegg.

Heft Nr. 312/1999 – "Solare und terrestrische Strahlungswechselwirkung zwischen arktischen Eisflächen und Wolken", von Dietmar Freese.

Heft Nr. 313/1999 – "Snow accumulation on Ekströmisen, Antarctica", by Elisabeth Schlosser, Hans Oerter and Wolfgang Graf.

Heft Nr. 314/1999 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS XV/4 des Forschungsschiffes ,Polarstern' 1998",

herausgegeben von Eberhard Fahrbach.

Heft Nr. 315/1999 - "Expeditions in Siberia in 1998", edited by Volker Rachold.

Heft Nr. 316/1999 – "Die postglaziale Sedimentationsgeschichte der Laptewsee: schwermineralogische und sedimentpetrographische Untersuchungen", von Bernhard Peregovich.

Heft-Nr. 317/1999 - "Adaption an niedrige Temperaturen: Lipide in Eisdiatomeen", von Heidi Lehmal.

Heft-Nr. 318/1999 – "Effiziente parallele Lösungsverfahren für elliptische partielle Differentialgleichungen in der numerischen Ozeanmodellierung", von Natalja Rakowsky.

Heft-Nr. 324/1999 - "Geochemische Verwitterungstrends eines basaltischen Ausgangsgesteins nach dem spätpleistozänen Gletscherrückzug auf der Taimyrhalbinsel (Zentralsibirien) - Rekonstruktion an einer sedimentären Abfolge des Lama Sees", von Stefanie K. Harwart. Heft-Nr. 325/1999 - "Untersuchungen zur Hydrologie des arktischen Meereises - Konsequenzen für den kleinskaligen Stofftransport", von Johannes Freitag. Heft-Nr. 326/1999 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS XIV/2 des Forschungsschiffes 'Polarstern' 1998", herausgegeben von Eberhard Fahrbach. Heft-Nr. 327/1999 - "Gemeinschaftsanalytische Untersuchungen der Harpacticoidenfauna der Magellanregion, sowie erste similaritätsanalytische Vergleiche mit Assoziationen aus der Antarktis", von Kai Horst George. Heft-Nr. 328/1999 - "Rekonstruktion der Paläo-Umweltbedingungen am Laptev-See-Kontinentalrand während der beiden letzten Glazial/Interglazial-Zyklen anhand sedimentologischer und mineralogischer Untersuchungen", von Claudia Müller. Heft-Nr. 329/1999 - "Räumliche und zeitliche Variationen atmosphärischer Spurengase aus bodengebundenen Messungen mit Hilfe eines Michelson interferometers", von Justus Notholt. Heft-Nr. 330/1999 - "The 1998 Danish-German Excursion to Disko Island, West Greenland", edited by Angelika Brandt, Helge A. Thomsen, Henning Heide-Jørgensen, Reinhard M. Kristensen and Hilke Ruhberg. Heft-Nr. 331/1999 - "Poseidon" Cruise No. 243 (Reykjavik - Greenland - Reykjavik, 24 August - 11 September 1998); Climate change and the Viking-age fjord environment of the Eastern Settlement, sw Greenland", by Gerd Hoffmann, Antoon Kuijpers, and Jörn Thiede. Heft-Nr. 332/1999 - "Modeling of marine biogeochemical cycles with an emphasis on vertical particle fluxes". by Regina Usbeck. Heft-Nr. 333/1999 - "Die Tanaidaceenfauna des Beagle-Kanals und ihre Beziehungen zur Fauna des antarktischen Festlandsockels", von Anja Schmidt. Heft-Nr. 334/1999 - "D-Aminosäuren als Tracer für biogeochemische Prozesse im Fluß-Schelf-Ozean-System der Arktis", von Hans Peter Fitznar. Heft-Nr. 335/1999 - "Ökophysiologische Ursachen der limitierten Verbreitung reptanter decapoder Krebse in der Antarktis", von Markus Frederich. Heft-Nr. 336/1999 – "Ergebnisse der Untersuchung des grönländischen Inlandeises mit dem elektromagnetischen Reflexionsverfahren in der Umgebung von NGRIP", von Fidan Göktas. Heft-Nr. 337/1999 - "Paleozoic and mesozoic tectono-thermal history of central Dronning Maud Land, East Antarctica, evidence from fission-track thermochronology", by Stefanie Meier. Heft-Nr. 338/1999 - "Probleme hoher Stoffwechselraten bei Cephalopoden aus verschiedenen geographischen Breiten", von Susanne Zielinski. Heft-Nr. 339/1999 - "The Expedition ARKTIS XV/1", edited by Gunther Krause. Heft-Nr. 340/1999 - "Microbial Properties and Habitats of Permafrost Soils on Taimyr Peninsula, Central Siberia", by Nicolé Schmidt. Heft-Nr. 341/1999 - "Photoacclimation of phytoplankton in different biogeochemical provinces of the Southern Ocean and its significance for estimating primary production", by Astrid Bracher. Heft-Nr. 342/1999 - "Modern and Late Quaternary Depositional Environment of the St. Anna Trough Area, Northern Kara Sea", edited by Ruediger Stein, Kirsten Fahl, Gennadij I. Ivanov, Michael A. Levitan, and Gennady Tarasov. Heft-Nr. 343/1999 - "ESF-IMPACT Workshop/Oceanic impacts: mechanisms and environmental perturbations, 15-17 April 1999 in Bremerhaven", edited by Rainer Gersonde and Alexander Deutsch. Heft-Nr. 344/1999 - "Die Klimageschichte der hohen nördlichen Breiten seit dem mittleren Miozän: Hinweise aus sedimentologischen-tonmineralogischen Analysen (ODP Leg 151, zentrale Framstraße)", von Amelie Winkler. Heft-Nr. 345/1999 - "Kurzfristige Klimaschwankungen im Scotiameer und Ergebnisse zur Kalbungsgeschichte der Antarktis während der letzten 200000 Jahre", von Annette Hofmann. Heft-Nr. 346/2000 - "Glazialmarine Sedimentationsentwicklung am westantarktischen Kontinentalrand im Amundsen- und Bellingshausenmeer - Hinweise auf Paläoumweltveränderungen während der quartären Klimazyklen", von Claus-Dieter Hillenbrand. Heft-Nr. 347/2000 - "Zur Ökologie des Phytoplanktons im arktischen Laptevmeer - ein jahreszeitlicher Vergleich", von Kirsten Tuschling. Heft-Nr. 348/2000 - "Untersuchungen zum Fettstoffwechsel des Südlichen See-Elefanten (Mirounga leonina L.) in der Antarktis", von Sven Ramdohr.

Heft-Nr. 319/1999 - "The Ecology of Arctic Deep-Sea Copepods (Euchaetidae and Aetideidae). Aspects of their Distribution,

Heft-Nr. 322/1999 - "Messungen des arktischen stratosphärischen Ozons: Vergleich der Ozonmessungen in Ny-Ålesund,

Heft-Nr. 320/1999 - "Modellstudien zur arktischen stratosphärischen Chemie im Vergleich mit Meßdaten",

Heft-Nr. 321/1999 - "Analyse der optischen Eigenschaften des arktischen Aerosols", von Dagmar Nagel.

Heft-Nr. 323/1999 - "Untersuchung struktureller Elemente des südöstlichen Weddellmeeres / Antarktis

Trophodynamics and Effect on the Carbon Flux", by Holger Auel,

auf der Basis mariner Potentialfelddaten", von Uwe F. Meyer,

Spitzbergen, 1997 und 1998", von Jens Langer.

von Veronika Eyring.

Heft-Nr. 349/2000 - "Licht- und Temperatureinfluß auf den enzymatischen Oxidationsschutz der antarktischen Eisdiatomee Entomoneis kufferathii Manguin", von Raimund Schriek. Heft-Nr. 350/2000 - "Die Expedition ARKTIS XV/3 des Forschungsschiffes 'Polarstern' 1999", herausgegeben von Ursula Schauer. Heft-Nr. 351/2000 - "Dissolution kinetics of biogenic silica in marine environments", by Dirk Rickert. Heft-Nr. 352/2000 - "Geometrie und Kinematik des tertiären Deckenbaus im West Spitzbergen Falten- und Überschiebungsgürtel, Brøggerhalvøya, Svalbard", von Kerstin Saalmann. Heft-Nr. 353/2000 - "Zur Ökologie der Benthos-Foraminiferen der Potter Cove (King George Island, Antarktis)", von Michaela Mayer. Heft-Nr. 354/2000 – "Expeditions in Siberia in 1999", edited by Volker Rachold. Heft-Nr. 355/2000 - "Temperaturrekonstruktion im Tropischen Atlantik für das Letzte Glaziale Maximum: CLIMAP neu betrachtet", von Carsten Porthun. Heft-Nr. 356/2000 – "Niederfrequente Variabilität großräumiger atmosphärischer Zirkulationsstrukturen in spektralen Modellen niederer Ordnung", von Antje Weisheimer. Heft-Nr. 357/2000 - "Late Quaternary paleoclimatic reconstructions along the Eurasian continental margin", by Hans Peter Kleiber. Heft-Nr. 358/2000 -- "Holocene environmental history of East Greenland - evidence from lake sediments", by Bernd Wagner. Heft-Nr. 359/2000 - "Scientific Cooperation in the Russian Arctic: Ecology of the White Sea with Emphasis on its Deep Basin", edited by Eike Rachor. Heft-Nr. 360/2000 -- "Scientific Cruise Report of the Joint Russian-German Kara-Sea Expedition of RV 'Akademik Boris Petrov' in 1999", edited by Ruediger Stein and Oleg Stepanets. Heft-Nr. 361/2000 - "Planktic foraminifer ecology and stable isotope geochemistry in the Arctic Ocean: implications from water column and sediment surface studies for quantitative reconstructions of oceanic parameters.", by Renate Volkmann. Heft-Nr. 362/2000 - "Eisbohrkernuntersuchungen zur räumlichen und zeitlichen Variabilität von Temperatur und Niederschlagsrate im Spätholozän in Nordgrönland", von Matthias Schwager. Heft-Nr. 363/2000 - "Benthische Peracarida (Crustacea, Malacostraca) des arktischen Mellemfjordes, West-Grönland", von Anne-Nina Lörz. Heft-Nr. 364/2000 - "Die Expeditionen ANTARKTIS XVI/3-4 des Forschungsschiffes 'Polarstern' 1999", herausgegeben von Ülrich Bathmann, Victor Smetacek und Manfred Reinke. Heft-Nr. 365/2000 - "Organic carbon in Late Quaternary sediments: Responses to paleoenvironmental changes in the Laptev and Kara seas (Arctic Ocean)", by Bettina Boucsein. Heft-Nr. 366/2000 - "Flugzeuggestützte Topographie- und Schweremessung: Meßsystem und Anwendung auf die Region Framstraße, Spitsbergen und Nordostgrönland", von Tobias Boebel. Heft-Nr. 367/2000 - "Messung dielektrischer Eigenschaften polarer Eiskerne", von Frank Wilhelms. Heft-Nr. 368/2000 - "The Expedition ARKTIS-XV/2 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1999", edited by Wilfried Jokat. Heft-Nr. 369/2000 - "Interpretation seismischer und gravimetrischer Daten des Weddellmeeres, Antarktis", von Johannes Rogenhagen. Heft-Nr. 370/2000 - "Struktureigenschaften und Nahrungsbedarf der Zoobenthosgemeinschaften im Bereich des Lomonossowrückens im Arktischen Ozean", von Hendrik Deubel. Heft-Nr. 371/2000 – "Die Rolle der Schneebedeckung für die Kryptogamen-Vegetation in der maritimen Antarktis (Potter-Halbinsel), King George Island)", von Jana Barbro Winkler. Heft-Nr. 372/2000 - "Biodiversity of the Weddell Sea: macrozoobenthic species (demersal fish included) sampled during the expedition ANT XIII/3 (EASIZ I) with RV 'Polarstern'", edited by Julian Gutt, Boris I. Sirenko, Wolf E. Arntz, Igor S. Smirnov, and Claude De Broyer. Heft-Nr. 373/2000 – "Benthische Foraminiferen im Boreas-Becken, Grönlandsee: Verbreitung und paläo-ozeanographische Rekonstruktionen für die letzten 450.000 Jahre", von Sabine Magnus. Heft-Nr. 374/2000 - "Scherwellendoppelbrechungsanalyse von Registrierungen der Stationen des seismologischen Netzwerkes an der Neumayer Station, Antarktis: Seismische Anisotropie und die tektonische Entwicklung des Kontinentalrandes Queen Maud Lands", von Christian Müller. Heft-Nr. 375/2000 - "Effects of enhanced UV-radiation on photosynthesis of Arctic/cold-temperate macroalgae", by Kai Bischof. Heft-Nr. 376/2000 – "Saisonalität und kurzperiodische Variabilität des Seesalz-Aerosols und des bodennahen Ozons in der Antarktis (Neumayer-Station) unter Berücksichtigung der Meereisbedeckung", von Jörg Hofmann. Ab dem Heft-Nr. 377 erscheint die Reihe unter dem Namen: "Berichte zur Polar- und Meeresforschung"

Heft-Nr. 377/2000 – "Rekrutierungsmuster ausgewählter Wattfauna nach unterschiedlich strengen Wintern" von Matthias Strasser.

Heft-Nr. 378/2001 – "Der Transport von Wärme, Wasser und Salz in den Arktischen Ozean", von Boris Cisewski. Heft-Nr. 379/2001 – "Analyse hydrographischer Schnitte mit Satellitenaltimetrie", von Martin Losch. Heft-Nr. 380/2001 - "Die Expeditionen ANTARKTIS XVI/1-2 des Forschungsschiffes POLARSTERN 1998/1999", herausgegeben von Eberhard Fahrbach und Saad El Naggar.

Heft-Nr. 381/2001 - "UV-Schutz- und Reparaturmechanismen bei antarktischen Diatomeen und Phaeocystis antarctica", von Lieselotte Riegger.

Heft-Nr. 382/2001 - "Age determination in polar Crustacea using the autofluorescent pigment lipofuscin". by Bodil Bluhm.

Heft-Nr. 383/2001 – "Zeitliche und räumliche Verteilung, Habitatspräferenzen und Populationsdynamik benthischer Copepoda Harpacticoida in der Potter Cove (King George Island, Antarktis)", von Gritta Veit-Köhler.

Heft-Nr. 384/2001 - "Beiträge aus geophysikalischen Messungen in Dronning Maud Land, Antarktis, zur Auffindung eines optimalen Bohrpunktes für eine Eiskerntiefbohrung", von Daniel Steinhage.

Heft-Nr. 385/2001 - "Actinium-227 als Tracer für Advektion und Mischung in der Tiefsee", von Walter Geibert.

Heft-Nr. 386/2001 - "Messung von optischen Eigenschaften troposphärischer Aerosole in der Arktis", von Rolf Schumacher.

Heft-Nr. 387/2001 - "Bestimmung des Ozonabbaus in der arktischen und subarktischen Stratosphäre", von Astrid Schulz, Heft-Nr. 388/2001 - "Russian-German Cooperation SYSTEM LAPTEV SEA 2000: The Expedition LENA 2000", edited by Volker Rachold and Mikhail N. Grigoriev.

Heft-Nr. 389/2001 - "The Expeditions ARKTIS XVI/1 and ARKTIS XVI/2 of the Rearch Vessel ,Polarstern' in 2000", edited by Gunther Krause and Ursula Schauer.

Heft-Nr. 390/2001 - "Late Quaternary climate variations recorded in North Atlantic deep-sea benthic ostracodes", by Claudia Didié.

Heft-Nr. 391/2001 - "The polar and subpolar North Atlantic during the last five glacial-interglacial cycles", by Jan P. Helmke.

Heft-Nr. 392/2001 - "Geochemische Untersuchungen an hydrothermal beeinflußten Sedimenten der Bransfield Straße (Antarktis)", von Anke Dählmann.

Heft-Nr. 393/2001 - "The German-Russian Project on Siberian River Run-off (SIRRO): Scientific Cruise Report of the Kara-Sea Expedition 'SIRRO 2000' of RV ,Boris Petrov' and first results", edited by Ruediger Stein and Oleg Stepanets. Heft-Nr. 394/2001 - "Untersuchungen der Photooxidantien Wasserstoffperoxid, Methylhydroperoxid und Formaldehyd in der Troposphäre der Antarktis ", von Katja Riedel.

Heft-Nr. 395/2001 - "Role of benthic chidarians in the energy transfer processes in the Southern Ocean marine ecosystem (Antarctica)", by Covadonga Orejas Saco del Valle.

** nur noch beim Autor / only from the author.